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1.0 Performance Report
It is hard to believe that a whole year has flown by since our last report,
but despite the challenges we have faced over the last 12 months, we are
delighted to be able to bring you many positive headlines. Partnership
working - the theme of this report - will continue to be at the heart of
everything we do, reflecting the bigger picture across the whole NHS as
we all work more closely with our wider community partners.
April 2022 marked the first anniversary of work starting between Camden and Islington NHS
Foundation Trust (C&I) and our neighbouring NHS mental health trust, Barnet, Enfield and Haringey
(BEH), to build a strong, working relationship in order to make a real and positive difference to our
service users, local residents and staff.
We have taken on additional responsibilities as part of that new partnership. In April 2021, Jackie
Smith was appointed Chair of BEH in addition to her role of Chair at C&I; and in October 2021,
Jinjer Kandola MBE, the Chief Executive at BEH, became CEO at C&I too. While both organisations
remain separate entities, our increasingly strong partnership is helping us to deliver the improvements
we want to make together. A huge thank you to all our committed and compassionate staff for
everything they have done over the last 12 months, and continue to do, to provide high quality care to
all our patients and service users every day.
It is already making a difference to our residents, with a new model of community services across our
five boroughs of north central London (NCL). This entails multi-disciplinary teams of clinicians, social
workers, local authority colleagues and the voluntary sector, working together in locations near to
where people live, giving them the wraparound support they need to stop them becoming seriously
unwell. The first year of this once-in-a-generation, transformational programme is now complete and
by summer 2024, our aim is for every single resident across NCL to have access to this fantastic new
model of care.
COVID continued to dominate at certain points in the year. Our priority has been to keep our patients
and our staff safe, to continue to provide high quality care and to support our staff. This has included
providing access to vaccination – including the booster jabs - and supporting our teams following the
government announcement that all frontline NHS staff would need to be vaccinated as a condition
of employment. Although this was later revoked, we continue to be extremely vigilant, encouraging
all colleagues to be vaccinated as we help lead the post-pandemic recovery programme. So far, over
1,700 of our frontline staff, who fell in scope of the government’s Vaccinations as a Condition of
Deployment (VCOD), have received their first vaccination .
Our St Pancras Transformation Programme supports our clinical strategy and aims to provide fit-forpurpose, accessible and therapeutic environments for mental health recovery across our two boroughs.
We marked two significant milestones during the year: the ground breaking event at our Highgate
East site for our new 88-bed hospital; and we were granted permission to demolish and develop our
Lowther Road site in Holloway, creating one of several brand new community mental health hubs.
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Jasminee Hackett at Vaccine Clinic

As part of our transformation programme, we continue to invest in new technology for our new
buildings and to support the care we deliver, as well as the way we work. This includes upgrading all
our digital systems and supporting our service users, too, with the launch of a service user tablet loan
scheme.
As well as transforming our buildings and our IT, we have re-organised our structure, with our five
previous ‘diagnostic’ divisions changing to three: Camden Borough, Islington Borough and Hospitals.
We believe a geographically-based structure will help us deliver our priorities and our Clinical Strategy.
It will also help us to offer holistic care close to where people live and enable us to strengthen our links
with local authorities and other agencies. ensuring that wraparound care is delivered at a consistently
high level across all our services.
Staff wellbeing and development remain a huge priority and our new People Strategy will ensure we
deliver the improvements needed, including making sure that the wide and diverse make-up of our
staff is reflected at every level of the organisation.
A big thank you to all of our teams and to our partners for everything they have done in the last 12
months. We have made major strides, overcoming many obstacles, and are rightly proud of their
commitment to service user care and grateful for their ongoing support.

Jackie Smith Trust Chair
22 June 2022

Jinjer Kandola MBE Chief Executive
22 June 2022
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Our history
C&I provides high quality, safe and innovative care to our patients in the
community, in their homes or in hospital.
We provide services for adults of working age, adults with learning difficulties, and older people in the
London area. We currently deliver most of our care to residents in the London Boroughs of Camden
and Islington. However, we also provide substance misuse and primary care mental health services to
people living in the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames.

The first hospital on the site,
housed in the building now
known as South Wing, was
built for “chronic, infirm and
bed-ridden patients”.
The Hospital for Tropical
Diseases was built

1885

1930

1939

It was taken over by London
County Council which
opened “mental wards”
and maternity wards.
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The site became
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and subsequently
various NHS
bodies.
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We are currently transforming our estates as the ageing facilities are unsuitable for modern mental
health care. The St Pancras Transformation Programme is set to deliver a sustainable, fit-for-purpose
estate that will enable us to provide even better services for our service users. This transformation
programme is to be completed by 2024. You can find out more about the St Pancras Transformation
Programme on page 21.
Our Trust is also a member of University College London Partners (UCLP), one of the world’s leading
academic health science partnerships.

The Hospital for Tropical
Diseases closed and this is now
the Trust’s Huntley Centre.

1998

2002

Camden and Islington
Mental Health and Social
Care Trust became the
first Care Trust to achieve
Foundation Trust status.

2008

Camden and Islington
Mental Health and Social
Care Trust was established
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Partnership working between C&I
and Barnet, Enfield and Haringey
Mental Health NHS Trust
April 2022 marks the first anniversary of work starting between C&I and
our neighbouring mental health NHS trust, Barnet, Enfield and Haringey,
to build a strong, working partnership that will make a real difference to our
service users, residents and staff.
We want to:
• Reduce health inequalities
• Eliminate unwarranted variation and inconsistencies across our services
• Improve outcomes for service users, and
• Create a sustainable workforce model
Our first year has seen Jackie Smith’s appointment as the Chair of both Trusts and Jinjer Kandola’s MBE
appointment as Chief Executive across both organisations. This is already helping us to work more
effectively together and to drive the changes we need to see to improve care still further.
In a series of meetings over the summer and autumn with service users and staff, we co-produced
nine priority areas that we will focus on to realise our ambitions for the partnership – see below. These
priorities will be the drivers to help us achieve our overarching Trust priorities.

Emerging priorities
Four key aims
REDUCE HEALTH
INEQUALITIES

9 emerging priorities
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Improve
Crisis Services

Improve
Acute
Workstream

Community
Mental Health
Transformation

Workforce
Development

Just Culture

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

CREATE A
SUSTAINABLE
WORKFORCE MODEL

ELIMINATE
UNWARRANTED
VARIATION

IMPROVE
OUTCOMES FOR
SERVICE USERS

Quality
Improvement
Academy

Single Patient
Tracking List

Single Bed
Management

Inclusion and
Equalities
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Benefits so far for service users
Our partnership is already making a difference with a new model of community services across our five
boroughs. This entails multi-disciplinary teams including clinicians, social workers and the voluntary
sector, working together in locations near to where people live, to offer them the wraparound support
they need to stop them becoming seriously unwell, (see page 15 for more).
As part of our partnership, we have also introduced a new model for our crisis prevention houses and
this is now operating across our whole area. We also plan to open crisis cafes in more locations later
this year.
One of our priorities (see above table) is to have a single bed management process across our two
organisations. This means we will be able to support each other with bed capacity and avoid having to
send anybody who needs to be admitted to hospital outside our area and far from where they live. We
will soon have in place a brand-new digital system to help us with this.
We are also getting specialist support to allow us to build a single patient tracking list across both our
Trusts so that we can support each other in making sure that people get the right care at the right
time.
We are confident this partnership will have huge benefits for those who use our services and make
both our trusts organisations where staff want to work and build their careers.

The people we support
Introduction
C&I has a holistic approach to promoting health and wellbeing, considering
mental and physical health, family, friends, community and environment.
Our Clinical Strategy recognises that health and wellbeing are shaped by
individual characteristics, lifestyle choices and environmental influences.
Our services look at individual needs and help people reach their potential.
We aim to provide services that are accessible, person-centred and
responsive to the often-complex needs of each individual.
To promote good health, prevent ill health and reduce inequalities, C&I works with a wide range of
partner organisations to impact the socio-economic factors that are likely to impair people’s health.
In 2019 and early 2020, we reviewed this structure with significant staff involvement including
engagement sessions with clinical and operational colleagues and stakeholders, resulting in proposed
changes that came into effect in 2021.
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Under the previous structure there were five divisions, based around clinical services:
1. Acute
2. Community Mental Health
3. Recovery and Rehabilitation
4. Services for Ageing and Perinatal Mental Health
5. Substance Misuse Services
We replaced the five divisions with three; two are geographical – Camden community and Islington
community - while the Hospital Division provides patient care across both Camden and Islington. The
three new divisions are:
1. Hospital
2. Camden community
3. Islington community
This structure is helping to shape and support our change programmes and has put us in the best
place to deliver our priorities.

C&I event
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Our purpose and services
The Trust covers a diverse population across Camden, Islington and
Kingston, and has contact with about 55,000 service users across the three
boroughs each year. As we strengthen our partnership with BEH we can
then work with even more service users and provide more holistic care.
Camden, Islington and Kingston have one of the highest rates of mental health problems in the
country, so there is great demand for our services. We have seen an increase in these areas because
of the pandemic, the growing population, greater awareness of mental health, and a reduction in
some local authority and voluntary services. Our crisis prevention houses and single bed management
process with BEH will help us with this greater demand.
We have a high percentage of service users between the ages of 20 and 40 years, who are relatively
transient; this is related to having major transport hubs, universities and employment opportunities in
the area. We also treat large numbers of people in our LGBTQ+ communities, as well as many tourists.
There are high rates of alcohol and drug use among our service users.
Our services in primary care include psychological therapies for mild to moderate mental illness, and
for more serious illnesses, a service delivered by teams of psychiatrists, psychologists and nurses who
support GPs to manage mental health problems and act as the gateway to secondary care mental
health services.
We have specialist community services for people with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD),
personality disorders, complex depression and anxiety, psychotic disorders, older people, dementia and
addictions.
We are one of the few mental health trusts with a well-developed rehabilitation pathway for people
with serious mental illness. We have an acute pathway, with crisis and home treatment teams, an
acute day unit, crisis houses, a variety of inpatient wards and a Place of Safety for anyone detained by
police under Section 136 of the Mental Health Act.

Community Mental Health Services
Our community services are undergoing major changes. In July 2021, we embarked on a three-year
£25m transformation programme, across Barnet, Camden, Enfield, Haringey and Islington, which is
creating hundreds of new roles and changing the way we deliver care.
The Community Mental Health Programme is run in partnership with BEH so that, together, we can
pool resources and best practice to identify mental health conditions earlier and treat people sooner.
This way, we reduce the chance that their condition becomes so acute that they require hospital care.
Another key feature is that this programme allows people to be seen in their communities and to
access local organisations and support networks.
At C&I, 97% of our service users are treated in the community and this programme connects them
with local services that can help them near to where they live.

Annual report and accounts 2021/22
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As the programme has developed, new services have started to be offered and new staff have
joined, including population health nurses, peer coaches, voluntary sector key workers, community
development workers, psychiatrists, psychologists and social workers.
By 2024, we aim to have core teams operating across Camden and Islington who will be working
with communities offering services that are tailored to meet their needs. We expect to see big
improvements in mental health and have capacity to treat thousands more people.

Hospital Services
Over the past 12 months, activities in both the Acute Division and Hospital Division have been heavily
weighted towards our continued response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Our 24/7 services in the crisis
pathway have provided face-to-face care throughout and maintained their focus on being responsive,
providing high quality care and meeting infection prevention and control standards to keep our
patients safe.
The organisational restructure has enabled our crisis resolution teams (CRTs) and crisis houses to build
stronger connections to community teams. This supports our efforts on crisis prevention across both
C&I and BEH, while also maintaining a connection to ward-based services.
The Hospital Division enables all inpatient services to be led by a single clinical and operational
leadership team. This enables the Acute, Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU), Rehabilitation and
Older Adults wards to work towards a consistent performance, quality, and safety approach, while
retaining their specialist functions.
Our emergency assessment services, Mental Health Crisis Assessment Services (MHCAS) and Health
Based Place of Safety (HBPoS) continue to develop their important place in the emergency and urgent
care system.
Camden and Islington Community Services
All our community and crisis services are now organised into our newly created Camden and Islington
borough divisions. These services include:
• Community Mental Health Services for Older people – these provide specialist
assessment and care for people living with dementia, and those suffering from mental
illnesses associated with ageing
• Perinatal Mental Health Services – these provide assessment, detailed birth-planning,
specialist medication management and post-birth care, including psychological treatment,
occupational therapy and group work to women across Barnet, Camden, Enfield, Haringey
and Islington
• Learning Disabilities Services – these borough-based teams, integrated with Camden and
Islington local authorities, provide health and social care services for people with learning
disabilities
• Substance Misuse Services – this service offers community services to people with issues
with drugs and alcohol across Camden, Islington and Kingston
• Recovery and Rehabilitation Services – these community-based services work with
people with a diagnosis of psychosis in a range of clinical settings, including locality-based
community recovery teams, assertive outreach teams, early intervention services and a range
of community accommodation in both boroughs
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Camden and Islington Staff meeting

• iCope – this provides three Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) services – one
in each of the boroughs of Camden, Islington and Kingston. These are called iCope services
and they provide evidence-based psychological interventions for adults with common mental
health problems such as anxiety and depression. More information on iCope on page 17.
• Op Courage – The Veterans’ Mental Health and Wellbeing - now known as
‘Op Courage – includes the London and South East NHS Veterans’ Mental Health Transition,
Intervention and Liaison Service (TILS), the Veterans’ Mental Health Complex Treatment
Service (CTS) and the London High Intensity Service (HIS). The team also works alongside
existing NHS, statutory and third sector services to provide wrap-around care addressing the
psychological and social issues that contribute to poor mental health.
• The Recovery College – runs free co-produced recovery-focused courses for everyone 18+
who lives or works in Camden and Islington, with no referral needed. Over the last year, 571
students attended courses, 306 of whom were new to the College. See highlights to the
below.
• Primary Care Mental Health Services and Core Teams – as part of the Community
Mental Health Transformation Programme, we are evolving our Primary Care Mental Health
Services into Core Teams, which support the whole mental health population of a Primary
Care Network through a combination of prevention, supporting people to stay well and
responsiveness to changes in need, working as part of the wider health and resilience system
in a neighbourhood.
• Specialist Care Pathways – these services offer clearly defined, evidence-based
assessments and management beyond what is possible in primary care and include:
Annual report and accounts 2021/22
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The Recovery College - highlights
• The College joined the Implementing Recovery through Organisational Change
(IMROC) online learning sets to share knowledge with other Recovery Colleges.
• Courses co-produced with our partners included: Green prescription – growing
plants for wellbeing (Castlehaven Community Centre – see picture on next page);
Introduction to Dance and Movement For Health and Wellbeing (The Place); Alone
But Not Lonely (Mind in Camden); Making The Most Of Your Money (Quaker Social
Action).
• New partnership with Gingerbread to help reach single parents.
• The College is now part of C&I’s Trauma Informed Collaborative Pathway working
with Trust staff.
• In July 2021, the College Board became an advisory board
• In spring 2022, the College co-produced two new courses for training a peer
workforce with C&I’s Peer Coaching team and SHP – ‘What is peer working?’ and
‘Steps into peer role”.
• In early 2022, the college collaborated with C&I’s Digital Inclusion Scheme to deliver
‘Discovering the digital world – tools to improve your wellbeing’, a course for
students to learn digital skills.
• The College has a new ‘Self-compassion for
parents’ online course which was co-produced
with C&I’s Perinatal Service and successfully
delivered this term with 10 students enrolled.

O Complex Depression Anxiety and

Trauma service (CDAT) - provides
multidisciplinary assessment, care
coordination and treatment for people
suffering with complex presentations of
depression, anxiety and trauma
O Personality Disorder Service - provides

structured clinical management, care
coordination and a range of specialist
therapies
O Psychologically Informed

Consultation and Training (PICT)
- offers consultation and training to
support the effective management of
Green prescription – plants for wellbeing
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personality disorder and other complex mental health needs, run by the Trust’s
Personality Disorder Service
O Parental Mental Health Services - an innovative service that integrates Adult

Mental Health into Children’s Services and is part of the PICT service (see above).
O Psychotherapy Services - work with people seeking to explore the underlying

causes of their emotional difficulties
O Traumatic Stress Clinic (TSC) - works closely with those who have experienced

trauma including specific services for those affected by childhood abuse
O Neuro-Developmental Disorders Service - helps people with Attention Deficit

and Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD)
O Health Psychology Team - works with Whittington Health NHS Trust

service users.
Over the last year our community services have made significant progress in a range of areas
connected to our Clinical Strategy. These include:
• Rolling out new Core Teams integrated with Adult Social Care and the Voluntary Sector,
supporting our ambitions around prevention and population health management
• Person-centred, holistic care planning through the rollout of DIALOG+. This is a new careplanning tool which makes it easier to collaborate across the multi-disciplinary team to
co-produce a personalised care and support plan with service users. It replaces the Care
Programme Approach (CPA) and identifies aspects of a service user’s life that they would like
to improve so that work can be done to increase satisfaction in those key areas. Research
suggests that DIALOG+ significantly improves quality of life and care experience. It is being
rolled out gradually across C&I, and across the whole of London.
• Integrating mental health and substance misuse services so that people receive joined up
support with their recovery
• Working collaboratively with GPs to deliver physical health interventions across the whole
population
• Increasing the range of interventions offered by our Perinatal Services including specialist
trauma support for women experiencing birth-related trauma
• Increased partnership work to roll out a range of inequalities initiatives to improve access to
mental health support across a range of communities who have historically faced barriers in
accessing support.

Camden iCope, Islington iCope, Kingston iCope
We offer a range of different treatments that have been recommended for the NHS. We provide a
stepped-care approach in line with NICE guidelines, offering the most effective and least intensive
interventions first. Interventions are offered face-to-face, by video call, in groups, online, or by
telephone.
Our iCope services were significantly affected by the pandemic. There was initially a reduction in
referrals, but the numbers gradually increased, so that over the last year the numbers being referred
to the service and entering treatment have exceeded pre-pandemic levels. There is evidence of an
increase in complexity of problems presenting to iCope, in line with reports from other IAPT services.
We anticipate that this will continue for some time into the future.
Annual report and accounts 2021/22
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During 2021/22 there were more than 28,700 referrals to iCope services with a high proportion of
self-referrals (70% in Camden and Islington and 82% in Kingston). More than 15,800 people entered
a course of treatment with iCope.
Based on self-report measures of anxiety and depression, 55% of people receiving IAPT treatment in
Kingston “recovered”, 49% in Islington, and 48% in Camden.
During the year, iCope services:
• Continued to deliver interventions remotely using online video sessions, telephone calls and
existing digital programmes. Therapy groups have been successfully adapted to be delivered
online. The services have offered face-to-face sessions for those unable to manage remote
working. The amount of face-to-face working has gradually increased over the year, but it
has been limited by COVID restrictions. As these are lifted, we will continue to offer both
remote therapy and face-to-face options, depending on service user choice.
• Ensured that they responded flexibly to the needs of people struggling to cope with the
impact of the pandemic. This included:
–

Including a page for COVID-related information on the iCope website

–

Developing a brief Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) based COVID-19
intervention for those overwhelmed by the situation and needing more immediate
support with coping strategies.

–

Working with local partners to help develop a pathway for those bereaved in
Camden and Islington.

• Offered support to NHS and social care staff. The iCope services in Camden and Islington see
staff working across North Central London (NCL) and have contributed to the Keeping Well
NCL staff support hub. They established an online ‘chat’ function for staff as part of the hub
website, facilitating referrals to local IAPT services as needed.
• Continued to develop work with people who have long term physical health conditions and
contributed to pathways for those suffering with long COVID. iCope services have developed
group interventions for long COVID which have been piloted this year. Camden and Islington have
established an additional strategic post to work on the long COVID pathway across the boroughs.
• Continued our focus on diversity – supporting staff training in this area, embedding reflective
practice opportunities within our staff groups, developing an anti-racism group to work on
recruitment and staff development issues within our services, developing clinical adaptations
for working with people from our LGBTQ+ communities.
• Continued to prioritise staff wellbeing – this has been particularly important during the
pandemic when a motivated, well-supported staff group has been essential to enable the
service to be flexible and responsive in adapting to the changing situation.
• Have been piloting the use of blended therapy approaches for specific Cognitive Behavioural
Therapy (CBT) treatments (for Social Anxiety and PTSD) – using computerised programmes
alongside individual therapist time.
• Worked on a project funded by Sport England, developing and evaluating methods to
increase the level of physical activity in iCope clients, as we know that this improves both
mental and physical health outcomes.
• Continued to develop work with local universities to increase support for students – most
recently in response to the war in Ukraine.
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• Have been working closely with Primary Care Network-based colleagues in the developing
Core teams, GP practices and other community-based services to ensure that pathways for
users of our services are as clear and seamless as possible.
• Have contributed to the North and Central East London (NCEL) IAPT Service Improvement
and Research Network - working with a group of IAPT services and University College
London (UCL) using data from our services to support service improvements.

Our commitment to equality of
service delivery
The Trust is committed to equality of service for all service users, regardless
of their cultural background - age, disability, gender reassignment, married
and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and beliefs,
sex and sexual orientation.
In view of the partnership with BEH, a joint strategy for both organisations was produced with
separate Year One work plans that address local priority actions. The joint Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion (EDI) strategy was approved by both C&I and BEH Boards in January 2022.
The strategic objectives have been co-produced with input from staff and service users.
Five EDI objectives aim to address workforce and service user priorities. These objectives are as follows:
1. Improve service user access and experience
2. Better health outcomes
3. Representative and supported workforce
4. Inclusive leadership
5. Culture change and mainstreaming equality, diversity and inclusion
C&I has a diverse range of service users and carer groups, which are jointly represented by The Service User
Alliance; this provides feedback of individual experiences and a forum for engagement and involvement
with Trust activities. Feedback from the service user representatives is taken very seriously by the Trust.
We are committed to improving both staff and service user experience. Staff are encouraged to engage in
the networks representing those from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic backgrounds, women, people with
disabilities and their carers and the LGBTQ+ community. The ambition is that these groups will influence
cultural change which will contribute to improvement in our services and lead to improved care for minority
groups.
Increasing diversity in senior roles, including on our Board, is also a priority and we have put in place a Black,
Asian and Minority Ethnic leadership programme to create opportunities for staff.
In our inpatient services we have increased single-sex spaces on our wards to support sexual safety for
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women and particular consideration is given to those who are transgender, gender-fluid or non-binary so
that we can meet their needs.
Ensuring access for disabled service users is a key part of the planning for our new hospital and community
mental health centres; service users have been consulted at every stage of the designs process, and
attention has been paid to the specific needs of older people.
We are embedding trauma-informed care across the Trust and during the next year, we will incorporate
discriminatory experiences into this treatment plan, to support service user recovery.
We are aware that many groups are reluctant to be admitted to hospital, and we have worked hard to
improve access to alternatives, including work by Crisis Resolution Teams in the community; we also offer
places at crisis houses, including our women-only house. Our Mental Health Crisis Assessment Service has
also improved access by contributing to the opportunity for people with protected characteristics to have
access to treatment that is an alternative to hospital.
The Trust engages widely with its local communities and in partnership with local organisations in the
delivery of services. Our Substance Misuse Services work closely with partner agencies and voluntary
service organisations. We work with rough sleepers and those in hostels, people who are housebound,
ethnic minority groups, our LGBTQ+ community and those with significant physical or mental health comorbidities.
To maximise the treatment offer to these groups, we work closely with organisations including Fairer
Together, Street Services Teams, Age UK, hostel service providers, London Irish Centre, Central London
Action on Sexual Health, Antidote (an LGBTQ+ drug and alcohol support service), London Day Centre’s
Community of Practice and Camden Health Improvement Practice (a GP service commissioned to deliver
primary care to homeless and hostel populations in Camden).
Our Camden Memory Service is currently undertaking a Quality Improvement project on Equality and
Diversity, looking at the provision of services to people from different backgrounds with the aim of
identifying areas that require further work to improve accessibility. We are also running regular sessions
which look at diversity and dementia. These sessions are run in partnership with Henna, (South Asian
Women’s Group), the Black Dementia Company and our staff, and is an opportunity to engage and share
information.

Transforming our estate
Our St Pancras Transformation Programme is one of the most ambitious projects in the Trust’s history.
It focuses on replacing our ageing facilities that are unsuitable for modern mental health care. The
programme is set to deliver a sustainable, fit-for-purpose estate that will enable delivery of our clinical
strategy, and other important priorities such as our Anchor Programme.
Our estate transformation work includes:
• Redeveloping the St Pancras Hospital site
• Building a new hospital in Highgate East opposite our existing Highgate Mental Health
Centre
• Creating integrated community mental health centres in Camden and Islington.
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We will maintain a flagship presence on the St Pancras Hospital site, in a brand-new facility for
specialist and regional community services. It will be shared with the Institute of Mental Health to
enable us to translate the latest research into care and treatments for our service users.
Subject to approvals, Project Oriel (a joint initiative between Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust, the UCL Institute of Ophthalmology and Moorfields Eye Charity) will use a portion of the site for
their new centre for advanced eye care.
The remainder of the site has been long-leased to our development partner, the King’s Cross Central
Partnership (KCCLP), for redevelopment. This part of the site will include some housing and commercial space.

Supporting delivery of our clinical strategy
By redeveloping our key community sites, we can create larger, modern facilities. This will provide the
space we need to co-locate our clinical teams and allow partner organisations to run wellbeing and
support services; to deliver joined-up, holistic care for our service users.
Increasing capacity in the community will further support our ability to provide the care people need
early on in their illness.
Once our new hospital at Highgate East is built and all inpatients from the ageing wards in our St
Pancras buildings will move to Highgate. Having our hospitals located opposite each other will create
our single inpatient campus, allowing us to organise staff cover, and utilise our resources much more
efficiently across the two facilities.
Each of our new facilities is co-designed with service users, carers and staff to create non-stigmatising,
therapeutic environments that support mental health recovery and improve patient experience.

Supporting our Anchor Programme
As an NHS organisation, we have a significant stake in our boroughs. Our Anchor Programme goes
beyond the care and wellbeing of our service users and focuses on playing our part to build healthier
communities.
A key priority in our estate transformation work is to build facilities that also create a ‘sense of place’
in the community. All our new facilities will have spaces that local people can share to support their
wellbeing and maintain social connections. For example, our café spaces will be open to all and we
will allow access to our meetings rooms and gym at allocated times. Our aim is to create buildings that
local people will see as valuable community assets and improve their understanding and interest in
mental health.

Annual report and accounts 2021/22
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Our new hospital at Highgate East
How our new hospital at Highgate East will look when it completes in 2023
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of our new hospital at Highgate East was marked in a small
ceremony with key stakeholders. The new 78-bed facility will
include single en-suite bedrooms, garden space on each ward,
dedicated therapy spaces, a gym and café. Building work is due
to complete in late 2023.
In January 2022, an extensive
programme of refurbishment
began at our existing inpatient
facility at Highgate Mental Health
Centre. The majority of wards are
being repurposed to accommodate
most of our high acuity wards
at this site. The refurbishment
work will also make sure that the
standard of our inpatient facilities,
across our two hospitals, is as
consistent as possible.
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In spring 2021 we completed the refurbishment of a new building for community services on Regis
Road, Kentish Town. This has provided much needed space for our expanding community mental health
teams. In March 2021 we secured planning permission for the redevelopment of our community site at
1 Lowther Road, Islington, and in late summer, we temporarily moved all services from that site to allow
redevelopment work to begin there. The new build, which will deliver our first integrated community
mental health centre, will complete in late 2023.
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In 2021 we began devising detailed plans to move services
from the St Pancras Hospital site and to enable Project Oriel.
Work also continued with our development partner to create
a master plan for the site. This work, and the co-design of
our new St Pancras facility, will progress at pace from 2022.
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Trust Digital
The Trust Digital team has continued to work hard to
respond to the challenges posed by the COVID-19
pandemic, enabling hundreds of staff to work from home
and other locations during lockdown. This move to agile
working required the provision and updating of staff
laptops, phones and tablets.

The Digital Strategy 2020-23 is based around a quality
framework built on the following digital principles:
1. Getting our basic infrastructure and digital capability in place to release clinical
time and reduce staff frustration.
2. Keeping our staff and service users safe by utilising new technology and
enabling good information access.
3. Ensuring simple access to information that can drive service improvement,
quality improvement and research.
4. Ensuring corporate services capitalise on technology to improve efficiency and
user experience.
5. Ensuring that our digital services always put people first – that the culture is one
of respect, inclusion and responsiveness.
6. Building digital skills across the workforce and embedding digital working.

Key areas of focus this year have been:
• Delivering new WiFi installations and improvements on Trust sites (including the Mental
Health Crisis Assessment Service, Regis Road, Holloway Road, St Pancras Hospital North East
Building, Finchley Road, Forest Road, Margarette Centre, Camden Mews and Southwood
Smith Centre)
• Installing new, super-fast and highly reliable data networks to all six sites within the Estates
Redevelopment Programme (UCLH, Regis Road, Forest Road, Finchley Road, Holloway Road
and Southwood Smith Centre)
• Achieving the secure email standard accreditation so that all email users can be sure that sensitive
and confidential information is kept secure and migrating the NHS mail accounts to candi.nhs.uk
accounts
• Building improvement skills and knowledge at C&I
• Over the past 12 months, we have reviewed our approach to QI training and developed a new
QI training strategy, which proposes four levels of improvement skills, tailored to individual roles,
interests, and needs.
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• We have developed our own QI coaches programme which trains staff to become QI coaches,
provided SPC Masterclasses, as well as bespoke sessions for junior doctors and newly qualified
nurses with a total of 319 staff trained across the Trust.
• Migrating all Trust wide PCs and laptops from Windows 7 to the next level Operating System
Windows 10 which delivers improved cyber security features, greater system speed and
enhanced usability
• Establishing a tablet loan scheme for service users to increase digital inclusion
• Installing Surface Hubs in ward areas to aid clinical handover and video conferencing facilities
• Establishing best practice, clinically-focused governance around changes to our primary
Electronic Patient Record system (Carenotes), with the creation of a sustainable Carenotes
Change Advisory Group
• Facilitating Quality Improvement work for digital/clinical interface, particularly working with
junior doctors. This has included larger scale projects e.g. establishing digital out-of-hours
handover systems, and a variety of smaller scale projects
• Building our team of clinicians who have the skills, knowledge and confidence to engage
in digital projects. We recruited a Digital Inclusion Officer and are actively pursuing funding
opportunities via the Health Foundation and others to allow us to continue to build this
important base of skilled staff
• Continuing to promote and advance the Digital Clinical Safety agenda, with all new
deployments this year having demonstrably met nationally-defined clinical safety standards
• Piloting advice and guidance software “consultant connect”. Although the pilot will not be
continued in C&I, a great deal of useful learning was achieved which will stand us in good
stead for future projects
• Establishing a strong digital presence in clinical meetings throughout the Trust.
• Introducing HealtheIntent, an NCL platform that allows health and care professionals to be
more proactive in the care of patients and communities by providing a joined-up view of a
patient’s record
• Supporting the introduction of DIALOG+, a care-planning tool that will be used by clinicians
in conjunction with Carenotes and EMIS (Electronic Patient Records). Training is currently
being rolled out to prepare for this change.
Priorities for next year include establishing an Innovations Pathway in the Trust that will support and
enable the delivery of our Clinical Strategy. We also plan to introduce a “Trust Integration Engine”,
which will enable integration of our clinical systems to work and, in turn, will lead to more optimal
workflows and reduce duplication of data entry across various systems.
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Quality Improvement
Quality Improvement (QI) has been part of the C&I strategy since 2016 and
since then we have been focused on how we develop, embed, and sustain
a culture of continuous improvement and learning with strong frontline
service user and carer involvement.
Our QI team supports this culture of continuous improvement and learning, strengthening our
approach and capability for QI, by:
• supporting both Trust-wide and division-specific improvement priorities including the
strategic and quality priorities
• supporting colleagues to lead change through the delivery of QI training, coaching, and
mentoring
• incorporating QI into divisional business and quality agendas
• developing improvement knowledge and expertise at all levels.

Building improvement skills and knowledge at C&I
Over the past 12 months, we have reviewed our approach to QI training and developed a new QI
training strategy, which proposes four levels of improvement skills, tailored to individual roles, interests,
and needs.
We have developed our own QI coaches programme which trains staff to become QI coaches,
provided SPC Masterclasses, as well as bespoke sessions for junior doctors and newly qualified nurses
with a total of 319 staff trained across the Trust.

Developing Quality Management Systems
Working in partnership with quality governance, project management and business development
and divisional colleagues, the QI team have been supporting the Trust in developing our approach to
Quality Management systems with the initial focus being on how we collect and use information to
inform decision making.
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Research
Camden and Islington, in partnership with the Division of Psychiatry at UCL, is
considered a centre of excellence for mental health and dementia research. The
Trust’s academics, Professor Glyn Lewis and Professor Anthony David, appeared
on Clarivate’s 2021 list, which names the 1,000 most cited researchers in the
world. Professor Gill Livingston’s work on dementia prevention, intervention and
care has been influential in changing thoughts and practice on dementia care,
not only in the UK, but internationally. These are just a few examples that give a
sense of the breadth and impact of the work we do.
The Trust is also part of the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre (BRC)
based at UCLH and is heavily involved in its mental health programme. This strong tradition in research offers
our patients and staff the opportunity to be part of the development of innovative and effective treatments
and the shaping of policy in mental health care.
Last year’s report saw a majority of studies focused on delivering COVID-19 research but much of this year’s
focus has been about recovery. There has been a drive to restart studies and learn vital lessons from the impact
of the pandemic to ensure we have the right infrastructure in place to deliver on high quality studies.
Like many parts of the NHS and beyond, the Research and Development department has experienced a
significant loss of staff, especially in the research delivery team. While this has created a degree of challenge,
it has offered the opportunity for some reflection and the development of a team fit for the post-pandemic
world.
Annual report and accounts 2021/22
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Key risks to our objectives
During the year, the Trust Board refreshed the Board Assurance Framework
(BAF); the BAF is aligned to the Trust’s Strategic Aims and sets out the risks
to achieving our aims and objectives and how we are managing these.
We have a range of procedures, performance management arrangements and policies in place to
ensure internal control. The Trust Board reviews the BAF regularly, with additional monitoring carried
out by Board Committees. These arrangements are explained in more detail in the Annual Governance
Statement.
COVID-19 remains a risk to our objectives as we deal with the broader impact such as increased
mental health need. We also faced, and will continue to do so, the challenge of increased risk of
infection and associated potential serious health consequences for service users and staff, impacting
on the resilience and capacity of staff. To help manage this, we set in place a COVID-19 command and
control structure and a COVID-19 command centre.
The Trust also systematically rolled out a COVID-19 vaccination programme opening two vaccination
hubs in the Highgate and St Pancras Hospitals. This helped to ensure staff were vaccinated. This was
supported by a combined project with BEH for a designated service to offer Flu/ COVID-19 Booster
Vaccination to all frontline staff and a predetermined cohort of the Severe Mental Illness (SMI)
population.
The UK government’s decision that all frontline NHS staff would need to be vaccinated as a condition
of employment (VCOD), clearly caused concern among some staff and affected staff morale. We
responded by increasing our vaccination support for staff, and this led to over 1,700 of our frontline
staff, who fell in scope of the government’s Vaccinations as a Condition of Deployment (VCOD),
receiving their first vaccination**.
Although VCOD was later revoked by parliament we continue to encourage staff to be vaccinated to
help keep our service users safe.
Our partnership with BEH has led to the creation of new services such as the Community Mental
Health Programme. To ensure we get the best out of our partnership with BEH and achieve the
partnership’s four agreed objectives in a timely manner, we have put processes in place to oversee and
monitor its progress. We want our staff to be fully-involved in creating and developing the partnership
and a staff, service user and carer engagement programme is now underway to ensure the operational
aims of the partnership are co-produced wherever possible. The partnership is already helping us to
work more effectively together and to drive the changes we need to see to improve care still further.
Although VCOD was later revoked by parliament we continue to encourage staff to be vaccinated to
help keep our service users safe.

**

Data as of February 2022
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Our partnership with BEH has led to the creation of new services such as the Community Mental
Health Programme. To ensure we get the best out of our partnership with BEH and achieve the
partnership’s four agreed objectives in a timely manner, we have put processes in place to oversee and
monitor its progress. We want our staff to be fully-involved in creating and developing the partnership
and a staff, service user and carer engagement programme is now underway to ensure the operational
aims of the partnership are co-produced wherever possible. The partnership is already helping us to
work more effectively together and to drive the changes we need to see to improve care still further.

Risk to objectives
(identified in the BAF)

Control measures to
manage the risk

Impact of COVID-19 pandemic

We set in place a COVID-19 command and
control structure including a Gold, Silver and
Bronze command team and meetings and a
COVID-19 command centre and we regularly
assess learnings arising from the After Action
Reviews.

We risk failing to respond effectively and
efficiently to the waves of the COVID-19
pandemic and its broader impact which
can lead to an increased risk of infection
and associated potential serious health
consequences for service users* and staff,
impacting on the resilience and capacity of
staff.
This could lead to C&I being unprepared
for increased mental health need in local
communities and therefore an inability to
deliver ‘business as usual’ requirements.

We also systematically rolled out our COVID-19
vaccination programme which was then
supported by a combined project with BEH for
a designated service to offer Flu and COVID-19
booster vaccinations to all frontline staff and a
predetermined cohort of the SMI population.

There are also high levels of COVID-19 related
staff absences.
*This risk is also covered by safety and
delivering harm free care below.
Safety and delivering harm-free care
There is a risk that we fail to continually
improve our safety and learning culture across
all clinical services, which will negatively impact
on the delivery of optimal care for service
users and on the provision of a safe working
environment for all staff.
There are also risks of not fully embedding QI
specifically in relation to patient safety and
failing to share learning and best practice
across the organisation, ultimately leading to
inconsistency in the delivery of harm-free care.
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We have developed our strategic priorities for
2021/22 using a Quality Management System
approach after examining data to determine
key areas.
We also have a Quality Governance team that
manages incidents and oversees patient safety,
working closely with the QI team.
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Managing patient flow and capacity
There is a risk that C&I and NCL partners will
be unable to manage patient flow effectively
and in a joined-up manner. This could create
delays in access to assessment, care and
treatment.

Data quality and decision-making
There is a risk that there will be gaps
in accuracy of data, especially with the
implementation of 0ur electronic patient record
system for core teams and lack of integration
with the data warehouse.

We have set up monthly performance meetings
of the Community Team and Acute Ward,
managing performance and monitoring
delivery against key performance indicators.
We also hold quarterly divisional performance
review meetings with Multi-Disciplinary Team
representation scrutinising performance and
work closely with partners to deliver on joint
improvement work in patient flow.
We have a Data Quality Improvement Group
meetings maintaining operational oversight of
data quality issues and improvement initiatives.
There is also an Information Governance (IG)
Steering Group that considers data quality
from an IG and data security perspective.

This risk is amplified by the pandemic and
winter pressures.
Community transformation and integrated
care
There is a risk that, as we transition to new,
more integrated models of care, this may
cause disruption to services and compromise
the quality and continuity of care, thereby
impacting on service user safety, experience
and outcomes.
We also risk being unable to grow and sustain
the workforce as part of the Community
Mental Health Transformation Programme
given current NHS recruitment and retention
challenges.

We have developed an integration project plan
for strengthening community services in place,
supported by Strategic and QI teams.
We have also appointed a Joint Clinical
Lead for Community Mental Health
Transformation across the five boroughs and
have joint meetings with BEH to be sighted
on and ensure consistency across both trusts’
Community Transformation Programmes.
There is a Community Transformation
Project team in place with cross-functional
representation and we have recruitment plans
and processes in place for tracking all new
roles with support from Human Resources.
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People – Culture, Equality Diversity and
Inclusiveness (EDI) and staff wellbeing
There is a risk that we fail to effectively
transition towards a just, fair and inclusive
culture in line with our strategic vision and
values. This could lead to low staff engagement
and job satisfaction, higher turnover and
sickness absence levels, lower productivity and
failure to be seen as a preferred employer of
choice.
There is also a risk that we do not make

We also have a People Strategy aligned
with the NHS People Plan, along with a
workforce vision aligning service user and
staff experience, leadership and management

sufficient and timely progress against our
EDI and wellbeing priorities which may
result in pockets of a disengaged, potentially
disgruntled workforce that is not reflective of
the population we serve or the Trust’s values.

capability, strategic priorities and a just, fair
and inclusive culture.

Provider Alliance and Mental Health
System Partnership

The NCL ICS structure was confirmed in 2021,
including CEO Group, Mental Health CEO
Group and Programme Board.

There is a risk that we do not develop and
maintain effective partnerships with system
partners and fail to influence the development
of integrated systems across NCL. This may
result in the wider system undermining support
for C&I’s transformation of services and other
local priorities and objectives and threatening
consistent implementation of national and
regional mental health policy and the Mental
Health Investment Standard.
This could jeopardise the long-term suitability,
sustainability and quality of Trust services and
care for local people.
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In February, we launched our first joint EDI
strategy with BEH to help address inequalities,
spread good practice, and improve outcomes
for patients, carers, and staff across our
organisations and local communities. We plan
to refresh our action plans annually. See page
19 for more.

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

It is helpful that our Joint Trust CEO is the NCL
Mental Health Lead and both our Joint Trust
Chair and CEO are Board members of the NCL
Provider Alliance. This will help to strengthen
our influence across NCL through a stronger,
united voice.
Through closer partnership working with BEH
and the Joint Mental Health Provider Review,
the Trust has also been able to engage local
system partners to ensure a strong link with
the NCL Strategic Review. The Trust is also
well represented at the various planning and
oversight groups of the Integrated Care System
wide review.
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Mental Health Review and
Partnership with BEH
There is a risk that, at a time when there are
competing priorities and pressures; investment
of time, energy and effort into the Joint Mental
Health Provider Review by both partners fails to
achieve the four agreed objectives in a timely
manner.

We now have a joint Trust Chair and CEO to
help both trusts work more closely together.
Both the joint Trust Chair and CEO lead the
Joint Mental Health Provider Review with a
combination of Executive and Non-Executive
members from both organisations. Over the
summer we worked with staff across both
trusts to agree on four key objectives
(see page 12).
We also have an Interim Mental Health
Review Programme Director along with Joint
Executive Leadership Team meetings since 1
October 2021 to build consensus and engage
all Executives in the partnership’s strategic
direction.

Impact of Poor Estate Infrastructure on
Trust Services and Operations

There is an ongoing estate transformation
programme (see more on page 22).

This risk relates predominantly to St Pancras
Hospital (SPH) which represents 40% of the
Trust’s accommodation.

We have a Strategic Development Committee
that provides oversight of the St Pancras
Transformation Programme and Audit and
Risk Committee which provides strategic
oversight of risks to infrastructure and business
continuity.

Estate infrastructure at SPH is no longer fit
for purpose due to age and obsolescence and
inherent risks of failure which could impact
the Trust’s ability to deliver its full range of
services and improvement targets. There is also
an ongoing risk of inadequate responses to
incidents of water contamination which may
cause harm to service users and staff.
St Pancras Development Programme
There is a risk to the Trust gaining the full
benefit of the opportunity provided by the St
Pancras Transformation Programme. There are
two elements to this risk:
1. Not achieving the potential clinical and
operational transformational benefits of
new ways of working for our service users
and workforce as laid out in the Clinical
Strategy.

There is a dedicated St Pancras Transformation
Programme team that also provide regular
update reports.
We also have a Clinical Strategy, Estates
Strategy and Capital Planning Programme
Boards (including associated Programme Board
sub-Groups).

2. Not being able to deliver the associated
estate improvements (such as not achieving
any regulatory requirement, or the
programme being unaffordable).
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Staffing, Recruitment and Retention
There is a risk that we will be unable to
consistently deliver high-quality, timely care
to our service users and sustain corporate
functions if we are unable to recruit and retain
sufficient numbers of appropriately skilled
staff. This may compromise service user safety
through less consistent and poorer quality
of care, and impact on staff morale, increase
pressure on staff, and create reliance on
temporary staff.
We also have roles and certain areas where it is
more challenging to recruit and retain staff.

We have developed recruitment for hard to
fill positions and they remain under review
and all vacancies discussed at the Vacancy
Review Panel meetings and are also monitored
along with turnover via the Integrated Board
Performance Report.
We also have Staff Survey, Wellbeing and EDI
action plans in place which include supporting
staff wellbeing and development as well as
Freedom to Speak Up Guardian, Bullying and
Harassment Champions and Wellbeing team.
We also have Recruitment and Retention
programmes / initiatives, including:
• Our Staff First programme
• Equality Champions on recruitment panels
for Band 7 and above positions
• Job shadowing opportunities
• Mentoring, coaching and leadership
programmes (including a black, Asian
and minority ethnic leadership and talent
programme)
• Leading in Excellence programmes (for team
leaders and senior leaders).
• Managers Essentials programme (including
compassionate leadership).

36

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

Performance report

ICT, digital infrastructure and operational
cybersecurity
With increased uptake of remote and agile
working, there are risks that there will be
challenges with the ICT infrastructure coping
with the increased demand and planned
improvement works will not keep pace with
the changing requirements of the Trust, and
limited training capacity and appetite.
This could lead to an inability to access and
maintain accurate and contemporaneous

Our Digital Strategy includes a move to remote
working, with new tools to enable more
collaboration.
There is also a Strategic Development
Committee, Audit and Risk Committee
that carries out oversight of our digital
infrastructure.
We have set up a Cybersecurity Working
Group which receives reports on and monitors
operational cybersecurity action plans, and an
Information Governance Steering Group.

records, inconsistent working practices, and
duplication, presenting increased clinical,
operational and reputation risks and decreased
staff morale.
There is also an increased risk of a cyberattack
to healthcare systems from ransomware,
as well as phishing attacks. This leads to an
increased risk of breach or loss of critical /
confidential data.
Financial balance and sustainability
There is a risk that we will be unable to deliver
financial balance including any required cost
improvement programmes (CIPs), leading
to a failure to meet mandated performance
expectations and regulatory requirements of
NHS England and Improvement impacting on
the Trust’s autonomy and on the quality and
sustainability of services.

This risk to the financial balance remains
relatively low, as we continue use of CIP
delivery model, targets, and controls (including
monthly CIP reporting at Performance
Meetings).

There are also risks to increased expenditure
due to the current climate in relation
to COVID-19, Brexit, anticipated cost
price inflation (in relation to the estate
redevelopment).
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Facilities Management
In order to continue assessing the quality of our patient environment, we
have been undertaking standalone Patient Lead Assessment of the Care
Environment -‘Lite’ inspections, as encouraged by NHSE. This is due to
formal PLACE inspections being postponed last year.
PLACE inspections are expected to return in September 2022, but this is to be confirmed.

ISS
Our hard and soft facilities services provider ISS has been an integral part of the Trust’s frontline
response to COVID-19 and the provision of the safest possible environment for service users and staff
over the past 12 months. They have continued to provide the full range of Facilities Management
services. Soft services, such as - patient catering, cleaning, linen & laundry, waste management,
portering etc; have generally been provided to a good standard. Delivery of hard facilities management
services, such as - planned, preventative and reactive maintenance; continues to be more problematic
but have nonetheless improved on previous years.

Commissioning for Quality & Innovation
The Trust continues to achieve Commissioning for Quality & Innovation (CQUIN) targets related to
providing healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and service users. In staff restaurants, less than 10% of
drinks sold have added sugar, healthier sandwiches are on offer and only small-sized confectionary
bars are sold. Staff use of restaurants have remained low as a result of the pandemic, particularly at St
Pancras – with many administrative and office-based staff still working from home.

Our finances
The Trust reported a £1,017K surplus for its financial performance in
2021/22, which was 0.5% of turnover for the year. In 2020/21, the Trust
reported virtual break-even (£72K surplus).
In 2021/22, we saw an increase in total income of £10.7M, to £193.9M.
To understand financial performance in 2021/22 we need to understand how expenditure changed
between the two financial years 202021 and 2021/22. The biggest changes were on staff pay, which
rose by £12.7M (+9.5%). £9.3M related to the increase in costs for permanent staff, and £2.8M to
temporary staff cost increases.
Non-pay expenditure reduced by £3.0M over the same period, once impairments were accounted for.
£1.9m resulted from reduced out of area clinical placements, and a further £2.9M from reduced costs
of supplies, services and drugs. Premises, establishment depreciation, and education and training costs
offset these savings by £1.9M.
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The Trust’s overall balance sheet grew during 2021/22 by £2.3M to £181.4M: £15.5M was due to the
growth in property, plant and equipment, with cash at bank and in hand falling by £14.3M. Key capital
acquisitions included the first full year of capital costs of the new hospital building on the west side of
the Whittington Hospital site. There were also significant investments in ICT. We also sold a property in
Islington to the local authority to develop as a unit for homeless people for £3.8M.
The Trust retains strong cash balances, and although the COVID-19 pandemic has placed a high
level of financial risk on NHS providers, the Trust is confident that the system put in place by NHS
Improvement designed to allow Trusts to break-even, by receiving a pre-agreed block income for
2022/23, coupled with new capital controls, will allow the Trust’s income to cover its expenditure. It
has therefore prepared its accounts on a going concern basis.
The Trust’s Going Concern disclosure is included in the ‘Other Required Disclosures’ section of the
Annual Report, as is the disclosure on efficiency, economy and effective use of resources.

Going Concern Disclosure
After making enquiries, giving due consideration to the COVID-19
pandemic (including assessing the impacts of temporary financial
processes put in place by NHS England/Improvement in response to the
pandemic), using our historical financial trends and the maintenance of
strong cash balances, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future.
In particular, the Trust recognises that i) the government has publicly committed to levels of
expenditure on the NHS, and in particular on mental health, and ii) the nature of the funding
arrangements put in place in response to the pandemic involve fixed, consolidated income streams,
regular monthly cash settlement and separate income streams for additional COVID specific costs that
has given all providers assurance and certainty regarding financial stability.
For these reasons, the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Our Performance
Performance Analysis:
Performance Analysis summarises the Trust’s performance for 2021/22
and highlights how the Trust measures its performance against national
requirements.
The Trust verifies the quality of the data used to measure performance through our Information
Assurance Framework. This provides a current update on the data quality and data improvement
Annual report and accounts 2021/22
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plan for all the 2021/22 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), which were agreed with colleagues at our
Clinical Commissioning Groups and the Commissioning Support Unit. The Trust monitors any current
or future risks to our performance through the Trust’s risk register and presents a Performance Report
regularly to the Board. The Trust focuses on three key areas to deliver high quality services – patient
safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness.

National Performance Framework
The Trust also reports on a bi-monthly basis to the Board on the Trust’s operational, quality and safety,
workforce and financial performance against national and local standards. The focus is defined by
the Trust’s priorities, which are informed by nationally-defined objectives for providers – the NHS
Constitution, the Long-Term Plan and NHS England and NHS Improvement’s Oversight Framework,
which provides the framework for overseeing providers and also support where there is a need.
The Oversight Framework for 21/22 was built round five national themes:
• Quality of Care, Access and Outcomes
• Preventing Ill Health and Reducing Inequalities
• Finance and Resources
• People
• Leadership and Capability
These five themes are monitored through a series of service performance targets. These include service
users who should be followed up within 72 hours of discharge from an inpatient unit and people
experiencing a first episode of psychosis being treated with a NICE-approved care package within two
weeks of referral. There are also several Mental Health Services Data Set metrics and tiers of targets
covering recovery rate of Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) services in Camden,
Islington and Kingston. Despite the challenges the Trust has faced around staff sickness, self-isolation,
and the shift of resources to clinically urgent services, most of the performance indicator thresholds
were met throughout the year.

Local Performance Framework
In addition to the national targets, the internal organisational targets that stem out of national or local
commissioning targets such as the Service Development and Improvement Plan (SDIP), Data Quality
Improvement Plan (DQIP), Commissioning for Quality and Innovation framework (CQUIN) were stood
down due to the pandemic. CQUIN (both CCG and specialised) have remained suspended for this
year and the Trust was not required to implement CQUIN requirements, carry out CQUIN audits nor
submit CQUIN performance data. The allowance for CQUIN was built into the nationally set block
payments. The monthly technical meetings with the commissioners and Contract Review Group
(CRG) meetings were stood down during this period, because the focus in North Central London was
towards addressing the anticipated increase in demand for mental health services - both inpatient and
community – and addressing shielded patients, ensuring seriously ill patients were seen. Community
mental health team caseloads have been Red/Amber/Green (RAG) rated and prioritised – this includes
identifying patients who need to be seen face-to-face. Teams stepped up enhanced, responsive, duty
services to respond to urgent need. There were also Quality Improvement priorities set to assist and
support the service development plans.
The Trust has become more vigilant, by converting quarterly Divisional Performance Review Meetings
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into monthly meetings, so that any surge in demand or performance challenges are immediately
identified and addressed. These meetings monitor and support the delivery of key constitutional
standards, commissioner and provider operating plans, and organisational objectives across the quality,
workforce and finance domains. They also help the Trust by setting clear priorities, establishing proper
measures, agreeing specific actions that are required, implementing them, and reviewing the outcomes
formally on a regular basis. Inputs and actions from the internal performance meetings such as the
monthly ward and community scrutiny, quality and governance, and senior divisional management
meetings will also report into the Divisional Performance Review Meetings for a ‘ward-to-board’
approach. This provides the framework to allow the Executive Team to fulfil appropriate oversight and
assurance functions. This in turn allows the Executive Team to provide appropriate assurance to the
Trust Board.
The other new and exciting development for the Trust is the performance framework built around the
newly established Core Teams as part of the community transformation and integrated care system.
The Trust is incredibly proud of the way it adapted services to the unprecedented COVID situation,
working effectively as a system to respond to the pandemic requirements. As part of this framework,
NHS England and Improvement has committed to a 4-week maximum waiting time standard for core
adult and older adult mental health services. Although this was not a national target, the Trust have
built in processes to ensure that we are working towards achieving this in order to reduce the waiting
times for patients and improve clinical outcomes. In addition to this, the Trust is also required to
monitor the number of adults and older adults receiving two or more contacts in the new integrated
care model to improve access to all patients with mild to severe mental illness.
Although most of the performance reporting remained suspended during the year due to the
pandemic, please find below some of the KPIs that continue to show improvement during 20/21. The
data for March is provisional due to the timing of the report but it is not expected to vary significantly
from the final validated numbers.

Bed Occupancy
The occupancy level for inpatient beds remained within the normal control limits and remained below
95% through the year. This chart excludes PICU and recovery and rehabilitation beds and any leave.
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Out of Area Placements – Occupied Bed Days
Out-of-area placements for adult mental health services has shown a considerable improvement
this year where it remained below the average levels throughout the year except January 2022. This
improvement is attributed to the development of plans to reduce admissions, focusing on long stayers
in our acute wards. This improvement means that the service users can be visited regularly by their care
coordinator to ensure continuity of care and effective discharge planning. This also helped the service
users to be treated in a location that helps them to maintain contact with family, carers and friends,
and to feel as familiar as possible with their local surroundings.
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Dementia Diagnosis within 6 Weeks
Rates of dementia diagnosis remain high in Camden and Islington but waiting times from assessment
to diagnosis remain short and well above the national average.
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Camden Memory Service - % of Patients Diagnosed within 6 Weeks of
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Islington Memory Service - % of Patients Diagnosed within 6 Weeks of Referral
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Data Quality Maturity Index Overall Score
The Data Quality Maturity Index (DQMI) is a monthly publication intended to highlight the importance
of data quality in the NHS. It provides data submitters with timely and transparent information about
their data quality and focuses on the quality of set of core data items identified as being important to
commissioners and regulators. It has also been refined and extended to support national incentives
such as the CQUIN framework. The Trust’s DQMI score continued to perform above its target of 95%.
This remained consistent over the last year in spite of a number of new metrics introduced for 21/22.
The data is nationally published three months retrospectively.
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First Episode of Psychosis
The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health states that at least 60% of people with first episode
psychosis starting treatment with a NICE-recommended package of care with a specialist early
intervention in psychosis (EIP) service do so within two weeks of referral.
Proportion of people experiencing a first episode of psychosis treated with a NICE approved care
package within two weeks of referral – The Trust has consistently performed above its target of 56%.
The national data published is usually three months retrospective so the performance for January to
March in the below table is the internal calculation of the performance.
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Jinjer Kandola MBE Chief Executive
22 June 2022
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2.0 Accountability Report
Remuneration report
Board of Directors’ Remuneration Committee
Throughout the reporting period, the Board maintained its combined
Remuneration and Nominations committees that was established in the
previous reporting year.
The combined committee brings together the remits and responsibilities of both committees. It is
chaired by the Trust Chair and the membership comprises all Non-Executive Directors and the Chief
Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer is excluded from meetings when her attendance and
participation would present a conflict of interest, for example, when the committee reviews executive
directors’ pay.
The committee met six times in 2021/22 and attendance was as follows.

Members:

Meetings attended:

Jackie Smith (Committee Chair)

6/6

Pippa Aitken

5/6

Anu Singh

5/6

Mark McLaughlin

6/6

Charles Waddicor

1/3

Dal Babu

5/6

Marcelle Moncrieffe

5/6

Angela McNab (CEO until 30/09/21)

0/0

Jinjer Kandola (CEO from 01/10/21)

3/3

In line with national guidance, the Committee did not consider any pay increases for Executive
Directors during the reporting year and remuneration levels were maintained from the preceding year.
The primary focus of the Committee was nominations business in line with the Trust’s Partnership with
BEH and the plans to establish a single executive leadership team across the two organisations.
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Chair of the Combined Nominations
and Remuneration Committee’s
report
All Executive Directors are employed on permanent Very Senior Manager’s
contracts which have a minimum notice period of 6 months. Executive
Directors’ salaries are not included within the scope of the NHS national pay
and grading system known as Agenda for Change which all other Camden
& Islington employees are subject to.
All decisions on Executive Directors’ remuneration are wholly within the remit of the Non-Executive
Directors who comprise the Committee. No Executive Directors or very senior managers receive
performance related bonuses or any remunerated benefits other than their contractual salary.
Termination payments are only made in accordance with individual contracts of employment under the
general NHS terms and conditions. There are no contractual obligations in senior managers’ service
contracts that would give rise to, or impact on, remuneration payments.
The Executive Director Remuneration Policy applies to all executive directors (including the Chief
Executive) and other non-voting director members of the Board.
The policy is concerned with setting the levels of remuneration only. Other terms and conditions of
service for executive directors, non-voting board members and other senior managers, are as per
the standard NHS Agenda for Change contracts, this includes arrangements for loss of office. The
Committee has not formally consulted with employees in relation to the Director Remuneration Policy.
The Board of Directors Remuneration Committee takes into consideration relevant nationally
determined parameters on pay, pensions and compensation payments. The committee regularly
reviews the results of the National NHS Pay Survey undertaken by NHS Providers to benchmark C&I
remuneration levels against comparable NHS organisations nationally.
The committee normally reviews director remuneration annually taking into consideration national pay
awards, and sensitivities, including executive pay relative to their direct reports and pay awards granted
under Agenda for Change to all other Trust employees. The Remuneration Committee did not consider
a pay award for executive directors in line with national NHS guidance issued during 2021/22.
In line with the Trust’s partnership with Barnet, Enfield and Haringey NHS Mental Health Trust, the
committee approved the establishment of a joint CEO post that the Trust shares with BEH. In line with
the increased remit and responsibility of the joint role, the committee approved an application to HM
Treasury for an increase in CEO remuneration. At the time of writing this report, HM Treasury approval
remains outstanding. However, despite the proposed increase, the Trust is able to realise a net saving
from the joint role, once remuneration has been formally approved.
The Trust did not consult staff members in the preparation of the senior managers remuneration policy.
The Executive Director remuneration policy can be found on the Trust’s website at:www.candi.nhs.uk/
Remuneration-Policy-Very-Senior-Managers.
Annual report and accounts 2021/22
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Non-Executive Directors
Remuneration and terms of appointment for all Non-Executive Directors
including the Trust Chair are determined by the Council of Governors’
Nominations and Remuneration Committee. This committee of the Council
does not have any decision-making powers but makes recommendations
to the Council of Governors with whom final decision-making powers
solely rest.
This Governors’ committee combines nominations and remuneration business in one group which
comprises a majority of Governors. For the purpose of remuneration business the Committee met
once during the year and considered remuneration for the Trust Chair and the other Non-Executive
Directors. On the committee’s recommendation the Council of Governors approved the Trust’s
alignment of its non-executive director remuneration levels with NHS Improvement’s “Structure
to align remuneration for chairs and non-executive directors of NHS trusts and NHS foundation
trusts” (ref. NHS England and NHS Improvement, November 2019). This resulted in an increase in
NED remuneration for those whose who were below the levels set out in the national remuneration
structure.
The membership and meeting information of the Governors’ Nominations and Remuneration
Committee meeting is detailed on page 79 of this report.
The Trust maintains its Non-Executive Directors Remuneration policy which can be found on the Trust’s
website here: www.candi.nhs.uk/remuneration-policy-non-executive-directors-neds.

All other Senior Managers
There have been no payments to third parties for services of a
Senior Manager.
One Executive Director, Angela McNab, holds a Non-Executive Director type role with Dimensions.
None of the Trust’s other Executive Directors currently serve as Non-Executive Directors for any other
organisation.
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Salaries and Allowance
2021/2022

2019/2020

Salary

Pension
related
benefits

Total

Salary

Pension
related
benefits

Total

Bands of
£5,000
£000

Bands of
£2,500
£000

Bands of
£5,000
£000

Bands of
£5,000
£000

Bands of
£2,500
£000

Bands of
£5,000
£000

Angela McNab*
Chief Executive

95-100

0

95-100

190-195

0

190-195

David Wragg
Director of Finance

125-130

25-27.5

150-155

125-130

22.5-25

150-155

Dr Vincent
Kirchner*
Medical Director

190-195

70-72.5

265-270

190-195

110-112.5

300-305

Darren Summers
Deputy Chief
Executive

145-150

117.5-120

265-270

35-40

5-7.5

45-50

There were no Taxable Benefits, Annual related Performance or Long term Performance Related Bonuses paid
during the period.
*Angela McNab stepped down as CEO in September 2021.
* Dr Kirchner’s remuneration is split between his duties as Executive Director and as a consultant, with consultant
salary between the band 135-140k.
Jinjer Kandola joined C&I as CEO in October 2021 alongside her role at BEH, her salary and benefits are reported
in full by BEH.
Michelle Johnson Chief Nurse returned to her post at Whittington full time in December 2021 her salary and
benefits are reported fully by Whittington Health.
Amanda Pithouse Chief Nurse joined C&I in December alongside her role at BEH, her salary and benefits are
reported fully by BEH.
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Pension Benefits
Real increase in pension at pension age
(bands of £2,500)

Real increase in pension lump sum at pension
age (bands of £2,500)

Total accrued pension at pension age at 31
March 2022 (bands of £5,000)

Lump sum at pension age related to accrued
pension at 31 March 2022 (bands of £5,000)

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at 31 March
2022 Pension related benefits

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at 31 March
2021

Real increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer
Value

Employer’s contribution to stakeholder
pension at 31 March 2022

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

David Wragg
Director of Finance

2.5-5

0-2.5

55-60

150-155 1303

1226

44

18

Dr Vincent
Kirchner
Medical Director

2.5-5

2-2.5

85-90

125-130 1513

1402

79

14

Darren Summers
Deputy Chief
Executive

5-7.5

7.5-10

30-35

50-55

442

105

21

571

*Angela McNabis no longer part of the NHS Pension Scheme; the total accrued pension and the CETV have been
adjusted for inflation of 0.5%.

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme
benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s
accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from
the scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance with:
SI 2008 No.1050 Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008.
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2008/1050/made.
NHS Pensions are using pension and lump sum data from their systems without any adjustment for a
potential future legal remedy required as a result of the McCloud judgement (a legal case concerning
age discrimination over the manner in which UK public service pension schemes introduced a CARE
benefit design in 2015 for all but the oldest members who retained a Final Salary design.)
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NED Salary Summary
The table below details pay levels for the reporting year and relevant
increases from the previous reporting period where those were approved.
2021/2022

2019/2020

Salary

Pension
related
benefits

Total

Salary

Pension
related
benefits

Total

Bands of
£5,000
£000

Bands of
£2,500
£000

Bands of
£5,000
£000

Bands of
£5,000
£000

Bands of
£2,500
£000

Bands of
£5,000
£000

Jackie Smith
Trust Chair

40-45

0

40-45

40-45

0

40-45

Mark McLaughlin
Non Executive Director/
Chair of Audit and Risk
Committee

15-20

0

15-20

15-20

0

15-20

Pippa Aitken
Deputy Trust Chair

10-15

0

10-15

10-15

0

10-15

Anu Singh
Senior Independent
Director

15-20

0

15-20

5-10

0

5-10

Dalwardin Babu
Non Executive Director

10-15

0

10-15

10-15

0

10-15

Marcelle Moncrieffe
Non Executive Director

10-15

0

10-15

0-5

0

0-5

Claud Williams
Non Executive Director

5-10

0

5-10

0-5

0

0-5

Dani Saadu
Non Executive Director

0-5

0

0-5

0-5

0

0-5

Charles Waddicor
Non Executive Director

5-10

0

5-10

0

0

0

Catherine Jarvis
Non Executive Director

0-5

0

0-5

0

0

0

There were no Taxable Benefits, Annual related Performance or Long term Performance Related Bonuses paid
during the period.
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Charles Waddicor and Catherine Jarvis joined the trust during the year.

Fair Pay Multiple
2021/22

2020/21

Band of Highest Paid Director’s Total

190-195

190-195

Median Total

£42,834

£37,713

4.9:1

5.10:1

£52,804

n/a

3.65:1

n/a

£33,294

n/a

5.78:1

n/a

Remuneration Ratio
75th Percentile
Remuneration Ratio
25th Percentile
Remuneration Ratio

The Trust is required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director
/ member of the trust and the median remuneration of the workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director / member in the trust in the financial year 202122 was £190k-195k (2020-21, £190k-195k). This was 4.49 times (2020-21- 5.10 times) the median
remuneration of the workforce, which was £43k (2020-21, £38k).
In 2021/22 no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director / member.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but
not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent
transfer value of pensions.
There has been no significant change in the Trusts workforce during the year.
The Trust’s highest remunerated Director is the Medical Director at £195k; whose remuneration is split
between his duties as Executive Director and as consultant.
Executive Directors are the highest paid staff group within the Trust no new directors received higher
salary than the previous post holder during 2020/21.
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Governors
The Trust’s Council of Governors comprises a total of 26 Governor seats
including 5 Governors appointed from stakeholder organisations.
There was a total of £745 of Governor expense claims paid during 2021/22 and the Trust maintains an
up-to-date policy on governor expenses and payments.
This Remuneration Report for 2021/22 has been prepared in conjunction with the Hutton Review of
Fair Pay and the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.
The remuneration of the Chief Executive and other Executive Directors on the Board of Directors
is determined on an annual basis by the Remuneration Committee (a committee of the Board of
Directors). The remuneration of the Chair of the Trust and the other Non-Executive Directors (NEDs)
is determined by the Council of Governors on the recommendation of the Council’s Nominations and
Remuneration Committee.

Jinjer Kandola MBE Chief Executive
22 June 2022
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Governance and Quality Assurance
The Quality and Safety Programme Board provides executive oversight and
monitoring of the programmes and projects which have been established to
support the delivery of high quality and safe care. A key role of the Quality and
Safety Programme Board is to promote a positive safety culture encouraging
staff to gain insight and share learning from good and poor practice to support
evidence-based, QI methodology, ensuring change is consistently measured
and evaluated and learning is shared in a systematic way.
The Quality and Safety Programme Board reports to the Trust Board via the Quality and Safety Committee
for oversight and Board assurance purposes.
An integrated quality performance report is submitted to the Trust Board for quality monitoring oversight
reporting of the quality and safety of the service.
The Trust achieved a ‘Good’ rating from the CQC in the inspection report published in January 2020.
To maintain compliance with CQC standards, the Trust implements a range of approaches for assessing
compliance with the CQC five domains of quality. This involves the service areas undertaking selfassessments against the five domains of quality, regular supportive visits by senior leaders to the services
and holding workshops where corporate and divisions work together with the executive leads to identify
risks to quality and safety and agree improvement actions where necessary, and to provide assurance on
safety and quality.
The Trust has continued to adapt approaches to learning from incidents and complaints; NHS Staff Survey
results were positive for staff reporting and learning from incidents and the QI approach continues to
embed this in the Trust culture. A supportive QI framework has been established with further new QI
initiatives being developed to enable continuous improvement and systematic learning. With increased QI
training for staff, the methodology will continue to be adopted into divisional business and quality agendas.
There are weekly serious incident meetings as well as a monthly mortality review group both chaired by an
executive director where opportunities to share learning from reviews and investigations of incidents are
provided. The Trust contributes to national learning from incidents, and regularly uploads details of incidents
to the National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) and, when benchmarked with other trusts, is not a
low incident reporter. The Trust has also launched online risk registers using the patient safety system, Datix,
to allow a dynamic and participative approach to risk management.
Focus has been on improving complaints and serious incident response times, safety awareness, reducing
violence and aggression via a QI methodology, developing our suicide prevention strategy and co-producing
our Service User and Carer Experience and Engagement Strategy. The Trust also has continued to further
develop the risk management system, Datix to better capture key patient safety data. This work is ongoing.
The Trust participated in a number of national clinical audits, as well as running a local clinical audit
programme. The Quality Improvement programme has a dedicated resource in place to support initiatives
and improvements. Friends and Family Test results have remained positive, as have the results of the Annual
Community Patient Survey.
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BBC London visit to Casa Chromatic exhibition with artist Sue Kreitzman
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Care Quality Commission
As reported in our 2019/2020 Annual Report, the Trust was rated ‘Good’ overall by the CQC in
January 2020. We were rated ‘Outstanding’ for being Effective, ‘Good’ for being Caring, Responsive
and Well-led and ‘Requires Improvement’ for being Safe.
Across the organisation, the CQC found:
• Patients were treated with compassion and kindness across all services with respect for their
privacy and dignity
• ‘Evidence of some outstanding care’ supported by a flourishing and well-embedded QI
programme
• Establishment of the Primary Care Mental Health Networks ensured joined-up care
• Positive engagement with patients, carers and staff including a wide range of co-production
work
• A strategy to improve staff health and wellbeing
• A ‘capable and experienced leadership team’ who were open about the challenges they face
• Effective partnerships with other stakeholders across north London.
The CQC report highlighted challenges including high demand for acute beds, high caseloads in some
community-based mental health services, and delays to both Mental Health Act (MHA) assessments
and serious incident investigations.
The CQC also identified the need for more work to strengthen support networks to meet the needs of
staff and patients with protected characteristics. The Trust developed an action plan to ensure our care
is always consistently high across all services. Progress has been made with the implementation of the
actions and there have been improvements in wait times for MHA assessments and serious incident
response times. Actions are monitored by the Trust’s Quality and Safety Committee.

Internal and external
communications
The Trust Communications Team has undergone major change within the
reporting year, expanding, merging with the BEH team and introducing
new platforms, to inform staff, service users and the public about the many
developments and change programmes across the organisation.
Our weekly staff bulletin and regular all-staff emails are now circulated using GovDelivery, from
Granicus, a secure platform that enables us to check the metrics on who is opening and clicking into
each; in time this will help us target messaging to become even more effective.
The team are using a new digital tool called Netpresenter, to produce messages as computer
screensavers and a mobile news app, which has been downloaded onto all work phones. Work
is underway to put up digital screens in ward areas so that Netpresenter can also be used for
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communicating important messages to busy frontline staff who log on to a work computer
infrequently.
Other digital tools have been assessed; we have posted on Yammer, a staff news-sharing app
that is part of the Microsoft 365 suite, and we have used Mentimeter to gather feedback during
presentations and webinars.
The number of webinars for staff has increased during the year, and we changed the format of these
live, online events. They are now held as Teams Meetings, enabling staff to talk directly to the panel of
speakers, instead of only texting their questions and comments.
The Trust has increased its number of followers on social media; posting on Twitter, Instagram,
Facebook and LinkedIn frequently. The communication team also liaises with media outlets, both local
and national, sending press releases about some of the pioneering and innovative projects we are
involved in. This has resulted in positive coverage in local newspapers and on television.
The team also organise events; our Annual Members’ Meeting was again held online in 2021, in part
because of the pandemic but also to make it accessible to as many people as possible. We hoped
to have a physical event to celebrate our Star of the Year Awards, where members of staff from
teams across the Trust are recognised for going above and beyond their duties to help others and the
organisation as a whole. However, as the number of COVID cases rose, we felt compelled to change,
so the event was online for the second year running.
There were several sustained communications campaigns this year around the Joint Mental Health
Review, COVID-19 and flu vaccination, and the NHS Staff Survey.
At the end of the reporting year a major review of the structure of our communications team began
and work is underway to streamline our workflow, maximising the impact of our messaging across a
wide range of platforms.

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience
& Response
The Civil Contingencies Act of 2004 requires the Trust to work in
partnership with other NHS organisations and other key partners such
as the emergency services, local authorities, voluntary and faith sectors
to develop clear and co-ordinated strategic, tactical and organisational
response plans for major and serious incidents.
The Trust has continued to achieve this during the past year by being an active participant in
Camden and Islington Borough Resilience Forums and also at the various North East and North
Central Emergency Preparedness Response and Resilience (EPPR) meetings hosted by NHS England
and Improvement. The Trust has recruited an EPRR Lead, jointly with BEH to align good practice and
develop continuously improving EPRR processes across both trusts.
During 2021-22 the Trust maintained compliance with the Civil Contingency Act of 2004, NHS
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Met Police Taser Team visit to Highgate Hospital’s Place of Safety Suite
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England standards and the standards of other regulatory bodies. This will be improved in 2022-23 by
a full review of the Incident Response Plan and the development of an integrated business continuity
management process.
The Trust achieved a rating of Substantial Compliance in the 2021/22 EPRR assurance process. A
number of standards were removed for this year’s process and others modified to reflect the potential
interruptions from the pandemic on the usual planning cycles, but this does not detract from their
importance within EPRR. The report highlighted the fine work undertaken by the Trust in effectively
managing the first and second waves of the pandemic and using the learning gained during that
response effectively.
The Trust is now developing a robust work plan for 2022/23 as we further embed our partnership
with BEH.

Working with stakeholders
As part of our partnership with BEH we have introduced a new model for our
crisis prevention houses and this is now operating across our whole area.
We also plan to open crisis cafes in more and more locations later this year.
We are aware of the importance of working closely with our service users, local authorities, and other
organisations and agencies in all areas of the Trust.
Our Hospital Division, for example, has good relationships with the Metropolitan Police Service and the
London Ambulance Service. Our community services dovetails with local authority provision, as well as
with local charities and Third Sector groups, including Mind, Likewise, Hillside Clubhouse and Age UK.
C&I’s Clinical Strategy aims to deliver services integrated with those of local authorities and other
organisations so building and maintaining good relationships and working arrangements with others,
is of the utmost importance.
We also communicate regularly with NHS England and Improvement, the Clinical Commissioning
Groups, local politicians, Healthwatch and others, to ensure that they are aware of any major
developments affecting our Trust.

Service user involvement in the Trust
The Trust’s Clinical Strategy puts service user experience and involvement
at its centre by taking account of our service users’ feedback of their
experience in, and also by involving them in our improvement activities.
We work in partnership with our staff and service users, their families and carers to seek opportunities
to improve the quality of care that we provide. We also recognise that sometimes we don’t always
get it right, but we work with service users, families and carers to understand where care has not met
expectations and put things right.
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We have endorsed a co-produced Patient and Carer Experience and Engagement strategy which sets
out a structured approach to learning together and enhancing service users and carer experience.
The strategy aligns service user and carer engagement as recommended in the Leeds-Beckett
University review undertaken in 2019.
A task and finish group, which included service user representatives, was set up in the summer of
2021, and a road map for the strategy was approved by the Quality & Safety Committee in Q2 202122. The overarching strategy was finalised in Q3 and endorsed by the Trust Board in Q4 2021-22
We want to take varied opportunities to hear from our service users, carers and their relatives, and
encourage and enable their active participation in shaping the way the Trust provides its services. This
includes having service user and carer representatives on boards and committees, having their active
participation in quality improvement activities, and the Trust actively requesting feedback.
Our key indicators for patient experience are our Patient Friends and Family Test, our complaints and
compliments process and the Annual Community Mental Health Patient Survey. The Trust is committed
to developing methodology and ways to collect patient and carer experience as part of it strategy.

Patient Friends and Family Test (FFT)
The Trust continues to seek feedback using the Friends and Family Test
(FFT) surveys in line with the principle that people who use NHS services
should have the opportunity to comment on their experience in order for
us to continue to improve; 1,508 FFT responses were received Trust wide
between April 2021 and March 2022.
The response rate did not consistently meet the 20% Trust target partly due to the staggered approach
in lifting restrictions due to COVID-19. A text-messaging system asking service users to complete
surveys such as the Friends and Family Test and an Inpatient Experience Survey for patients and carers
as part of a QI project piloted in the Mental Health Crisis Assessment Service (MHCAS), is now ready
to be rolled out across the Hospital Division. Early indication shows that rates of Family & Friends Test
completion has increased through this method with the added benefit of taking this task away from
busy clinicians.
The 80% recommendation of services rate was consistently met and has been exceeded since July
2021 with a variety of positive comments received about our services, staff and the care experienced.
As part of our partnership working with Barnet, Enfield and Haringey NHS Mental Health Trust (BEH),
we will be working collaboratively to support each other with best practice to analyse and interpret
patient feedback to improve patient experience.
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National Community Service User
Survey
The National Community Service User Survey is commissioned by the CQC
and is conducted annually. It is a patient experience survey of people who
use community mental health services in England. CQC use the results from
the survey in the regulation, monitoring, and inspection of NHS trusts in
England.
In 2021, there was a slight improvement in our response rate from 2020 (21% to 23%) although still
below the national average of 26%. Those who responded were broadly representative of our local
populations.
What we are doing well (results that are highest compared with the national average)
• Support with work: service users being given help or advice with finding support for finding
or keeping work
• Views on quality of care: service users being asked for their views on the quality of the care
they received.
• Support with physical health needs: service users being given support with their physical
health needs.
• Support with financial advice: service users being given help or advice with finding support
for financial advice.
• Organising care: service users feeling their care is organised well
Identified areas for improvement (results that are lowest compared with
the national average)
• Staff explaining talking therapies in a way service users can understand.
• Review of care: service users meeting with staff specifically to discuss how their care is
working.
• Decisions in care: service users feeling that decisions were made together when reviewing
care.
• Services users feeling they were being treated with respect and dignity.
• Communicating changes in care due to COVID-19
The Trust has put in place an action plan in response to the areas for improvement while also
gathering a better understanding of the overall survey response, testing hypothesis, and doing further
exploratory work with our service users to improve patient experience.
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Complaints
Concerns and complaints from service users and their families are taken
very seriously, and C&I seeks to address issues thoroughly and promptly,
providing assurance of improvements made.
During 2021-22, 133 formal complaints were received by our Advice and Complaints Service,
compared to 135 in the previous year. There were also 200 concerns (issues that were raised
informally) received and resolved, compared with 198 in the previous year.
The Trust aims to respond to at least 80% of formal complaints within the agreed timeframe.
Throughout this reporting period, the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on staff capacity has
affected our ability to investigate and respond to complaints in a timely manner. For the first half of
the year the compliance rate was below 80%. In line with national guidance, we continued to manage
expectations by advising complainants at the outset that investigations were taking longer than
desirable to complete.
Achieving the required standards in complaints management has remained a risk on our Trust-wide
risk register and actions are in place to address this. Themes and learning from complaints are used to
inform quality improvement initiatives and service developments, for example, reducing waiting times,
improving the handling of safeguarding concerns and enhancing the information provided about
services by providing information packs.

Compliments
Whilst we are always conscious of the need to learn and improve where we could have done better,
our service users also tell us about some of the excellent practice in the Trust. We can also use this to
learn from where things have gone well.
Some examples of positive feedback that the Trust has received are on page 62.
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St Pancras Hospital Drama workshop for service users
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Service user experience
Service user groups
The Trust has a strong network of 16 service user and carer groups across the boroughs of Camden
and Islington, and across service areas that are actively involved in activities in all our services and
across our local communities.
All groups feed into the Trust Service User Alliance Group that is attended by service users, carers, staff
including senior managers and partners in our local communities. At this meeting, service users and
carers provide feedback, learning and recommendations to the Trust and Trust information is cascaded
to service users and carers. There are opportunities to ask questions, comment and/or give suggestions
for Trust consideration. Each group reports on their activities and highlight positive feedback and areas
of concern. Concerns are dealt with either at the meetings or directed to services for a response.
Service user involvement activities include participation in, and contribution to, recruitment interviews,
service team meetings, senior management meetings and programme boards within the Trust, service
development work such as the St Pancras Transformation programme, as well as Quality Improvement
projects.

Volunteers
Over 2021/2022, we have worked hard to restore our longstanding
volunteers while following COVID-19 regulations.
We introduced a new Response Volunteer Service to provide support to our clinical colleagues as well
as patients in our hospital settings. Volunteers in this service pick up non-clinical tasks for staff to help
reduce the pressure on them, so they can concentrate on clinical tasks and patient care. Volunteers
have undertaken more than 2,600 tasks including: undertaking shop runs, delivering post, making up
activity packs, sourcing clothes, providing books and telephone-befriending. Their contribution has
saved over 1,500 hours of staff time.
Staff feedback shows that 96% of respondents agree the service has allowed them more time to
deliver good care to patients and 94% that the volunteers’ support helps them feel less stressed.
Over 94% of patient feedback respondents agree the service has cheered them up and that it is
helpful and valuable to them.
We are also working on an exciting Volunteer to Career project, with the support of Helpforce & the
Burdett Trust for Nursing. This project aims to help support our volunteers with aspirations of a career
in the NHS, inspire those who hadn’t previously thought about a career in health or social care and
support the Trust’s workforce needs.
We are very proud of our amazing volunteers and thank them for their invaluable support, which is
much appreciated by the Trust, our staff and service users.
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Trust membership report
In February 2020 the Council of Governors approved a three-year
Membership Engagement Strategy, the financial year 2020-21 being
considered the first year. The delivery of this strategy continued
throughout the reporting period although in a reduced form in response
to the pandemic and fewer engagement activities being undertaken as a
result. The strategy is focused on high priority deliverables and sets out
targets that are tailored to current resources. A key element of the
strategy is the promotion of the Trust’s membership and the role and
work of Governors with the aim to enhancing membership engagement
as part of Governor elections.
Facilitating engagement between Governors and members continues to be a key area of focus,
however, in response to the pandemic engagement has been refocused to keep Governors and
members informed about the Trust’s response to COVID-19, its ongoing management of the pandemic
and the changes introduced as a result.
Engagement activities were carried out virtually although all governor-related meetings were held
at pre-pandemic level. Online communication activities were further enhanced which included
strengthening Governor Open meetings with presentations on key developments. The Deputy and
Lead Governors also introduced Governor drop-in sessions and new Governors’ induction featured a
short series of informal meetings with the Trust Chair and Senior Independent Director.

Summary of engagement activities during 2021/22
Due to COVID infection control and prevention restrictions, most meetings and activities continued to
be held virtually throughout the year. Applying the ongoing learning throughout the pandemic, virtual
activities are now well embedded in business-as-usual. Communication through social media and other
virtual channels has increased and has been successful in the Trust connecting with partners and local
communities.
The Trust continued to engage with members and especially service user members through
newsletters, regular meetings and ad-hoc events, for example, on the development of the service user
experience strategy.
The Trust’s Choir and Dance for Joy classes also continued in line with infection control measures
although classes were temporarily suspended at peak times of the pandemic. At those times, virtual
engagement with all choir and dance members continued to facilitate some social contact and
communication.
As at the end of April 2022, the public membership figure dropped from 3,728 on the previous year to
3,511 and service user and carer membership decreased from 688 to 639.
Engaging the service user and carer constituency was a key focus of the 2021 Governor elections
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along with stronger engagement with communities to increase representation around the nine
protected characteristics, especially with people from Black, Asian and Minority Etnic and disability
backgrounds. These activities will continue in line with the Governor elections in 2022.

Membership Information and Statistics
Membership by Constituency
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Diversity and representation
As part of the membership application process, the Trust asks people to provide demographic data
so that it can monitor how well its membership reflects the communities it serves and be as inclusive
as possible. However, many applicants choose not to volunteer this. Therefore, the data to make a
meaningful comparison between the demographics of the local population and that of the Trust is
therefore not sufficiently robust to draw definitive conclusions. This is something we continue to work
on especially when new census data becomes available.
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Breakdown of public and service user membership by age
Age

C&I Public
and Service
User
Members
(%)

Local
Population
(%)

0-16

0.00%

22%

17-21

0.22%

6%

22-29

9.11%

13%

30-39

13.76%

19%

40-49

12.94%

14%

50-59

14.48%

11%

60-74

13.13%

10%

75+

5.61%

5%

Not stated

30.76%

0%

C&I Public and
Service User
Members (%)

Local
Population
(%)

Breakdown of public and service user membership by ethnicity
Ethnicity

C&I Public
and Service
User
Members (%)

Local
Population
(%)

White

41.89%

60%

Mixed

4.63%

5%

Asian or
Asian
British

8.96%

19%

Black or
Black
British

8.89%

13%

Other

3.69%

3%

Not stated

32.11%

0%

C&I Public and
Service User
Members (%)

Local
Population
(%)
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Breakdown of public and service user membership by gender

Gender

C&I Public
and Service
User
Members
(%)

Local
Population
(%)

Female

49.84%

50%

Male

47.07%

50%

Transgender

0.07%

0%

Unspecified

3.01%

0%

C&I Public and
Service User
Members (%)

Local
Population
(%)

Breakdown of public and service user membership
by socio-economic group
SocioEconomic
Class

C&I Public and
Service User
Members (%)

Local
Population
(%)

AB1

27.53%

30%

C12

31.01%

33%

C23

12.96%

15%

DE

28.50%

22%

4

1
2
3
4

70

C&I Public and
Service User
Members (%)
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(%)

AB – Higher and intermediate managerial, administrative and professional occupations
C1 – Supervisory, clerical and junior managerial, administrative and professional occupations
C2 – Skilled manual occupations
DE – Semi-skilled and unskilled manual occupations, unemployed and lowest grade occupations
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C&I’s membership continues to be broadly representative of the local population, and work has started
to plan activities around promoting membership and the role of Governor to under-represented
community groups which is a specific focus in the run up to Governor elections. Work continues on
developing new methods of promoting the benefits of Trust membership to all communities and
current governors of the Trust continue to play a key role in these activities.

Annual Members’ Meeting
The Annual Members’ Meeting 2021 took place on 7 October and, due to the event being held
virtually, there was a good attendance by members of the public as well as Governors and Trust staff.
The event included presentations by the Chair, Chief Executive, Head of Nursing, Finance Director and
Lead Governor and there was an opportunity for attendees to ask the executive team questions.

Governors’ Annual Report
The Council of Governors’ Membership Working Group holds editorial ownership of the Governors’
Annual Report as well as the membership newsletter. The Governors’ Annual Report 2020/21 was
presented as part of the Annual Members’ Meeting and has been published on the Trust’s website. It
provides highlights of key Governor activities during the reporting year and provides insights into the
various governor working groups and activities of the Council.

Interactive engagement
In response to the pandemic, many engagement activities have continued to be delivered virtually and
through electronic channels. This has increased the use of social media platforms, such as Twitter, to
communicate key messages to Trust members. The Trust established a new role of Digital Inclusion
Manager to support service users, carers and members of our local communities with the use of virtual
platforms and communication channels. Through this work, the Trust has also supported individuals
with electronic devices and equipment, and training in how to use them.

Governance and accountability
C&I is committed to building strong lines of communication, accountability and transparency between
those who manage the Trust and the communities the Trust serves; as well as those between
management and Trust staff. Membership is a fundamental part of our approach to achieving this aim
and, as such, we continue to work hard to deliver improvements where possible.
Throughout the year, a key focus has been on strengthening the engagement between Governors
and Non-Executive Directors. Building on this work from the previous year, during 2021-22 further
activities have been introduced. For example, governors are invited to an informal meeting with all
Non-Executive Directors before every Board meeting to ask any questions or to discuss particular issues
or items relating to Board business. ‘NED in focus’ presentations have continued at Council meetings
and the quarterly Governor Open Meetings have been strengthened with presentations on specific
topics and strategic items. There is now a strong link between each Governor Working Group with a
corresponding committee of the Board and the chairs of each group regularly plan agendas and key
items of meeting business. This enables Governors to work with Non-Executive Directors and see them
in action.
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Meetings being held virtually has also meant that more Governors have been able to observe Board
meetings throughout this year and many Governor meetings continued to have strong attendance.

Governor training and development
A range of activities and resources continued to be available to Governors throughout the year, which
included:
• The Governors’ Handbook
• The Governor Buddy Programme
• Governor newsletter
Throughout the year, C&I continued to promote the full range of NHS Providers’ ‘Govern-well’ training
courses, and interest and attendance has been strong especially among the newer members of the
Council. The Trust Secretariat and the Lead Governor have also been planning a bespoke Governor
development event delivered by NHS Providers which is planned to be delivered in June 2022 and
again in the autumn once the next cohort of governors has joined the Council.

Learning and improvement
Through the membership database newsletters and virtual activities such as webinars, service users,
carers and other Trust members have continued to hear updates from the Trust and share their views
to help improve services. Key forums, such as the Service User Alliance, play an important role in
informing strategies and learning about service users’ experiences. The Trust has continued to engage
with members to vote on the following year’s quality priorities to ensure necessary improvements can
be made across patient safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness.

Summary of eligibility requirements
C&I’s membership is laid down in the Trust’s Constitution and comprises three constituencies: public,
service users/carers and staff. Individuals are eligible to become members of one constituency, and
those who are eligible to join the staff constituency cannot join as public or service user members
while they are eligible for staff membership.
Public membership:
This constituency is divided into three classes: ‘Camden’, ‘Islington’ and ‘Rest of London’. To be eligible
for this membership, the individual must live in one of the three areas stated and be 16 years of age or
over.
Service user / Carer membership:
To be eligible for this membership, the individual must have accessed one or more of the Trust’s
services within the last five years when they join and be 16 or over. Carers may also become members
under this constituency as long as they are 16 or over and they have been a carer of someone who has
accessed Trust’s services within the last five years.
Staff membership:
This constituency is for individuals employed by the Trust permanently or under a contract exceeding
one year. All staff are automatically enrolled as members at the start of their employment with the
Trust, although they have the option to opt out at any time.
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Getting in contact with governors:
Members who wish to contact governors can do so by emailing: governors@candi.nhs.uk, using the
‘contact form’ on the Contact page of our website or writing to:

Governors
Freepost RTGZ_ZKAY_XGGC
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust
St. Pancras Hospital,
4 St Pancras Way
London
NW1 0PE
Getting in contact with the Trust Board and Company Secretariat:
Members who wish to contact the Board can do so by emailing: Trust.Secretary@Candi.nhs.uk
or by writing to:

C&I Board
Freepost RTGZ_ZKAY_XGGC
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust
St. Pancras Hospital, 4 St Pancras Way
London,
NW1 0PE
Getting in contact with the Membership Office:
Members who wish to contact the Membership Office can do so by emailing:
membership@candi.nhs.uk or by writing to:

Membership Office
Freepost RTGZ_ZKAY_XGGC
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust
St. Pancras Hospital, 4 St Pancras Way
London,
NW1 0PE
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Our governance
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust has applied the principles
and standards of best practice as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Code
of Governance (version: July 2014). Where these principles have not been
upheld or complied with, explanation is provided in this report. In addition
to the Code, the Trust has continued to uphold and promote the Nolan
Principles of Public Life - selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability,
openness, honesty and leadership.
Our governance arrangements are led by the Trust Chair, Jackie Smith. Jackie is the Chair of our Board
of Directors and the Council of Governors. She is supported by the Trust Company Secretary to whose
advice the whole Board continuous to have access to.
As the COVID-19 pandemic continued to dominate much of the Trust’s work throughout the year,
the Board maintained closer oversight of management of the impact from the pandemic. The Board’s
Audit and Risk Committee continued its scrutiny role to ensure all governance arrangements continued
to be fit for purpose and continued to deliver the assurance the Board required. In line with this,
the Trust Company Secretary, in close collaboration with the Trust Chair and other Non-executive
Directors, continued to monitor the Trust’s governance provisions and updated these in response to
any emerging developments throughout the year.

Internal controls – Risk Management
There are many systems and processes in place throughout the Trust to embed risk management and
related systems of internal control. For example, this includes:
• Equality impact assessments are carried out as part of strategy development and key policies;
these assessments are overseen by the Head of EDI and have strong staff network input
• Staff Network Chairs hold regular meetings with the executive director lead for EDI to review
key corporate risks and to identify emerging risks related to staff and the nine protected
characteristics of the Equality Act
• The Trust has a Management of Serious Incidents policy and an Incident Reporting policy
which is designed to encourage and make it easy for staff to report all kinds of incidents.
• All incidents are reported through the Trust’s Datix system which includes tracking of incident
responses and general progress. An incident report is a regular agenda item at Quality &
Safety Committee meetings highlighting key themes and learning from incidents. C&I’s
staff networks are also active in this area and help identify emerging themes and particular
concerns around compliance with the Equality Act.
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The Trust is compliant with the Developing Workforce Safeguards and it has implemented the set of
guidelines as set out by NHS England. The Quality & Safety committee oversees this and elements are
captured in the integrated performance report, for example, safer staffing levels. Other examples of
risk management include:
• Lone working risk assessments
• Health and safety risk assessments
• Various forms of clinical risk assessments
• For more information, the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy is available on the C&I website.
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3.0 Directors’ Report
Board of Directors
Our Board provides overall leadership and vision to the Trust and is
collectively accountable for all aspects of performance and management
of the Trust’s activities, including clinical and service quality, financial
performance and governance.
The Board of Directors comprises:
• An independent Non-Executive Chair
• Six independent Non-Executive Directors, one of whom is appointed as the Deputy Trust
Chair and another as the Senior Independent Director
• Eight Executive Directors (of whom three are non-voting attendees at Board meetings)
In addition to the standing Board membership, the Council of Governors appointed an additional NonExecutive Director as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee who took up post on 1 June 2021.
In accordance with our constitution, the Executive Directors include the Chief Executive Officer, (as the
accounting officer), the Finance Director, the Medical Director, who is a registered medical practitioner,
and the Chief Nurse, who is a registered nurse. Non-voting Executive Directors attend all Board
meetings as does the Trust Company Secretary.
To further strengthen the skills, expertise and input the Board can draw on, two Associate NonExecutive Director roles continue to be part of the overall Board composition. These roles are designed
to add further diversity to the Board and strengthen the Board’s engagement with local communities.
They also offer development opportunities for aspirant directors and foster the talent pipeline and
support succession planning.
The expertise of the Non-Executive Directors is wide-spread and diverse, and includes finance, human
resources, marketing, strategic property development, equality, diversity and inclusion, governance,
quality and service improvement and management consultancy. The names, roles, and a description of
the background of each Director are shown later on page 87.
All Directors are signatories to the Code of Conduct for NHS Boards and Code of Accountability for
NHS Boards of Directors. This document also sets out the key responsibilities of Board Directors and
their responsibilities in relation to the Council of Governors.
The Board delegates the operational management of the organisation to the Chief Executive Officer
and the Executive Team, which includes all Executive Directors.
The Trust has a scheme of delegation which sets out the types of decision to be delegated to managers
by the Board (‘Reservation of powers to the Board and delegation of powers’) and those that the
Board reserves for itself.
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The Board believes it has a balanced and appropriate membership in line with the requirements of
being an NHS Foundation Trust.

Board conflicts of interest and
register of interests
The Trust has a rigorous process for declaring and managing interests, and
it maintains a formal register of Directors’ interests. This is available for
inspection on request, at the Foundation Trust Headquarters at St Pancras
Hospital, Executive Offices, 4th Floor East Wing, 4 St Pancras Way, London
NW1 0PE (telephone 020 3317 7112). The Register of Interests for Directors
can also be viewed by members of the public, via the Trust’s website via
www.candi.nhs.uk.
During this year, procedures for managing the declaration of interests as well as gifts and hospitality
have been reviewed by both, our local counter fraud specialist team and our internal auditors. The
review has found that current arrangements are robust and a number of activities are under way to
further strengthen current provisions.
Board members do not hold directorships in companies with whom the Foundation Trust has done
business within this financial year and each Non-Executive Director is required to confirm that they
remain independent. This is also considered by the Council of Governors when they appoint or reappoint Non-Executive Directors. The Trust considers that all Non-Executive Directors are independent.

Council of Governors
The Council of Governors has a number of statutory powers and responsibilities articulated in the
Trust’s constitution which reflect the legal requirements as laid down in the National Health Service
Act 2006 and the 2012 Health and Social Care Act. The specific statutory powers and duties of the
Council of Governors are to:
• Develop our membership and represent the interests of the members of the Trust as a whole
and the interests of the public
• Contribute to the development of the Trust’s strategy and forward plans
• Appoint and, if appropriate, remove the Chair and the other Non-Executive Directors;
the Council of Governors’ Nominations and Remuneration Committee is responsible for
overseeing the procedure of the appointment and removal of a Non-Executive Director
• Discuss and agree the outcome of the Chair’s appraisal
• Decide the remuneration and allowances, and the other terms and conditions of office, of
the Chair and the other Non-Executive Directors
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• Approve the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer
• Appoint and, if appropriate, remove the Trust’s Auditor
• Receive the Trust’s annual accounts, any report of the Auditor on them and the Annual
Report
• Hold the Non-Executive Directors, individually and collectively, to account for the
performance of the Board of Directors
• Approve significant transactions as defined in the Trust’s constitution
• Approve an application by the Trust to enter into a merger, acquisition, separation or
dissolution
• Decide whether the Trust’s non-NHS work would significantly interfere with its principal
purpose
• Approve amendments to the Trust’s constitution
During the year, the Council exercised many of these duties. In particular it:
• Approved the appointment of an additional Non-Executive Director to be a member of the
Audit and Risk Committee
• Approved the re-appointment of two Non-Executive Directors for a further two-year term of
office
• Approved an increase in remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors, including the Trust
Chairs’, in alignment with NHS Improvement’s Chair and NED Remuneration Framework
• Received the independent report from the Trust’s auditors
• Reviewed the Chair appraisal report
• Convened a task and finish group to develop a governor training manual – the ‘Governor
Handy Guide’
The Council has continued to play an important role in helping to shape the strategy of the Trust
and holding the Non-Executive Directors to account through the governor-led working groups which
all have at least one Non-Executive Director as a member of each group. Governor working groups
remain aligned with corresponding Board committees.
The Council now has working groups which focus on the following areas of Trust
performance:
• Quality and Safety
• Membership and Engagement
• St Pancras Transformation Programme
• People and Culture
In response to the establishment of a new Board committee, the Partnership Development Committee,
a new Governor working group is being established to align with this committee. The Partnership
Development Working Group replaces the Finance and Business Planning Working Group which was
stood down during the year, although it will not cover the same remit.
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Communication and Engagement
Throughout this year, there has been significant emphasis on strengthening the engagement between
Governors and Non-Executive Directors. Building on the initiatives implemented in the previous
reporting year, further enhancements have been implemented during 2021-22, such as:
• The Chair and Senior Independent Director have continued to hold informal Governor open
meetings at which Governors are invited to raise any issue, question or concern they wish;
some of these meetings focus on key topics to build a better understanding of some of
the Trust’s key strategic workstreams; the frequency of these open meetings was increased
during the pandemic to ensure Governors continued to receive appropriate assurances and
remained engaged with the Trust
• Non-Executive Directors (NED) continue to provide a report to each Council of Governor
meeting in which a ‘NED in-focus’ reports on his/her recent activities and general
contributions to the Board and the wider Trust
• Governors are invited to an informal NED lunch meeting before every Board meeting in
which Governors can raise questions or discuss any matters of interest. This is designed to
further strengthen the relationships between Governors and the Non-Executive Directors
• Through the 360-degree feedback process, Governors contribute to appraisals of the Trust
Chair by providing feedback on her performance and achievements
• Throughout the year, the Lead Governor has had regular meetings with the Trust Chair,
Senior Independent Director and the Trust Company Secretary to discuss the ongoing
functioning of the Council and to provide general support to the Lead and Deputy Lead
Governors

Constituencies of the Council of
Governors
Public constituency, which is divided into three classes, namely,
• Camden
• Islington
• Rest of London
And:
• Service user and carer constituency
• Staff constituency
• Appointed Governors
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Composition of the Council of
Governors
The Council of Governors currently comprises 21 elected Governor seats
and five appointed by partner organisations. The breakdown is shown
below:
• Six elected by service user and career members
• 11 elected by members of public constituencies
• Four elected by C&I staff
• Five appointed by partnership organisations

Lead and Deputy Lead Governors
In line with the Trust’s Constitution, the 26 Governors nominate one of them to act as the Lead
Governor. In 2019, the Council established two deputy lead Governor roles which remained in place
throughout the year. A robust process was implemented to elect governors to these roles and also
to the membership of the Council’s two committees. Role descriptions for the Lead and Deputy Lead
Governor roles have been developed which continue to be reviewed.
The Lead and Deputy Lead Governors are elected for a term of two years, the same as the terms of
office for the members of the Council’s two committees, the Steering Committee and the Nominations
and Remuneration Committee.
Due to the former Lead Governor resigning from his Governor seat in October 2021, the Council
agreed one of the Deputy Lead Governors to act as Interim Lead Governor until the next elections are
held in May 2022.

Governor elections
Elected Governors normally hold office for periods of three years and are
eligible for re-election at the end of their term to serve a maximum of nine
consecutive years.
Governor elections were held between June and August 2021 with newly elected Governors formally
commencing their three-year term of office as of the Annual Members’ Meeting on 7 October 2021.
The 2021 Governor elections were again very successful in that on average there were three
nominations for every vacant Governor seat. All but one seat in the Service User/Carer constituency,
were elected to successfully. One other Governor-elect from the Service User/Carer constituency
withdrew just before taking up office. One vacancy was filled from within the pool of nominations in
line with the Trust’s Election Rules. This left one vacancy in this constituency at the time of the annual
members’ meeting. As the next Governor elections were due to commence within nine months after
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the annual members’ meeting, the vacancy was agreed to be carried forward to the next election
campaign.

Governor vacancies
As of 31 March 2022, the Council carries a number of vacancies by
constituency due to resignations during the year as follows:
• Public-Camden: one seat
• Public-Islington: one seat
• Public-Rest of London: one seat
• Service User/Carer: 2 seats
• Staff Governors: 3 seats
In addition to the elected Governor vacancies, the Trust is in the process of seeking nominations
from UCL Medical School and Voluntary Action Camden to fill two vacancies arising from recent
resignations.

Name and description of
constituencies and organisations
appointing Governors
The public constituency comprises members of the public who reside in
any of the 18 electoral wards in the London Borough of Camden, the 16
electoral wards in the London Borough of Islington, and all electoral wards
within the City of London and the remaining 30 principal subdivisions of the
administrative area of Greater London, each governed by a London borough
council, established by the London Government Act 1963.
The staff constituency comprises staff employed by the Trust under a contract of employment which
has no fixed term or has a fixed term of more than 12 months; or have been continuously employed
by the Trust under a contract of employment for at least 12 months.
The service user and carer constituency comprises anyone who has been a service user of the Trust
within the last five years at the point of application for membership, or is over the age of 16 and
provides care on a regular basis for a service user who has not attained the age of 16 or who is, by
reason of physical or mental incapacity, unable to discharge the functions of a member.
Voluntary Action Camden, (VAC), is an independent, grant-aided voluntary organisation that exists to support,
encourage, defend and develop voluntary and community action in the London Borough of Camden.
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Voluntary Action Islington, (VAI), is Islington’s umbrella agency for the voluntary sector and the main
provider of support for local voluntary organisations. The mission of VAI is to promote a thriving,
effective and influential third sector that is working to improve the quality of life, and the life chances
of people in Islington.
London Borough of Camden, (LBC), is the local authority for Camden.
London Borough of Islington, (LBI), is the local authority for Islington.
University College London, (UCL), Division of Psychiatry, which is part of a consortium of Mental Health
Sciences.

Council of Governor Meetings
• The Trust Chair is also the Chair of the Council of Governors.
• Governors are expected to attend Council of Governors’ meetings and there are provisions in
the Trust’s Constitution relating to non-attendance at three consecutive meetings.
• The Chief Executive Officer is required to attend and other Directors also attend Council
meetings on a regular basis particularly when their attendance would be beneficial to the
discussion on a topic within their remit.
• Four regular and one extraordinary Council of Governors’ general meetings were held during
2021/22 on the following dates:
O 11 May 2021
O 28 July 2021 (extraordinary)
O 7 September 2021
O 7 December 2021
O 8 February 2022
A quorum was present at all meetings and meeting papers continue to be published on the Trust’s
website via www.candi.nhs.uk.
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Terms of office and meeting
attendance
Governors’ current terms of office and their attendance at the four
general meetings of the Council of Governors held during 2021/22
are reported below:
Name

Elected/ Appointed

Term

Council Meeting
Attendance

Public Constituency – Camden
Dr Zaheer Afridi 1

Elected

2021-2024

0/2

Ms Samantha Gordon 1

Elected

2021-2024

2/2

Ms Michelle Murray

Elected

2021-2024

5/5

Mr Nicholas Russell 1

Elected

2021-2024

2/2

Ms Maaria Siddiqi*

Elected

2019-2022

4/5

Elected

2018-2021

3/3

Elected

2021-2024

2/2

Elected

2019-2022

2/2

Ms Olga Cecilia Farach 5

Elected

2021-2024

5/5

Ms Valerie Graham-Dunkley

Elected

2021-2024

4/5

Ms Ellen Nokomo 2

Elected

2018-2021

0/5

Ms Jacqueline Noone 1

Elected

2021-2024

2/2

Ms Wendy Savage 2

Elected

2018-2021

3/3

2019-2022

4/5

2021-2024

5/5

Public Constituency – Islington
Mr David Barry 1

2

Ms Frances Bradley 1
Mr Rob Drummond 2

4

9

7

Public Constituency – Rest of London
Ms Adeola Akande

Elected

Service User and Carer Constituency
Ms Hagir Ahmed 6

Elected
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Mr Eric Crossfield 3

Elected

2019-2022

3/3

Ms Bamidele Esuola 1

Elected

2021-2024

0/2

Mr Peter Lyons 1

Elected

2021-2024

2/2

Ms Annika Pauts 3

Elected

1019-2022

3/3

Mr Paul Ware 2

Elected

2018-2021

0/3

Mr Yoav Zohar 10

Elected

2021-2024
(2018-2021)

3/5

Mr Mitchelle Basorun-Smith 1

Elected

2021-2024

0/2

Ms Iris Dearne 3

Elected

2018-2021

1/1

Dr Stephen Ginn

Elected

2019-2022

4/5

Mr Simon Ramage

Elected

2021-2024

5/5

Ms Naomi Williams

Elected

2019-2022

5 /5

Cllr Nasim Ali

London Borough of
Camden

2018-2021

4/5

Ms Maureen Brewster

Voluntary Action
Camden

2020-2023

3/5

Professor Claudia Cooper

UCL Medical School

2018-2021

3/5

Cllr Sheila Chapman

London Borough of
Islington

2020-2023

4/5

Ms Katy Porter

Voluntary Action
Islington

2019-2022

0/5

8

Staff Constituency

Appointed Governors

Notes:
1 Newly elected Governor at 2021’s Annual Members’ Meeting.
2 Ended term at 2021’s Annual Members Meeting.
3 Left during year 2021/22
4 Interim Lead Governor from October 2021, Deputy Lead Governor May – October 2021.
5 Deputy Lead Governor from May 2021.
6 Deputy Lead Governor until May 2021.
7 Lead Governor until May 2021.
8 Lead Governor May – October 2021.
9 On an agreed leave of absence during 2021.
10 Governor returned for new term being next in line when elected individual withdrew from seat.
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All meetings were chaired by Ms Jackie Smith, Trust Chair and attended by the Senior Independent
Director, Ms Anu Singh.

Committees of the Council of
Governors
The Council of Governors has continued to operate with two standing
committees, which are a joint Nominations and Remuneration Committee,
and a Steering Committee. Both committees hold their meetings in private,
and the committee Chair provides an summary report at the next Council of
Governors’ meeting.

Council of Governors’ Nominations
and Remuneration Committee
The membership and meeting attendance of the Nominations and
Remuneration Committee is detailed below:

Membership and meeting attendance
Members

Role

Meetings attended

Ms Adeola Akande

Public Governor, Rest of
London (Committee Co-Chair)

6/6

Mr Simon Ramage

Staff Governor (Committee
Co-Chair)

6/6

Ms Jackie Smith

Trust Chair

6/6

Ms Anu Singh

Senior Independent Director

6/6

Mr Eric Crossfield**

Lead Governor

5/5

Mr Rob Drummond

Interim Lead Governor

1/1

Ms Naomi Williams

Staff Governor

6/6

Ms Iris Dearne**

Staff Governor

1/1
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Mr David Barry*

Public Governor Islington

5/5

Prof Wendy Savage*

Public Governor Islington

2/2

* end of term of office during the year
** resigned in year
The Trust Company Secretary attended all meetings of this committee and provided secretariat
support.

Work of the Council of Governors’ Nominations and Remuneration
Committee in 2021/22
The Nominations and Remuneration Committee had another very busy year dealing with several items
of nominations and remuneration business but mainly with NED succession planning and recruitment.
To avoid any potential conflicts of interest, attendance and temporary changes to membership were
managed effectively on the advice of the Trust Company Secretary. The Trust Chair stepped away from
meetings where her appraisal report was discussed by the Committee.
In particular, the committee dealt with the following items on behalf of the Council of Governors:
• Succession planning for two Non-Executive Director posts
• Recruitment to one Non-Executive Director vacancy
• Review of Non-Executive Director and Chair remuneration
• Consideration of the Chair’s appraisal process, timeline and objectives
• Appointment of one additional Non-Executive Director as a member of the Audit and Risk
Committee.
In line with its normal duties, the Council of Governors’ Nominations and Remuneration Committee
is also responsible for overseeing the procedure for the removal of Non-Executive Directors. This
procedure is set out in the Trust’s constitution. No proceedings required to be invoked.

Council of Governors’ Steering
Committee
Committee membership
The Governors’ Steering Committee membership consists of the Lead Governor who chairs the
Committee, two Deputy Lead Governors, four further Governors representing all constituencies
duly elected by the Council of Governors, the Trust Chair, Senior Independent Director and the
Chief Executive Officer. The Trust Company Secretary normally attends all meetings of the Steering
Committee.
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Committee members and their attendance
The Committee held five meetings in 2021/22. Membership and attendance by Committee members
is detailed below.

Council of Governors’ Steering Committee
Members

Role

Meetings attended

Prof Wendy Savage*

Public Governor, Islington (Lead
Governor from May 2019)
(Committee Chair until May 2021)

1/1

Mr Eric Crossfield*

Lead Governor (Committee Chair
May - October 2021)

2/2

Mr Rob Drummond

Interim Lead Governor (Committee
Chair from October 2021 onwards)

2/2

Ms Hagir Ahmed

Service User Governor (Deputy Lead
Governor till May 2021)

2/4

Ms Olga Cecilia Farach

Public Governor, Islington (Deputy
Lead Governor from May 2021)

4/4

Ms Maureen Brewster

Appointed Governor, Voluntary
Action Camden

3/3

Cllr Sheila Chapman

Appointed Governor, London
Borough of Islington

1/1

Dr Stephen Ginn

Staff Governor

3/4

Mr Paul Ware*

Service User Governor

1/1

Ms Jackie Smith

Trust Chair (Committee Vice Chair)

4/4

Ms Anu Singh

Senior Independent Director

4/4

Ms Angela McNab

Chief Executive Officer

2/2

Ms Jinjer Kandola MBE

Chief Executive Officer

2/2

* Governor stood down in-year or reached end of term of office
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Work of the committee in 2021/22:
• The Council of Governors’ Steering Committee met on four occasions to oversee the
scheduling, agenda planning and general arrangements for the Council of Governors’
meetings. At every meeting committee members reviewed the effectiveness and conduct
of the most recent Council meeting and identified areas of learning and improvement.
The committee is also a place where Governors can formally raise concerns with the Trust
Chair and Chief Executive Officer and discuss any areas requiring attention or improvement.
The committee meets approximately six weeks in advance of each general meeting of the
Council.

Governors’ conflict of interest and
register of interests
Governors are required to register with the Trust any details of company
directorships or other material interests held by Governors including those
where those companies or related parties are likely to do business, or are
possibly seeking to do business, with the Trust. All declarations continue
to be reviewed at least annually in line with other annual checks and
declarations. The register of interests is reviewed at every Council meeting
as a standing agenda item.
The Register of Interests for Governors can be viewed via the Trust’s website using this link:
www.candi.nhs.uk.

The Disclosures set out in the
NHS Foundation Trust Code of
Governance
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust continues to promote good
corporate governance and has applied the principles of the NHS Foundation
Trust Code of Governance on a ‘Comply or Explain’ basis. The NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance, most recently revised in July 2014,
is based on the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code issued in
2012.
This code, published by NHS Improvement, brings together best practice from the private and public
sectors. It provides an overarching framework for corporate governance and complements the
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statutory and regulatory obligations placed on foundation trusts. The Trust considers that it has applied
the principles of the Code and continues to strive to embed established best practice in order to meet
its obligations under the Foundation Trust Provider Licence.

Our Board of Directors
During the accounting year 2021/22 the Board welcomed two new NonExecutive Directors, Mr Charles Waddicor and Ms Catherine Jervis, who
was appointed solely as an independent member of the Audit and Risk
Committee. Mr Waddicor commenced his two-year term of office on 1
October 2021 and Ms Jervis commenced her term on joined the Board as a
Non-Executive Director on 1 June 2021.
The Trust’s Chief Executive Officer, Ms Angela McNab, left the Trust on a secondment at the end of
September 2021. Ms Jinjer Kandola MBE, CEO of Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental Health NHS
Trust (BEH) was appointed as joint CEO to the Trust. Ms Kandola took up her post on 1 October 2021.
There were a number of other changes to the Board’s composition during the year:
• The interim Chief Nurse, Ms Michelle Johnson, returned to her substantive role at
Whittington Health on 31 December 2021 and was replaced by Ms Amanda Pithouse, the
Chief Nurse of BEH who took up her post on a part-time basis on 1 January 2022
• Mr Nigel Kee, the Interim Chief Operating Officer left the Trust on 31 March 2022
• Mr Peter Mitchell, the Interim Director of HR and OD left the Trust on 31 March 2022
Throughout the year the Board has maintained its strong leadership position, flexibly adapting to
changing demands and challenges arising from the continued pandemic.
Throughout 2021/22 the Board has continued to develop its partnership with Barnet, Enfield and
Haringey Mental Health NHS Trust. As part of this, a provider mental health services review was carried
out by the two Trusts across North Central London which concluded in the summer of 2021. Following
this, the two Trusts have developed a programme of shared, priority workstreams that will be delivered
jointly under the Partnership. Both Boards approved these priorities at their meetings in March 2022.
At the end of the reporting year, plans were underway for the establishment of a single leadership
team in line with the Partnership across the two Trusts.
The Board continued its programme of Board seminars and development activities throughout the year
and this included a first joint workshop with BEH on 28 February 2022.
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Board meetings
During 2021-22, due to the COVID-19 pandemic and in line with
government advice, the Board continued to hold its meetings virtually. The
Board met seven times and all meetings were open to the public, Board
papers for these meetings continued to be published on the Trust’s website,
accessible via this link: https://www.candi.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/
board-papers-and-minutes.
When discussing issues of a confidential nature, the Board resolved to meet in private after every
public meeting.
The Board agendas are agreed by the Trust Chair and Chief Executive Officer. They include regular
service user stories, presentations from the staff networks, feedback from service visits, and a range
of reports on quality, performance, strategic and operational matters presented by the Executive
Directors, as well as routine reports from the chairs of the Board’s committees and the Trust’s
Charitable Fund.
A key focus of the Board during the reporting year continued to be the pandemic and leading the
Trust successfully through the pressures resulting from it while maintaining oversight of all other
business including the delivery of the Trust’s clinical strategy and ambitious estates redevelopment
programme. The Board also concentrated on the development of the Trust’s partnership with Barnet,
Enfield and Haringey Mental Health NHS Trust. In line with this, the two Trusts carried out a provider
mental health review across North Central London. The Board established a designated committee to
provide robust oversight and assurance of this review throughout the year.
Although the pandemic continued to place pressure on the Trust throughout the year, all Board,
committee and governance activities returned mostly to pre-pandemic level with only minor
adjustments. Meetings were held in line with the normal cycle of business although they continued to
be held virtually.
Throughout the year, the Board continued to receive a range of annual and regular reports on the
business of the Trust from the Executive Directors, including strategic and service updates and details
on the use of the Trust Seal. The review of the Integrated Performance Report remained a standing
agenda item at every Board meeting along with summary reports provided by each of the Committee
Chairs on key business carried out by all Board committees.
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Board members and their attendance at meetings held in public
Members

Meetings
attended:

Ms Jackie Smith, Trust Chair

7/7

Ms Angela McNab, Chief Executive Officer (until September 2021)

4/4

Ms Jinjer Kandola MBE, Chief Executive Officer (from October 2021)

2/3

Ms Pippa Aitken, Deputy Trust Chair and Chair of Strategic
Development Committee

6/7

Mr Dalwardin Babu, Non-Executive Director and Chair of People &
Culture Committee

6/7

Mr Jeffrey Boateng, Executive Director of Digital Services and
Informatics (non-voting Board member)

6/7

Mr Nigel Kee, Interim Chief Operating Officer (non-voting Board
member)

7/7

Dr Vincent Kirchner, Medical Director

6/7

Mr Mark McLaughlin, Non-Executive Director and Chair of Audit and
Risk Committee

6/7

Ms Marcelle Moncrieffe, Non-Executive Director

7/7

Ms Michelle Johnson, Interim Chief Nurse (until December 2021)

4/5

Ms Amanda Pithouse, Interim Chief Nurse (from January 2021)

1/2

Mr Peter Mitchell, Director of Human Resources and Organisational
Development (non-voting Board member)

6/7

Ms Anu Singh, Senior Independent Director and Chair of Quality &
Safety Committee

7/7

Mr Darren Summers, Deputy Chief Executive Officer / Director of
Strategy and Business Development

6/7

Mr Charles Waddicor, Non-Executive Director (from October 2021)

3/3

Mr David Wragg, Director of Finance

7/7
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In line with Ms Jervis’ appointment as a Non-Executive Director member of the Audit and Risk
Committee she is not required to attend meetings of the Board but she has an open invitation to
attend any meeting to enable her to raise any issues of concern. This was not required during the
reporting year.
Mr Malcolm McFrederick, St Pancras Development programme Director, and Mr Christian Oribio, Trust
Company Secretary, attended all Board meetings throughout the year.

Board biographies
Meet our Board
Jackie Smith, Trust Chair
Jackie is Chair of C&I and also of neighbouring mental health
trust, Barnet, Enfield and Haringey (BEH). The two trusts are
carrying out a joint review to see how they can improve, still
further, the mental health care they provide. Jackie is the Chair
of the review and Jinjer Kandola MBE, CEO at C&I is the chief
executive lead.
Jackie has over 30 years of experience in regulation and law
and has been in public service all her working life. She spent
12 years in the Crown Prosecution Service in the late 80s and
90s, following which she took up a post at the General Medical
Council regulating doctors. She moved from there to the Nursing
and Midwifery Council in August 2010 as the Director of Fitness
to Practise.
In June 2012, Jackie became the Chief Executive of the Nursing
and Midwifery Council, leading the organisation for more than
six very successful years. Jackie left the NMC at the end of July
2018 and took up a role as Non-exec Director in December
2018 before starting her role as Chair in February 2020. Jackie
enjoys long-distance running and supporting numerous charities,
including the Samaritans.
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Jinjer Kandola MBE,
Chief Executive Officer
On Friday, 1 October 2021, Jinjer officially started in post as the
new CEO at C&I. Jinjer brings with her a wealth of knowledge, with
senior level experience across both mental and physical healthcare.
Jinjer joins us from BEH and is now the single CEO for both trusts
as well as the ICS Mental Health Lead for North Central London.
Her appointment will support the extensive work that is currently
underway as part of the Joint Mental Health Provider Review, the aim
of which is to review how we, as key providers, can work more closely
together to maximise capacity and impact and further improve the
mental health care we provide.
Previous to her role at BEH, Jinjer worked at Hertfordshire Partnership
University NHS Foundation Trust where she was the Deputy CEO and
Executive Director of Workforce and Organisational Development.
Jinjer was the lead for the Trust’s cultural change programme which
embedded the Trust’s vision and values, as well as an ethos of
continuous improvement.
Jinjer believes passionately in collective leadership and is focused
on improving the quality and safety of care for our service users
by empowering staff to focus on consistently delivering the best
outcomes for our service users and their families.
Jinjer has a background in human resources and organisational
development and in 2015 was awarded the prestigious title of
the Human Resources Director of the Year. In 2019, under Jinjer’s
leadership BEH was rated overall ‘Good’ for the first time in the
history of the organisation. More recently, she was awarded an MBE
for her services to mental health in the New Year’s Honours List 2021.
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Jeff Boateng, Director of Digital
Services and Informatics
Jeff has over 15 years’ experience in Organisational Performance
Management and Improvement.
Prior to joining C&I, he was Deputy Director of Delivery and
Performance at NHS North West London Collaboration of Clinical
Commissioning Groups (covering Brent, Central London, Ealing,
Hammersmith & Fulham, Harrow, Hillingdon, Hounslow & West
London). Jeff has also held senior roles in Cafcass (Children and Family
Court Advisory and Support Service), Wandsworth Council, and a
number of other NHS commissioning and acute organisations.
Jeff’s particular areas of expertise and interest are performance
improvement methodologies and reporting, data warehousing and
visualisation, system working and population health analytics.
Jeff is a keen collaborator and is motivated to improve health and
care services for the local population. Jeff is eager to ensure that by
empowering patients, carers and staff digital technologies and data
play a significant role in the way care is delivered.

Dr Vincent Kirchner, Medical Director
Dr Vincent Kirchner has been the Medical Director for C&I since 1 April
2015. He has worked in mental health services for 30 years. He said:
“In my career I have had the privilege of working with many, many
brave people who battle mental illness on a daily basis. Mental illness
has touched my life personally through my parents who both have
serious mental illnesses”.
He studied medicine in South Africa. He started his specialist
psychiatric training in 1992 and has worked in mental health since. He
emigrated to the UK in 1996 and completed his psychiatric training in
East London. He joined C&I as a consultant in 2000. His various roles
have included lead consultant, associate medical director and deputy
medical director. He is a graduate of the NHS Leadership Academy’s
Nye Bevan programme.
He is responsible for the professional aspects of the medical and
psychology workforce. He is responsible for the clinical strategy of C&I
and is committed to C&I delivering high quality services that result
in good patient experience, good clinical outcomes and ensure the
delivery of the safest care possible.
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Peter Mitchell, Interim Director of HR and OD
Peter Mitchell joined the Trust in January 2021 as Interim Director of
HR and OD. He is a Chartered Fellow of the Institute of Personnel
and Development (FCIPD) and has extensive experience of Human
Resources Management, mostly gained within the UK Higher
Education Sector, working at HR Director and Head of HR level.
Amongst his previous roles, he has gained significant experience
of working with healthcare professionals at the London School
of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, which is a public health research
institution, at the University of Derby and at Kingston University, both
of which institutions have healthcare faculties, with KU having joint
faculty with St Georges.
Particular interests for Peter include transformational change, staff
engagement and HR service delivery improvement.

Amanda Pithouse, Chief Nurse
Amanda qualified as a mental health nurse in 1993 and spent much of
her early clinical career in adult acute mental health in both inpatient
and community services. She has held a number of nursing leadership
positions within South London and Maudsley NHS Trust and has led a
number of organisational wide improvement programmes.
She has an extensive academic background, completing the
prestigious Florence Nightingale Foundation Leadership Scholarship,
and an MSc in Leadership and Healthcare Improvement at London
Southbank University, and is also a trained Improvement Advisor from
the Institute for Healthcare Improvement.
She joined Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental Health NHS Trust as
Chief Nurse in 2018 and helped lead BEH from Requires Improvement
to Good at their 2019 and 2021 CQC inspection. Amanda has also
recently been appointed as the substantive Joint Chief Nurse across
both BEH and Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust, to support
the growing partnership between the two organisations.
Furthermore, she has also been appointed as the Nurse representative
on the NHS Confederation Mental Health Network Board. Amanda
is a strong advocate of Quality Improvement and has used this to
measurably drive-up quality of care. After starting her own career as a
Healthcare Assistant, Amanda strongly supports a career development
programme for every member of staff to enable them to reach their
full potential across both Trusts.
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Christian Oribio, Trust Company Secretary
Christian joined C&I as Trust Company Secretary in April 2018. He
is passionate about good governance and actively promotes sound
stewardship and the Nolan Principles, which set out the ethical
standards expected by public office holders.
He is a graduate Company Secretary and member of the Chartered
Governance Institute and has over 15 years of governance and
business management experience in the NHS.
After working at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
and NHS London, he joined Health Education England as Board
Secretary and became the governance lead for the London and South
East region. He previously worked internationally in the private sector
and still practises as an Executive Coach, and Myers-Briggs and 360
Feedback Facilitator.

Nigel Kee, Interim Chief Operating Officer
Nigel joined us from Portsmouth Hospitals University NHS Trust where
he was the interim Chief Operating Officer.
Born in New Zealand, Nigel trained as a registered mental health nurse
and then as a registered general nurse. His clinical background in
predominately in acute adult nursing and cardiology. He held several
positions in New Zealand including ward manager, nursing supervisor,
regional Chief Nurse, and Health Commissioner (South Island). He was
national President of the New Zealand Nurses Organisation and Chair
of the Nursing Education and Research Foundation. He was also a
member of the Commonwealth Health Ministers’ Steering Group on
Nursing and Midwifery.
Since 2000, he has worked for the NHS at both Chief Nurse and Chief
Operating Officer level.
He is an experienced senior health manager / leader with over 16
years Board-level experience and is committed to improving health
outcomes through development and engagement of the workforce,
service re-design, effective healthcare planning, and excellent
governance.
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Darren Summers, Deputy Chief Executive
Darren started his career working in homeless services including rough
sleeper and young people’s hostels, a mental health street outreach
team and managing a hostel for asylum seekers.
He spent ten years commissioning mental health and social care
services, initially in Tower Hamlets and then also in Hackney and
Newham.
Darren joined the Trust from Family Mosaic Housing Association,
where he was Director of Growth and Transformation in the care and
support division.

David Wragg, Director of Finance
David Wragg joined C&I in October 2012 and has responsibility
for estates and facilities management, and information and
communications technology (ICT), as well as the Trust’s finances.
Prior to joining Camden and Islington, he gained 13 years of Board
level experience as Finance Director in two other London Trusts. He
has also worked in management consultancy and external audit, but
always with NHS and other health bodies. David has contributed to
expert NHS committees and has been a Director in an NHS owned
joint venture company.
He is a professionally qualified accountant, a member of the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy and is a former resident of
both the boroughs of Camden and Islington.
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Pippa Aitken, Deputy Trust Chair
Pippa Aitken, Deputy Trust Chair Pippa Aitken was appointed for a 3rd
term of office from 1 May 2021 because of her involvement in the St
Pancras Transformation Project.
Born and educated in Australia, she moved to the UK in 1979,
beginning her planning career in Camden Council where she progressed
to running a Development Control team covering the part of the
borough that includes St Pancras Hospital. She then spent over 30 years
as a planning consultant in three global property advisory firms, most
recently as Head of the Consulting Division at Colliers International.
Professionally, she has a longstanding interest in public and private
partnership working, reflected in her involvement in some very large
development projects for clients.
In 2015, she joined the Board of Family Mosaic housing association,
having served on its Finance and Development Committee since 2010,
and in 2017, upon the merger of FM and Peabody, another housing
association, she joined the Board of Peabody.
Pippa is also a Governor at Villiers High School in Southall, reflecting her
keen interest in young people and diversity. She lives in Haringey and
previously lived in Islington. She also sits on Peabody’s Development and
Thamesmead Committees.
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Dalwardin (Dal) Babu, Non-Executive Director
Dalwardin served for over 30 years in the Metropolitan Police and is
the former borough commander of Harrow. He was the first chair of
the National Association of Muslim Police which worked with home
secretaries, chief constables and community leaders.
In 2010 he was elected to the National Police Superintendent
Association of England and Wales. He has extensive board level
experience in policing, community safety, child and adult safeguarding.
In 2010 he was awarded an OBE for services to the police and
communities. Other awards include: the London High Sheriff Award
for work with young people (2011), and the London Peace Award for
community engagement (2011).
Dalwardin is a director of a School Academy and a trustee for Médecins
Sans Frontières , House of Illustration, Artichoke and Comedy School.
He volunteers for a number of charities in London and enjoys football,
cycling, hiking as well as cricket with his daughters in his spare time.

Mark McLaughlin, Non-Executive Director
Mark is a qualified accountant with over 20 years of experience as
the Chief Finance Officer of public sector organisations including a
district council, a county council and two London boroughs. From
2007, he worked in Central Government: for the Home Office and the
Environment Agency and from 2015 to 2017 was the first Chief Finance
Officer at the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.
Mark has a science degree from the University of St Andrews and a PhD
from the University of Nottingham. He has lived in London since 1987,
moving there to take up a research position at the Institute of Neurology
in Bloomsbury.
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Anu Singh, Senior Independent Director
Anu joined the Trust Board as a Non-Executive Director, taking on the
role of Senior Independent Director (SID) on 14 September 2020. Anu
is a Board level local government and health leader. She has been a
statutory Director of Adult Social Care and has been Vice Chair of
neighbouring Whittington Health NHS Trust for 6 years, including a term
as interim Chair.
Anu is passionate about person centred care and community
empowerment and has led on new relationships with communities for
the National NHS, County Councils and City & Metropolitan Councils.
Anu was Director of Patient & Public Participation and Insight for NHS
England; and took the lead for the NHS in ensuring that the voice of
patients, service users, carers and the public is at the heart of the way
NHS works. She was also responsible for Equalities, Health Inequalities,
Person Centred Care, and the national relationship with the Voluntary
and Community Sector.
Anu lives in Camden.

Dr Marcelle Moncrieffe,
Non-Executive Director
Marcelle formally joined the Trust Board as a Non-Executive Director on
18 January 2021.
Marcelle has 20 years HR experience with significant remits for cultural
change and transformation in the UK and internationally. Marcelle is
currently Group Chief People Officer at London South Bank University
responsible for the People Culture and Inclusion Strategy, HR Business
Partnering across EMEA, Workforce Transformation, Equality and
Diversity and Group integration. Prior to her current role, Marcelle held
a number of senior HR roles in Local Government and was Head of
Human Resources at the BBC overseeing cultural change. Marcelle is
currently on the Wellness Advisory Group of the British Academy of
Management and is a fellow of the CIPD.
Marcelle holds a bachelor’s degree in Law, a master’s degree in Human
Resource Management and a doctorate in Workplace Culture and the
impact on career progression of Black employees.
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Claud Williams,
Associate Non-Executive Director
Claud is an entrepreneur with a background in communication,
technology and social impact. He has 12 years of enterprise experience,
including serving as an advisor at both Birkbeck and Loughborough
universities and consulting for businesses, particularly within the tech
start-up industry.
Born and raised in London, Claud has a passion for seeing people live
full and fulfilling lives. His mission is to help people reach their full
potential, which he does through executive coaching, public speaking
and his personal development start-up. He is also an established public
speaker, speaking at various organisations across the UK and the world
including TEDx, Cambridge University and Barclays Bank.
Claud champions several causes including mental health, diversity and
neurodiversity. He currently serves as an ambassador for the British
Dyslexia Association.

Dani Saadu, Associate Non-Executive Director
Dani is a senior, global talent, people development professional with a
proven track record in developing global people development strategy,
designing and implementing global development programmes and
interventions.
He is a certified Scrum Master and Lean Six Sigma specialist with a
strong focus on ensuring that people development concepts and
theories are translated into practical and sustainable programmes that
deliver a measurable return on investment. He is particularly effective
at maximising and managing global budgets to ensure successful
implementation of people development interventions and sustained
programmes.
He has 13 years’ experience in the people and culture sector across
pharmaceuticals, retail and now travel. In January 2017, he joined
a global travel benefits and loyalty company as part of their global
senior leadership team and he has been integral to driving their
people development-talent management strategy and supporting the
organisational development agenda.
Dani has lived in north London for more than 40 years, is a massive
football fan and committed to supporting local London NHS trusts with
his expertise.
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Charles Waddicor, Non-Executive Director
Charles joined C&I’s Board as a Non-Executive Director on 1 October
2021. This role is in addition to his Non-Executive Directorship at Barnet,
Enfield and Haringey Mental Health NHS Trust where he chairs the
Finance and Investment, Charitable Funds and Provider Collaborative
Commissioning Committees, alongside serving as a member on the
Remuneration and Audit Committees.
Charles lives in Haringey and brings with him a wealth of experience.
He has been Independent Chair of the STP in Herefordshire and
Worcestershire and, since retiring as PCT Chief Executive for NHS
Berkshire in 2013, he has worked for the Care Quality Commission as
a National Professional Advisor and as a director for OPTUM. He also
chairs the Mental Health Employment Projects Board and is a member
of CHKS Advisory Board. x

Board of Directors’ Committees
The Board of Directors reviewed its committee structure to ensure the
Board can respond effectively and in an agile way to any changing demands
and circumstances and to ensure that governance systems remained fit
for purpose especially in view of the ongoing pressures resulting from the
COVID-19 pandemic. As a result of this review the following changes to the
committee structure were implemented during 2021-22, namely,
1. A new Mental Health Review Oversight Committee was established as a joint committee
with the Board of Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental Health NHS Trust to provide scrutiny
and assurance on the provider mental health review carried out by the two Trusts; this
committee was launched in May 2021.
2. The Resources Committee was suspended from 1 June 2021 until further notice. Areas of
business overseen by this committee were reassigned to other committees while the Board
reserved financial scrutiny and oversight for itself.
3. In January 2022 the Board approved a change to the terms of reference of the joint Mental
Health Review Oversight Committee to become a Partnership Development Committee;
in line with the change in remit, a number of executive directors were invited to become
members of the committee.
4. The Charitable Fund Advisory Group, although not a committee of the Board, was aligned
with the committee structure to enable the Board more direct oversight and scrutiny of the
Trust’s charitable funds and associated activities
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Throughout the year, the Board retained the combined Nominations and Remuneration committee
following the successful trial of this arrangement during 2020-21.
Terms of reference for each committee are published on the Trust website as part of the Board
Committee Handbook accessible via the Trust website: www.candi.nhs.uk.The standing committees of
the Board are each chaired by a Non-Executive Director and the Board committee structure is illustrated
below:
Board of
Directors

Audit & Risk
Committee

Resources
Committee*

Quality &
Safety Committee

People & Culture
Committee

Strategic
Development
Committee

Partnership
Development
Committee**

Charitable Fund
Advisory Group

Combined
Nominations and
Remuneration
Committee

* committee suspended from June 2021 until further notice
** new committee established in May 2021 in line with the Trust’s Partnership with BEH
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Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee comprises three Non-Executive Directors,
including an independent Non-Executive Chair. Senior officers of the Trust
who regularly attend the Audit and Risk Committee include the Director of
Finance, Director of Digital Services and Informatics, Risk and Patient Safety
Manager, Deputy Director of Finance and the Trust Company Secretary.
Representatives from the Trust’s external and internal auditors, along with
counter-fraud specialist team, also normally attend meetings.

Committee members and their attendance
The Audit and Risk Committee met five times in 2021/22. Attendance was as follows:

Members:

Meetings attended:

Mark McLaughlin, Non-Executive Director (Committee Chair)

5/5

Pippa Aitken, Deputy Trust Chair

4/5

Catherine Jervis, Non-Executive Director (from June 2021)

3/4

Role and duties
The committee’s role and responsibilities are laid out in detail in the committee’s terms of reference
which can be found in the Board Committee Handbook on the Trust’s website. General remit of the
committee includes:
• Seeking assurance that financial reporting, risk management and internal control principles
are applied
• Maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Trust’s auditors, both internal and external
as well as local counter-fraud services
• Offering advice and assurance to the Board about the reliability and robustness of the
process of internal control including scrutiny of the Trust’s governance arrangements in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic
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Work of the committee in 2021/22:
O The committee maintained close oversight and scrutiny of the Board Assurance
Framework and Trust Risk Register throughout the year, with a particular focus
on any risks resulting from the pandemic and the significant transformation
programmes the Trust continued to deliver throughout the reporting year.
O The Committee undertook its annual duty of reviewing the Trust’s annual
submissions (Annual Accounts, Annual Report, etc.) during its June 2021 meeting
and recommended their approval to the Board in line with required submission
deadlines. The Committee was pleased to note that internal audit’s Head of
Internal Audit Opinion had reported that ’significant assurance with minor
improvement’ could be given on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the
organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and control. The
Trust’s external auditors again provided an unqualified opinion on the Trust’s
Annual Accounts for 2020/21.
O The Committee received, and kept oversight of, a wide range of internal audit and
counter fraud reports submitted by the Trust’s retained external providers.
O The committee considered reports from the Director of Digital Services and
Informatics particularly focusing on increasing risks to cyber security especially
in the latter part of the reporting period. In line with this, the Director of Digital
Services and Informatics became a regular attendee at committee meetings during
the year.

Board of Directors’ Combined
Nominations and Remuneration
Committee
The Board is sufficiently assured that the combined committee complies
with all relevant governance principles and requirements under the NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance.
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Meeting attendance
The combined committee met on six occasions in 2020/21. Attendance was as follows:

Members:

Meetings attended:

Jackie Smith (Committee Chair)

6/6

Pippa Aitken

5/6

Dalwardin Babu

5/6

Anu Singh

5/6

Mark McLaughlin

6/6

Marcelle Moncrieffe

5/6

Charles Waddicor

1/3

Angela McNab

0/0

Jinjer Kandola MBE

3/3

As meetings in early part of 2021 dealt with the succession planning of the CEO, Ms NcNab was not
invited to attend those meetings to avoid a conflict of interest.

Role and duties
The combined committee’s role and responsibilities are laid out in detail in the committees’ terms of
reference which can be found in the Board Committee Handbook on the Trust’s website. General remit
of the combined committee includes:
• The identification and appointment of suitable candidates for Executive Director positions on
the Board
• Assuring that those identified for nomination have been sourced in an open and fair
manner and appointments are in line with the current requirements of the Trust taking into
consideration appropriate succession planning
• To advise the Board on appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Executive
Officer (CEO), Executive Directors and other members of the executive management team as
the Board may determine

Work of the committee in 2021/22
At its meetings the Committee conducted the following key items of business:
• The establishment of a joint CEO role under the Trust’s Partnership with BEH and approval of
various arrangements surrounding the outgoing and incoming CEO
• Approval of an increase to CEO remuneration
• Approval of two new Director roles
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• Approval of establishment of a single leadership team in line with the Partnership, including
the approval of the leadership team structure and appointments to each individual post
• Scrutiny of interim arrangements surrounding the Chief Operating Officer and Director of HR
and OD
• Approval of the interim, part-time appointment of the Chief Nurse
• Approval of two joint interim appointments for a Chief People Officer and a Director of
Strategy and Partnerships on a fixed term contract basis.
Towards the end of the reporting period, the committee considered succession plans for the Associate
Non-Executive Director roles whose terms of office would end in April 2022.

Board Evaluation and Effectiveness
Early in 2022 committees commenced a review of their effectiveness and
a number of self-assessments were conducted with committee chairs and
executive leads. This work continues at the time of writing this report.
In line with the developing Partnership with BEH, the annual review of committee terms of reference
was deferred to later in 2022 to take account of the emerging governance arrangements surrounding
the Partnership.
In July 2021 the Board commissioned Deloitte LLP to undertake a review of the Trust’s leadership
and governance arrangements using NHS Improvement’s Well-led Framework. The findings from
this review show a number of strengths and areas of good practice and the report also presented a
number of recommendations for further development and improvement. An action plan to address
these recommendations is underway and planned to be completed by the end of the next reporting
period.
Throughout 2021-22 the Trust Chair and CEO continued to appraise the performance of the NonExecutive and Executive Directors respectively. This includes targeted feedback from other Board
members. A Board development and coaching programme is planned for the summer of 2022.

Better payment practice code
The Trust aims to pay all invoices within 30 days, in line with the better
practice payment code, and during 2021/22, made weekly payment runs
to pay all invoices that were due for settlement. No payments were delayed
due to a lack of liquidity.
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Interest payment
The Trust was liable for no charges as a result of the late payment of
invoices in 2021/22 (£4k charges were liable in 2020/21).

Guidance and oversight in relation
to mental health law
The Mental Health Law Committee has oversight and scrutiny of all issues
relating to Mental Health Law relevant to the services and duties delivered
by the Trust and its local authority partners.
This is to help improve risk management and service user experience and provide assurance to the Board,
Governors and Trust partners, on the appropriate and effective administration and application of Mental
Health Law in practice and adherence to best practice guidance throughout the trust.
The committee comprises legal expertise, Associate Hospital Managers as well as representatives for
services users, carers, Operations as well as the Nursing and Medical directorates.
It has continued to deliver its business continuity plan to limit the impact of the pandemic on the
operation of the Mental Health Act (MHA) and the provision of the MHA Admin service. Second Opinion
Appointed Doctors’ visits, Associate Hospital Managers reviews and Tribunal hearings have remained
remote, although CQC MHA Monitoring and Independent Mental Health Advocacy (IMHA) visits have
been “in person” again (since July 2021). Following the introduction of the Mental Health Regulations
2020 (which now allow the electronic furnishing of statutory documents under the MHA), C&I started
running, together with the Metropolitan Police, a pilot on “digitising Section 136”. It is also actively
involved in the delivery of a pan-London project on digitising the rest of the MHA.
It has promoted how the Trust implements all aspects of Mental Health Law, which is a core training
topic. As a result, 80% of all clinical staff received training on the Mental Health Act and 70% on the
Mental Capacity Act.
It has also ensured that patients who are subject to the Mental Health Act and who are due to have a
review with the Associate Hospital Managers have that review within eight weeks in 92% of cases and
that there is Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic representation on the panel in 98% of cases.
It is also overseeing the implementation of the Use of Force Act 2018 (Seni’s Law), which came into
force in March 2022, and of the Mental Capacity Act 2019, which is due to introduce the new Liberty
Protection Safeguards in 2023.
In June 2021, C&I extended the terms of its MHA Administration Service Level Agreement (SLA) with
Whittington Health Trust and now scrutinises MHA statutory documents on its behalf, therefore helping
reduce the risk of patients’ rights being breached. C&I also successfully renewed existing MHA Admin
SLAs with University College London Hospitals Trust, the Royal Free Trust and Great Ormond Street Trust.
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Statement
Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system
of internal control that supports the achievement of the NHS Foundation
Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public
funds and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible
for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I
also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of
internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable
level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims
and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the
risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of Camden and Islington NHS Foundation
Trust, to evaluate and reduce the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
In its ongoing response to the pandemic situation surrounding COVID-19, the Trust continued its
emergency response plan and invoked the Bronze, Silver and Gold Command structure not throughout
but at critical points during the reporting year, according to national guidance and directives. In
line with this, only minor adjustments were made to our governance arrangements and systems of
internal control to ensure they remained fit for purpose in this context. Our Audit and Risk Committee
continued to play a key role in maintaining its oversight in relation to these adjustments and the
national guidance that was issued from time to time. The Committee maintained oversight of our
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governance arrangements and continued to seek assurance that they remained effective as the
pandemic situation changed throughout the year.
The system of internal control has been in place in Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust for the
year ending 31 March 2022 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts.
The Trust’s internal auditors completed their planned 2021/22 audit programme on schedule. They
were able to offer an overall opinion of ‘Significant assurance with minor improvements required’
2021/22, the Trust’s internal auditors completed eight audit activities during the reporting year and
provided the following assurances.
• Risk Management – partial assurance with improvements required
• HR Business Processes – partial assurance with improvements required
• Governance: Patient Safety – significant assurance with minor improvements
• Financial Controls – significant assurance with minor improvements
• Data Security and Protection Toolkit – at the time of writing, this report was being finalised
by the internal audit team and it will be presented to the Audit & Risk Committee in July
2022
• Access and Activity Data – significant assurance with minor improvements
• Discharge Planning – significant assurance with minor improvements
• Estates – at the time of writing, this report was being finalised by the internal audit team and
it will be presented to the Audit and Risk Committee in July 2022
Across all audit activities only one high priority recommendations was identified at the end of the
reporting year relating to:
• HR Business Processes and the temporary suspension of checks being carried out with the
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) due to pressures resulting from the pandemic. These
checks have been resumed and the Trust has again a robust process in place to achieve
compliance by the end of quarter two of 2022/23.
The Audit and Risk Committee continues to monitor progress against all recommendations and
receives update reports at every meeting.
The Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission. The
required change of notification relating to change to the Trust’s Director of Nursing and Quality was
duly notified to and confirmed by the CQC on 20 January 2022.
The Trust was last inspected by CQC in October 2019. The Trust has been rated ‘Good’ overall by the
CQC (report published January 2020). There is an annual internal self-assessment and compliance
process in place with continued monitoring the Quality & Safety Programme Board.
The Trust continues to test itself against NHS Improvement’s Well-led Framework to ensure that it
meets all relevant requirements and that it embeds the latest good practice standards. Since the CQC
inspection in 2019 the Trust Board commissioned Deloitte LLP to carry out an independent review of
its leadership and governance arrangements using the Key Lines of Enquiry of NHS Improvement’s
Well-Led Framework. This review which commenced in July 2021 and concluded with the presentation
of the final report in January 2022. Deloitte presented a summary of its findings to the Council of
Governors at its meeting on 7 December 2021. An Action Plan to address the recommendations from
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the review was agreed by the Board in March 2022 and is now being implemented. The delivery of this
plan is monitored by the Audit and Risk.

Capacity to handle risk
The Trust has in place a Risk Management Strategy that was approved by
the Board in March 2021 and is regularly reviewed by the Audit and Risk
Committee. The Risk Management Strategy defines the Trust’s approach to,
and appetite for, risk and risk management, describes the structures and
processes for managing risk and sets objectives against which progress can
be measured.
The Risk Management Strategy sets out formally the Trust’s risk appetite in relation to the following
five categories:
• Quality, Governance and Performance and Operational Risk
• Financial Risk
• Continuity of Services Risk (Regulation and Compliance)
• Business Risk
• Reputational Risk
These risk appetite statements form part of the overall risk management processes setting the
tolerance level to be considered when managing risks arising within each of the categories.
All staff have an introduction to risk and risk management as part of induction; this covers the practical
day-to-day responsibilities for all staff, such as incident reporting. A copy of the strategy is available on
the Trust intranet and website.
As Chief Executive Officer, I have overall responsibility for risk management across the Trust. I exercise
this responsibility through the Board’s review of the Trust risk register and Board Assurance Framework,
and the designation of Board members with specific accountability. As a key committee of the Board,
the Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for scrutinising the Trust risk register and Board Assurance
Framework (BAF), in order that the Board may place reliance on it. The membership of the Audit and
Risk Committee is limited to Non-Executive Directors, with Executive Directors (including the Director of
Finance) in attendance.
The Trust risk register and BAF are presented to the Audit and Risk Committee quarterly. These reports
include consideration of the Trust’s major operational risks. The BAF provides the Board with a clear
and comprehensive method for the effective and focused management of the strategic risks that
could affect the delivery of its principal objectives and strategic priorities. In addition to the quarterly
risk reports, the Audit and Risk Committee receives a deep-dive analysis into one specific risk at each
meeting.
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The major risks identified to delivery of the Trust’s priority objectives in 2021/22 were as follows:
• Managing patient flow and capacity
• Safety and delivering harm-free care
• Data quality and decision-making
• Community transformation and integrated care
• People – culture, equality, diversity and nclusion, and staff-wellbeing
• Financial balance and sustainability
• Impact of poor estate infrastructure on Trust services and operations
• Provider alliance and mental health system partnership
• ICT, digital infrastructure and operational cyber security
• Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
• Mental health review and partnership with BEH
• Benefit realisation from the St Pancras development programme
The Trust learns from good practice, through clinical supervision and reflective practice, individual
and peer reviews, performance management, various mechanisms to receive feedback from service
users and carers, continuing professional development, clinical audit and from serious incident and
complaint investigations. The quarterly risk deep-dive discussions held at Audit and Risk Committee
meetings are also a key element of the Trust’s learning from risks and embedding good practice across
the organisation. The Audit and Risk Committee also monitors the risk scrutiny activities of other
committees and the risk deep-dive analyses they undertake from time to time. This is regularly reported
to the Board via Committee Chairs’ Assurance Reports which are a standing agenda item at every
Board meeting.
Risk deep-dive provide an additional layer of assurance of the continued risk processes and they focus
on any particular areas of concern or progress. Risks for ‘deep-dive’ were selected by the committee
following review of the quarterly risk and BAF reports. The committee received presentations on the
following topics:
• Q2 21/22 – Management of violence and aggression
• Q3 21/22 – The impact of the new core teams on waiting times
• Q3 21/22 – Water safety
• Q4 21/22 – Recruitment and retention

The risk and control framework
The Board regularly reviews its committee structures and puts in place
a structure that enables the Board to spend a significant proportion of
its time on strategic decision-making but also ensures proper assurance
is obtained and that decisions across the organisation are based on the
correct information, and in accordance with the reserved and delegated
powers agreed by the Board. Particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic,
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the Board’s Audit and Risk Committee has kept tight oversight of the
effectiveness of all committees to ensure the Board continues to receive
the required assurances.
The Board annually reviews the effectiveness of the system of internal control. Committee Effectiveness
Reviews were undertaken through a series of self-assessments during the final quarter of the financial
year. The findings together with an action plan will be presented to the Board early in the next
reporting period.
The Board also receives a Risk Management Annual Report and it publishes a Board Committee
Handbook on the Trust’s website which is reviewed regularly. This handbook contains information
about all the standing committees of the Board, their terms of reference, relevant governance
provisions, membership and meeting dates for the year ahead.
In addition to this, the Board publishes a summary document which sets out the Trust’s corporate
governance framework. The most recent update of this document was approved by the Board in
December 2019 and is next due for review in November 2022. It includes a detailed section on the role
and responsibilities of the Board of Directors. Both corporate governance documents are available on
the Trust’s website: www.candi.nhs.uk/about-us/corporate-information/corporate-governance.
Further information about the responsibilities of Directors and Board Committees is provided in the
‘Our Governance’ section of the report. Public stakeholders are aware of the Trust’s risks as they impact
on them and work with the Trust to manage these.
Our Trust has developed and implemented a workforce strategy that ensures the organisation has a
robust plan in place to attract, develop and retain talent across the organisation. The Trust monitors
on a monthly-basis key workforce performance indicators which are reported at senior management
meetings and scrutinised at Board meetings as part of the Integrated Performance. In January 2022,
the Board approved an Equality, Diversity and Inclusion strategy which was developed jointly with
Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental Health NHS Trust under the new Partnership. Assurance of the
effective delivery of this strategy is obtained by the People and Culture committee. The committee
Chair continues to provide an assurance summary report at every Board meeting.
The Trust has a robust policy on managing interest, gifts and hospitality. A register of interests is
routinely published on the Trust’s website, and this is reviewed at every Board meeting. The Trust
routinely tests the effectiveness of these processes through its Local Counter Fraud Specialist service
and Internal Auditors.
The Trust has submitted a ‘Green’ rated assessment of the Counter Fraud Functional Standard Return
(CFFSR) to the NHS Counter Fraud Authority that tests the adequacy of systems and procedures in
line with the Bribery Act 2010. The Trust’s Local Counter Fraud Specialist work plan has continued
throughout the year with regular progress reports being presented to the Audit & Risk Committee.
This is supported by the Counter Fraud Team’s ongoing work to prevent and detect fraud, bribery and
corruption.
C&I is compliant with the Developing Workforce Safeguards recommendations and we regularly review
safe staffing levels and present a report to Board and Quality and Safety Committee for close scrutiny.
This includes ongoing review of the nursing safer staffing establishment and a review of relevant
competencies and skills mix across the organisation. We monitor safer staffing in a number of ways,
such as:
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• The submission of NHSE safer staffing data is reported monthly and is a core component of
Integrated Board Reporting and Divisional Performance Management, and analysis is made
by Heads of Nursing and Senior Operational Managers.
• Inpatient Services apply the Safecare acuity tool to supplement clinical judgement and
monitor staffing levels to ensure staffing is responsive to assessed need on inpatient wards.
The Senior Site Coordinator night report records acuity levels on the wards and confirms safe
staffing levels for both the night shift and the oncoming day shift. The report is reviewed
daily by all senior staff. Matrons and Senior Site Coordinators are required to routinely visit all
ward areas to follow up and review.
• Temporary staffing is supplied through NHS Professionals. Fill rates are monitored on
a monthly basis. When safer staffing requirements cannot be met a mitigation plan is
coordinated by Ward Managers, Matrons and Senior Site Coordinators out of hours. This will
include reallocation of staff, redeployment of Ward Managers to clinical duties, prioritisation
of Senior Site Coordinators and increased numbers of non-registered staff.
The Trust achieves very high levels of fill rates for Registered Nurses.

Information Governance
The Trust has been proactively working to improve security processes and
to train staff so that they are aware of, and alert to, cyber security threats.
The Trust takes very seriously its duty to protect and safeguard the personal confidential data that
it gathers, creates, processes and discloses. It must comply with the UK General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR), Data Protection Act 2018 and NHS requirements, and provide assurance to service
users and the public.
All incidents that involve the loss or unauthorised disclosure of personal information are reported
centrally and are closely monitored on the Trust’s Incident reporting system, Datix. All serious incidents
are reported to the Data Security and Protection Toolkit within 72 hours of becoming aware of the
breach, which reflects the requirements of the UK GDPR and, for relevant organisations, the Networks
and Information System (NIS) regulations.
During 2021/22, there were 108 information governance incidents reported through Datix. Two of
those were reportable to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). This is similar to last year’s
reporting period, when three serious incidents were reportable to the ICO.
The Trust has continued to raise awareness of the reporting system and is encouraging more staff
to report incidents, this has resulted in an overall increase in numbers. The Information Governance
(IG) Team responds to every breach, and reports to the Caldicott Guardian to ensure that lessons are
learned and shared with teams to mitigate future risks.
The breaches which occurred were mainly associated with human error and failure to adhere to local
standard procedures, for example, sending an email to an incorrect recipient or a posting letter to the
wrong address.
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IG Incident comparison 2020/21 vs 2021/22
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The Caldicott Guardian
The Caldicott Guardian is a mandatory role within all NHS organisations, introduced by the
Department of Health and Social Care. The Caldicott Guardian is responsible for patient confidentiality
across the organisation. The Trust’s Caldicott Guardian is the Medical Director, Dr Vincent Kirchner,
who has completed Caldicott and GDPR training.
In the Trust, there is a high level of awareness about the Caldicott Guardian role. The Caldicott
Guardian receives queries about patient confidentiality through the Information Governance office.
The Caldicott Guardian has contributed significantly to the ongoing development of our electronic
medical records system, CareNotes.
In 2021/20, there was an increase in the number of queries received by the Caldicott Guardian,
compared to the previous year. Queries tend to be complex and often require interpretation of NHS
guidance and GDPR, along with consideration of other legislation and ethical issues. This approach
ensures patient safety and confidentiality. During the year, more than a hundred issues were raised, of
which at least 20 could be regarded as highly complex, requiring more detailed intervention and time
by the Caldicott Guardian. A log of issues referred to the Caldicott Guardian is kept by the Information
Governance team and presented in the IG Steering group on a bi-monthly basis.
This year the Caldicott Guardian’s duties included:
• Reviewing whether disclosure is lawful for complex police requests
• Working on several projects including Role based access
• Ruling on whether the medical notes of a deceased patient without next of kin, could be
seen by her friends
• Reviewing Subject Access Requests where disclosure may cause harm and distress to an
individual
• Dealing with complex data sharing issues for safeguarding purposes
• Dealing with breaches of confidentiality
• Authorising data sharing agreements with other organisations
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Data Protection Officer
The GDPR introduced a duty for organisations to appoint a Data Protection Officer (DPO) if the
organisation is a public authority or body or carries out certain types of processing activities. DPOs
assist in monitoring internal compliance, inform and advise on data protection obligations, provide
advice regarding Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIAs) and act as a contact point for data
subjects and the supervisory authority, the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO).
The DPO oversees all data protection at the Trust. The Trust has had a series of audits this year
with positive outcomes demonstrating the Trust’s commitment to UK GDPR compliance and the
confidentiality of patient information.
In addition, quarterly DPO reports are presented to the Audit and Risk Committee to provide update
and assurance to the Board members.
The DPO role has been designated to Head of Information Governance, Mahwish Noor, who
completed DPO training as well as GDPR practitioner training.

Data Security and Protection Toolkit
The Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT) is an audit carried out by NHS Digital to ensure that
the Trust meets data security standards. This year’s DSPT had an increased emphasis on cyber security
and the UK GDPR. The Trust submitted evidence to NHS Digital that demonstrated that the Trust is
meeting, or working towards, information governance and cyber security standards.
The Trust submitted their DSPT within deadline for 2020/21 before the end of June 2021, with all 116
mandatory evidence items completed, along with several non-mandatory evidence items. Therefore,
the Trust overall score achieved was ‘Standards met’ without the need for an improvement plan. The
Trust is currently on track with the 2021/22 submission which is due at the end of June 2022. Several
improvements have been within the IT security assertions including patch management, multi-factor
authentication, monitoring, back up and cyber security awareness.

Information governance and specialist training
During 2021/22, C&I achieved 95% compliance in Data Security Awareness Information Governance
training.
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The Information Governance team introduced bi-monthly interactive training sessions which are held
online using MS Teams. Staff could complete the training by attending one of the sessions or by
working through an e-learning module. The Trust has also achieved 100% compliance within the
Board members which supports leadership and accountability.

Freedom of Information requests
The Trust received 459 Freedom of Information (FOI) requests during the period 1 April 2021 – 31
March 2022 compared to 355 in the previous year. Of these, 287 requests were responded to within
the statutory compliance timeframe. There has been a noticeable increase in the number of requests
during this reporting period however this seems broadly consistent across other Trusts and several
Trusts have reported receiving the same or a similar FOI (a ‘round-robin’). Historic FOI requests continue
to remain an issue and are allocated appropriate resources. Staff absences and single points of failure
continue to impact on historic FOI’s which in turn affects length of time requests remain open. There
has been a noticeable drop in FOI’s regarding COVID-19 and vaccination due to external factors
(withdrawal of VCOD).

FOI requests comparison 2020/21 vs 2021/22
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Three internal reviews were conducted within this reporting period. Two were upheld as the FOI
response was not issued in time due to delays in receiving information from Informatics and the
requester felt we had not provided all the information. The third request was related to applying
Section 31 (law enforcement) to their response concerning CCTV cameras. In addition, there is only
one ongoing Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) decision notice and the ICO has agreed broadly
with our findings.

Subject Access requests
The Trust received 494 subject access requests during this period compared to 404 request previous
year. Out of these, 380 requests (NB: 25 requests are still active) were responded to within the
statutory compliance timeframe. It is anticipated the number will increase in 2021/22 due to UK
GDPR. There is an anticipated increase in the complexity of requests with patients exercising their
rights to information including right of rectification and right of erasure.

120

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

Annual Governance Statement

SAR requests comparison 2020/21 vs 2021/22
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Internal Audit Finding
At previous internal audit, KPMG assessed the Trust’s process for compiling the Data Security and
Protection Toolkit (DSPT) and the evidence available for a sample of 12 sections of the 42 mandatory
domains. As a result, the Trust was awarded “significant assurance” (GREEN), which is consistent
with management’s anticipated assurance. For this year’s reporting period, the audit is currently
going through the final stages. There is a well-designed process for the compilation and review of
the evidence required to support the Trust’s annual submission. Both the IG and cyber security teams
embed the DSPT into their work throughout the year, constantly ensuring work is carried out to the
DSPT standard.
An action plan is maintained by the Information Governance Manager, which assigns responsibility for
the preparation of supporting evidence to the relevant responsible officers. As evidence is received, it
is reviewed by the Head of Information Governance to confirm that it is in line with the requirements
of the toolkit. The final version is signed off by Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO) and Caldicott
Guardian.
Other information governance audits have been successfully completed within the Trust including
information governance physical checks within clinical and corporate areas as well as access audits
within the Trust’s two major electronic patient records system.

Arrangements in response to the
COVID-19 Pandemic
As the COVID-19 pandemic continued throughout the reporting year, the
Trust maintained its emergency response procedures in line with national
guidance. The Gold, Silver and Bronze command and control structures
continued to function effectively in an agile way to ensure quick and
effective response as the impact of the pandemic changed throughout
the year. In its second year of managing the COVID-19 pandemic, the Trust
made significant progress in learning from the pandemic and implementing
this learning across the organisation and in key service areas. At the start
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of the reporting period, risks from the COVID-19 risk register were reviewed
and incorporated into the main corporate and operational risk registers as
appropriate. These continued to be monitored through existing processes
as highlighted above.
All Board, committee and governance activities returned mostly to pre-pandemic level with only minor
adjustments at peak periods, for example, during the winter months as a result of the Omicron variant
and an increase in demand during that period. All meetings of the Executive Team, the Board and its
committees, and the Council of Governors continued throughout the year in line with the normal,
pre-pandemic cycle although they continued to be held mostly virtually. Board seminars and Board
development activities continued to be held and management of the Trust’s response to the pandemic
was embedded in business-as-usual activities wherever possible. Board members’ visits of Trust services
was reduced in line with infection control and prevention measures.
Regular reporting on key performance indicators relating to quality and patient safety, staff and finance
was maintained throughout the year and the Board reviewed the Integrated Performance Report at
every meeting along with the Board Assurance Framework.

Energy efficiency and impact on the
environment
The Trust continues to purchase its electricity and gas via the Crown
Commercial Service (CCS) framework agreement. CCS is the largest public
sector buyer of gas and electricity in the UK with skilled, in-house market
analysts, risk management specialists and robust independent governance.
Bulk buying on behalf of central Government and the NHS continues to
yield significant savings for the Trust compared to other energy tariffs. Like
all organisations the Trust has been adversely affected by energy price rises
towards the end of 2021/2022.
With the support of its total facilities management provider, the Trust continues with the NHS Plastic
Pledge and cessation of single-use plastics.
The Trust published its Green Plan in January 2022 with the aim to achieve net zero carbon by 2030.
The Trust will work with a wide range of NHS, public and private sector partners in order to achieve
this. The plan’s key focus is on:
• Cutting carbon emissions and increasing our resilience to climate extremes.
• Introducing sustainable models of care - focussing on prevention, patient empowerment and
efficient low carbon treatment choices.
• Treating all waste as a resource and environmental resources including water as finite.
• Supporting Nature’s recovery by protecting and enhancing urban wildlife habitats to provide
nature and health co-benefits.
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Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness
of the system of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors,
clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical leads within the
NHS Foundation Trust who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on a wide
range of performance information available to me and which the Board
reviews regularly throughout the year. My review is also informed by
comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and
other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board,
the Audit and Risk Committee and Quality and Safety Committee, and a
plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the
system is in place.
The Trust continues to have robust systems in place to assess key elements of quality governance
arrangements and to routinely provide assurance that these remain effective and fit for purpose. This
is overseen by the Board’s Quality and Safety Committee which routinely receives detailed reports.
Further information regarding this can be found in this report on page 49 under Governance and
Quality Assurance.
The Trust was last inspected by CQC in October 2019 when it was rated ‘Good’ overall. The report was
published in January 2020. We were rated ‘Outstanding’ for being Effective, Good for being Caring,
Responsive and Well-led and Requires Improvement for being Safe. Further information can be found
in sections 1.5.4 CQC Inspection report and 2.6 Well-led Governance review.
The Trust complies with safer staffing requirements to a high level. In rare circumstances the Trust is
unable to maintain required Registered Nurse numbers, reflecting national Registered Nurse shortages.
In these circumstances a contingency plan is invoked to maintain safety, and this will include alternative
measures being put in place. The Trust continues to drive its longer-term recruitment strategy which
includes a strong partnership with Middlesex University and our partner rust, Barking, Enfield and
Haringey NHS Mental Health Trust.

In addition, my review is informed by the following assessments:
• Reports from a series of Care Quality Commission inspection visits in autumn 2019, including
‘Well-led’ reviews, and the action plans from inspections, which we continue to monitor to
strengthen our quality of care;
• The findings of the independent Well-led assessment undertaken by Deloitte during the
second half of 2021 which highlighted a number of areas of good practice as well as making
recommendations for improvement where further strengthening is required;
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• Assurances resulting from the reports of Internal and External Audit, including the Head of
Internal Audit Opinion;
• The annual assurance provided to the Board in meeting the conditions of our Provider
Licence;
• The regular Integrated Board Performance Reports;
• Assurances from our Local Counter Fraud Specialist; and
• Statements relating to the Trust accounts and financial position.
The Audit and Risk Committee provides the Board with an independent and objective review of the
systems in place for internal control and risk management and ensures that the Board is kept fully
informed of all significant risks and their management. It ensures that the internal audit work plan
reflects the principal objectives and risks facing the organisation and is delivered in accordance with
mandatory auditing standards across our quality, financial and performance systems.
A review of the Trust’s arrangements for risk management and the Board Assurance Framework
has been carried out in accordance with the annual internal audit plan that tests the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Trust’s risk management, control and governance processes. This has provided
significant assurance with minor improvement in most areas, as articulated above. The Audit and Risk
Committee has concluded that there are clear plans for improvements in place to address the areas
where they are required and the Committee receives ongoing reports on progress against these plans.
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Conclusion
In summary, the Trust has not identified any significant internal control
issues within 2021/22 and has a sound system of internal control and
governance in place, which is designed to manage the key organisational
objectives and minimise the Trust’s exposure to risk. In response to the
pandemic, the Trust has effectively adjusted its governance arrangements
to ensure they remained fit for purpose in the changing context throughout
the year. The Audit and Risk Committee played a key role in monitoring
these arrangements and in seeking assurance of their continued
effectiveness on behalf of the Board.
Through a range of internal control systems articulated in this report and the continuous testing of
these by the Trust’s internal auditors and local counter fraud specialists there is robust assurance of the
validity of the Trust’s Corporate Governance statement as required under the NHS Foundation Trust
Condition 4(8)(b).
The Board of Directors maintains its firm commitment to continuous improvement and enhancement
of the systems of internal control.

Jinjer Kandola MBE Chief Executive
22 June 2022
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5.0 Staff Report
Analysis of average staff numbers
The table below shows the Trust staff costs and average number of staff employed as at 31 March
2021 and 31 March 2022. These figures are subject to audit.

2021/22

2020/21

Permanent
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

Total
Number

142

6

148

145

-

-

-

-

Administration and estates

344

52

396

374

Healthcare assistants and other
support staff

379

-

379

355

Nursing, midwifery and health
visiting staff

444

262

706

681

-

-

-

-

761

17

778

721

-

-

-

-

22

-

22

-

-

-

-

16

2,093

337

2,430

2,292

-

-

-

-

Medical and dental
Ambulance staff

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting
learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical
staff
Healthcare science staff
Social care staff
Other
Total average numbers
Of which:
Number of employees (WTE)
engaged on capital projects
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Staff costs
2020/21

2019/20

Permanent

Other

Total

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

Salaries and wages

93,947

1,066

95,013

87,748

Social security costs

10,135

-

10,135

9,347

Apprenticeship levy

453

-

453

425

16,921

-

16,921

15,682

Pension cost - other

-

-

-

-

Other post employment benefits

-

-

-

-

Other employment benefits

-

-

-

-

Termination benefits

-

-

-

-

Temporary staff

-

17,158

17,158

14,405

Employer's contributions to NHS
pension scheme

Total gross staff costs
Recoveries in respect of
seconded staff
Total staff costs

121,456
112,227

18,224
15,380

139,680

127,607

-

-

127,607

113,866

Of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets

-

-

-

-

Annual report and accounts 2021/22

129

Staff Report

Pension disclosure
This note discloses the number and additional pension costs for individuals
who retired early on ill-health grounds during the year. There was 1
retirement in 2021/22 which amounted to £87k (there were no retirements
in 2020/21)
This information has been supplied by NHS Business Services Authority – Pensions Division, and the
cost will be borne by them.

Gender breakdown of staff
Assessing the gender breakdown of staff groups is important in
determining issues around the gender pay gap and for equality and
diversity issues. The table below shows the number of staff employed by
the Trust by gender as of 31 March 2022. The figures include 400 Trainee
Clinical Psychologists who were hosted on the Trust payroll at that data.
The heading “Senior Managers” refers to managers in Agenda for Change
pay bands 8c and above. A more detailed examination of equality issues
related to senior staff gender proportions is given in the section on the
Gender Pay Gap.
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Female

Male

Total
Headcount

Executive Director

1

7

8

Non-Executive Director

5

5

10

Senior Manager

26

20

46

Other Employees

1654

623

2277

Grand Total

1686

655

2341
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Reporting of compensation schemes
The exit packages within the scope of this disclosure include, but are not
limited to, those made under nationally agreed arrangements or local
arrangements for which Treasury approval was required. Compulsory
redundancies are avoided whenever possible within the Trust. While
every effort will be made by the Trust to identify alternative options to
compulsory redundancy, there may nevertheless be occasions when the
need to make compulsory redundancies is unavoidable.
During the period 2021/22 (this reporting year) the Trust made five contractual pay in lieu of notice
(PILON) payments.
The first table below shows the exit packages paid during 2021/22.

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Number
of other
departures
agreed

Total number
of exit
packages

Exit package cost band (including any special payment element)
<£10,000

-

2

2

£10,000 - £25,000

-

2

2

£25,001 - 50,000

-

1

1

£50,001 - £100,000

-

-

-

£100,001 - £150,000

-

-

-

£150,001 - £200,000

-

-

-

>£200,000

-

-

-

Total number of exit packages by
type

-

5

5

£0

84,000

84,000

Total cost (£)
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The next table shows the equivalent exit packages for last year, 2020/21.
During the period 2020/21, (last reporting year), there was one redundancy payment to member
of staff for whom no suitable alternative employment could be arranged, a mixed redundancy /
contractual pay in lieu of notice payment and a contractual pay in lieu of notice payment.

Reporting of compensation schemes - exit packages 2020/21

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Number
of other
departures
agreed

Total number
of exit
packages

Exit package cost band (including any special payment element)
<£10,000

-

1

1

£10,000 - £25,000

-

-

-

£25,001 - 50,000

1

1

2

£50,001 - £100,000

-

-

-

£100,001 - £150,000

-

-

-

£150,001 - £200,000

1

-

1

>£200,000

-

-

-

Total number of exit
packages by type

2

2

4

£193,000

£28,000

£221000

Total cost (£)
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Exit packages: other (non-compulsory) departure payments
The following table shows the number of non-compulsory departures detailed in the top table above
(for 2021/22) which attracted an exit package in the year and the values of the associated payment by
individual type.
Exit packages: other (non-compulsory) departure payments

2019/20

Payments
Agreed

2018/19

Total
Value of
Agreement

Payments
Agreed

Total
Value of
Agreement

Voluntary redundancies
including early retirement
contractual costs

-

-

-

-

Mutually agreed
resignations (MARS)
contractual costs

-

-

-

-

Early retirements in the
efficiency of the service
contractual costs

-

-

-

-

Contractual payments in
lieu of notice

1

26

2

14

Exit payments following
Employment Tribunals or
court orders

1

2

-

-

Non-contractual payments
requiring HMT approval

-

-

-

-

Total

2

28

2

14

-

-

-

-

Of Which:
Non-contractual payments
requiring HMT approval
made to individuals where
the payment value was
more than 12 months’ of
their annual salary
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NHS Staff Survey
Each year our staff members are invited to take part in the national NHS
Staff Survey. It gathers views on their experience at work around key
areas including development opportunities, health and wellbeing, staff
engagement, and feeling able to raise concerns. It’s an opportunity for staff
to give feedback that highlights areas of good practice and pinpoints where
improvements should be made. The Trust has a strong commitment to
engaging with staff and listening actively to their concerns.
For the first time, in 2021 the questions were aligned with the NHS People Promise to track progress
against its ambition to make the NHS the workplace we all want it to be by 2024.
The NHS People Promise commits to us all working together to improve the experience of working
in the NHS for everyone. It comprises seven principles which enable a positive, compassionate, and
inclusive culture:
• We are compassionate and inclusive
• We are recognised and rewarded
• We each have a voice that counts
• We are safe and healthy
• We are always learning
• We work flexibly
• We are a team

C&I Staff Survey 2021 response rate
1853

1801

59%

55%

64%

Invited to
complete the
survey

Eligible at the
end of survey

Completed
survey (1069)

Average
response rate
for similar
organisation

Your previous
response rate

In 2021, a total of 59.4% (1069) of eligible staff completed the survey, above the national median
response rate of 52.4%. However, this is down 4% on 2020, when others’ metrics (median and
highest, have increased).
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In 2021, the Trust scored poorly against the Mental Health Trust average across the following themes:
• Equality, Diversity & Inclusion
• Health & Wellbeing
• Morale
• Safe environment (bullying & harassment)
• Safe environment (violence)

We are compassionate &
inclusive

We are recognised and
rewarded

We each have a voice that
counts

We are safe and healthy

We are always learning

We work flexibly

We are a team

Staff Engagement

Morale

People Promise Themes

Best

7.9

6.8

7.4

6.6

6.1

7.1

7.4

7.4

6.5

Your org

7.4

6.3

6.9

6.0

5.4

6.6

7.1

7.1

5.8

Average

7.5

6.3

7.0

6.2

5.6

6.7

7.1

7.0

6.0

Worst

7.1

5.9

6.4

5.8

4.8

6.1

6.6

6.5

5.5

Our HR Business Partners and OD Partners meet with Divisional Leads to agree local action planning to
address areas of concern and build on improving figures. In addition to continuing to build our Just,
Fair & Inclusive Culture (aligning the Restorative, Just Culture; Trauma-Informed Approach), and Quality
Improvement to our values and cultural pillars, additional work started after our 2020 staff survey
results. Our journey to improvement includes:
• Restorative Just Culture pilot roll out across the Hospital Division – Project plan underway
• Transition to values-based appraisals – aligning with BEH
• Focus on talent management, career pathways, career conversations
• Project underway on recruitment & retention across C&I
• Roll out of Health & Wellbeing agenda
• Agreement on joint EDI strategy and supporting plan
• Increase in risk assessments, regular wellbeing conversations
• Pilot for Race and Racism Leadership underway
• Recruitment shared services completed. Payroll, OH underway
These initiatives link to the Trust strategic priorities, improve our leadership & management capability
and our staff experience. These approaches ensure that our service user experience is enhanced by
managers leading and engaging with their teams compassionately to create an environment where
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people feel valued, safe, trusted and supported – providing the opportunity for staff to deliver high
quality patient care in line with a trauma informed approach.

Sickness absence
Total sickness absence varied significantly during the year the pandemic
but non-COVID sickness during the year was between 3 and 4%, on
average; data is published bi-monthly in the human resources performance
reports received by the Board, as well as presented at monthly divisional
performance meetings.
The link below takes you to the site where information is published by NHS Digital:
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates

Diversity and inclusion policies,
initiatives and longer-term
ambitions
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust (C&I) firmly believes that
everyone should have equal access to services, and everyone should have
equal opportunity to develop and progress at work.
Our Roadmap for Change, launched in February 2021, was developed in partnership with our Black
and Minority Ethnic (BME) staff network, the Network for Change, and describes the path we need to
take to ensure complete fairness and equal opportunity.
Our aim is to embed BME voices across every tier of the organisation, allowing their views to be
heard. We have continued expanding our network of Equality Champions, who sit on interview
panels to ensure fairness, our mentoring scheme has grown and we have introduced a new
leadership training course for BME colleagues. The Trust Board has also committed to becoming an
anti-racist organisation. A number of staff engagement activities were conducted to draft the vision
statement, including WRES Steering Group – inclusive of service user representatives and clinical staff;
Camden Division Clinical Teams (as part of WRES conversations); Network for Change members;
Communications Team; Quality Improvement; HR/L&OD and Workforce Wellbeing Lead. The anti-racist
statement the Board signed up to is:
C&I is committed to becoming an anti-racist organisation, which strives to tackle systemic racism faced
by our staff, service users and local communities. We will achieve this cultural change through:
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• Living the values of a just, fair and inclusive culture.
• Promoting equality of experience and eliminating discrimination.
• Proactively engaging with our service users and local communities to achieve fairness and
inclusion.
• Utilising tools such as the workforce, race, equality standard (WRES), staff survey data and
staff networks to realise sustainable improvement.
• Providing continuous commitment and visible leadership to progress the race and inclusion
agenda.
The Restorative and Just Culture Pilot was launched in the Hospital Division in May 2021 for a
12-month period to develop a Trust-wide Just and Learning Culture. This approach will be a key part
of developing colleagues’ confidence to raise and resolve issues and conflict early, with assurance that
Trust approaches will be compassionate and just.
Our EDI Lead works with our staff inclusion networks on many initiatives and during the last year we
have reviewed our guide on Supporting Staff with Long Term Conditions, and the C&I Workplace
Adjustment Passport. Plus, we designed the C&I COVID Risk Assessment with all our staff inclusion
networks.
We report on and have actions plans for the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES), Workforce
Disability Equality Standard (WDES), and the Gender Pay Gap (GPG), and publish the annual Equality,
Diversity and Inclusion Report. The report meets the first specific duty of the Equality Act (2010), which
requires public bodies to publish information annually to demonstrate compliance with the general
equality duty.
We have made some positive organisational cultural improvements and further developed our coproduction with staff inclusion networks with which our EDI lead works.
C&I now has a Carers Passport, which was developed in partnership with our Disability+ Carers and
our Women’s network groups.
We have action plans that ensure compliance with the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) and
the Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES). We also publish an annual Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion Report which includes key patient and workforce data between 1 January and 31 December
2021.
COVID-19 introduced a new set of EDI strategic challenges; rapid shifts to online delivery and
assessment, changes to policy and practice.
Our recruitment and selection procedures take full account of the requirements of the Equality Act
2010 and the associated public sector equality duties. This includes giving full and fair consideration to
applicants with a disability or long-term health condition. We have committed to the Mindful Employer
Charter and, through our annual Health and Wellbeing Passport, we will implement activities to further
develop C&I as a healthy workplace in respect of mental health. We are also a Disability Confident
employer at Level 2. This demonstrates we are positive about people with disabilities and support them
to successfully attain and retain employment within C&I.
We have supportive employment practices in place not only for those that we employ who have a
disability, but for those who may become disabled while working for us. These include a support
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Our four staff networks are:
Network for Change (Black,
Asian and ethnic minorities)
Annual Celebration: Black
History Month
• • Hosted open and closed Yammer chat
groups

Disability+ Carers’ Network
Annual celebration: Disability
History Month - including
C&I Purple Thursday

• • Workforce Race Equality Standard

• Increased declaration of disability status
by staff

• • Inclusion Roadmap,

• Workforce Disability Equality Standard

• • Black Lives Matter resources

• All staff webinar: Benefits ‘In Work’
Workshop

• • Open and closed Yammer chat groups
• • Monthly support calls
• • Actively involved in Trust
Equality Impact Analysis

• Actively involved in Trust Equality
Impact Analysis
• Sunflower lanyards

• • Black Lives Matter lanyards
package; a Workplace Adjustment Passport process for the management of disabilities/long term
conditions - including work-related stress; an Employee Assistance programme (EAP) providing
counselling and other support to staff; flexible working arrangements; and a bespoke Occupational
Health Service. These procedures and services support the employment and retention of disabled
employees and the implementation of reasonable adjustments to take account of individual needs.
Our attendance procedures also take account of individual needs related to disability and provides
for disability leave as a reasonable adjustment, to support people to remain in work. We have made
reasonable adjustments to working environments through the purchase of specialised equipment.
In addition to this, our Disability+ Carers Staff Network raises awareness of disability in order to
minimise discrimination in all aspects of employment. Diversity training is compulsory for all staff and
is required to be undertaken every three years. This ensures that our workforce is aware of current
legislative and organisational requirements and best practice. We coproduce with our Disability+ Carers
Staff Network, an annual programme of development sessions to provide our staff with the knowledge
and expertise they require when working at C&I.

Staff turnover rates
The link below takes you to the site where information is published by NHS Digital.
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-workforce-statistics
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The Women’s Network

Rainbow Network (LGBTQ+)

Annual Celebration:
International Women’s Day,
White Ribbon Day and World
Menopause Day

Annual Celebration: London
Pride Parade

• • Established theMenopause Café
• • Gender Pay Gap

• Designed and cascaded the LGBT+
trans awareness poster
• Held LGBTQ+ Awareness Quiz’s via
MS Team

• • Successful submission for ‘free’ period
protection at C&I

• Regular network meetings

• • Actively involved in Trust Equality Impact
Analysis

• Actively involved in Trust Equality
Impact Analysis

• • White ribbons pins

• Rainbow lanyards

• Support calls for colleagues

Occupational Health
People Asset Management (PAM) is the current provider of the
Occupational Health (OH) service at the Trust. The service is aimed
at promoting and supporting the health and wellbeing of the Trust’s
employees and supporting managers in providing advice, guidance, and
recommendations to support the safe and timely return of employees to
the workplace following sickness absence. The specific activities include
employment health screening, immunisation and vaccination services,
health surveillance, management referral, workplace assessments,
psychological support and health education and promotion. PAM also
provides Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) to employees, which is a
confidential support service in relation to counselling, family matters, debt,
benefits, and relationships. This service is available to all employees 24/7,
365 days a year. In the last year, as in previous years, PAM has also run a
series of wellbeing-focused events.
From 1August 2022, the OH service will be provided to the Trust by North London Partners Shared
Service (NLPSS OH), which will offer a wide range of OH-related activities supporting staff and
managers.
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Gender pay gap
Last year, in line with the Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information)
Regulation 2017, the Trust published and reported the Gender Pay Gap
using a snapshot date of 31 March 2021. The Regulation that came into
force on 1 April 2017 required public sector organisations to publish and
report Gender Pay Gap within 12 months. This report continues to be
produced on an annual. The Equality and Human Rights Commission is the
body responsible for enforcing the regulation.
The Gender Pay Gap for mean hourly pay in 2021 was 12.9%. The most recent Gender Pay Report is
available on the Trust website at: www.candi.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-diversity-and-human-rights.

Improving staff experience
During 2021/22 there was significant focus on supporting staff through the
challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Wellbeing
While staff, patients and service users continue to navigate the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic,
our support of staff physical and mental wellbeing continues utilising both local and national resources
with a focus on prevention. The formation of a new team, Workforce Wellbeing, in 2021 signalled
a commitment to fully embed the principles of, and best practice around, improving wellbeing for
our staff for the long term. A Wellbeing Strategy and Workforce Plan has been presented to, and
approved by, the Trust. Practical support which has been weaved into these documents has been
provided to staff throughout 2021/22. Wellbeing conversations form part of the annual appraisal
process, and managers are reminded that they also provide a bedrock to staff as part of an ongoing
cycle of regular discussions and check ins. The importance of staff wellbeing is also a key theme
through the newly re-vamped Transformation Management Essentials training programme launched in
2021, and currently training its eighth cohort of C&I people managers.

Recognition
Once again, qualifying permanent staff were gifted a bonus. For 2021, it was a £30 gift voucher, and
a “Take a Break” wellbeing hamper was distributed to all staff attending sites in February, recognising
the contribution of permanent, temporary and agency staff – all of whom contributed significantly
throughout another challenging year.
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Mandy Jesse Izzy Star of the Month Presentation

Dr Livia Ottisova Star of the Month presentation
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Star of the Year/Month
The Star of the Year/ Month Awards is an initiative at the Trust to recognise and celebrate the great
work being carried out by our staff. This year, there were over 130 nominations submitted for the
awards, as many staff have gone above and beyond during the pandemic. We had planned to host the
Star of the Year Awards face-to-face in December 2021 but moved forward with caution and hosted
the awards online.

Staff networks
Staff networks are an active as a powerful tool to promote inclusion at the Trust. They bring colleagues
with shared identities together to give them a collective voice regarding distinguishable opportunities
and issues on various platforms. The Race Equality Network (known as Network for Change), Women’s
Network, LGBTQ+ Network (known as the Rainbow Network) and the Disability+ Carers Network
leaders joined forces at a focused away day in November 2021. This resulted in the development of a
networks road map and values chart. A further progression in the year also saw the appointment of a
dedicated Staff Network Coordinator post in collaboration with Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental
Health NHS Trust.

Organisational development focused away days
The organisational development (OD) team have supported people managers and staff to navigate
the changes to working practices that have occurred since the start of the pandemic – with many staff
not coming together in person for long periods. OD designed Away Days for 14 separate teams, to
help support staff adjusting to new ways of working, returning to on-site work, re-connecting with
colleagues only seen remotely for some time, and bonding with new starters. Key themes for these
events included understanding change, working together, team building and wellbeing. A further 11
events have been scheduled so far in 2022.

Learning and& development
Training sessions were offered to people managers to help them support staff returning to on-site
working. A newly re-vamped management skills programme – Transformational Management
Essentials – refocused people management skills away from process and procedure and toward
building strong team engagement, developing higher performing team, and provides managers with
tools to transition toward a more coaching focussed culture.

Just, fair and inclusive culture
Anchoring the employee experience to a just, fair and inclusive culture provides a solid base for
creating a strong, positive working culture. Key to this is the development of an HR&OD People
Strategy and Work Plan which algins the Restorative, Just Culture (RJC); Trauma-Informed Approach
(TIA), and Quality Improvement (QI) to our organisational priorities and cultural pillars. Work started
after our 2020 NHS Staff Survey results ensure that our service user experience is enhanced by
managers leading and engaging with their teams compassionately to create an environment where
people feel valued, safe, trusted and supported – providing the opportunity for staff to deliver high
quality patient care in line with a TIA.
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Thomas Langmans and Harry Leitch - New Rainbow Network Chairs

Freedom to speak up
The Guardian Service (GSL) continues to provide an independent Freedom
to speak up service across the Trust. The GSL does not replace any
existing channels for staff to speak about their concerns but represents
an additional option for those individuals who for whatever reason do not
believe they can utilise the policies of the Trust.
The GSL reports are cumulative in nature and are presented monthly to the Trust. In the twelve-month
period from April 2021 to March 2022, there have been 24 cases:

April 2021 to March 2022
Total Cases

Cases Open

Cases Closed

24

10

14
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Reports analyse data in line with the National Guardian Office recommended themes. The breakdown
is as follows:

April 2021 – March 2022
Themes

Number

Management Issue

9

System and Process

3

Bullying and Harassment

3

Discrimination/Inequality

4

Behaviour/Relationship

2

Patient Safety/Quality

1

Worker Safety

1

Other

1

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the GSL has relied on online communications and brand awareness
maintained through social media channels (both GSL channels and the Trust channels) along with GSL
distributed collateral including posters and information cards. Guardians have attended all monthly
staff induction sessions and have completed a webinar open to all staff participation celebrating Speak
Up month.
In response to the additional challenges that emerged during the pandemic, GSL has committed
considerable time and investment in Guardian development including:
• Resilience training for all new Guardians and refresher training as required for existing
Guardians
• Additional psychotherapy access for all Guardians beyond the minimum required annual
assessment
• Quarterly supervised meetings by a psychotherapist for Guardians as part of their two-weekly
ongoing practice enhancement training schedule.
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Health and safety
Much of the Trust’s health and safety activity during 2021/2022 continued
to be related to managing COVID-19 and ensuring that the Trust
implemented Government guidance around the provision of COVID-secure
workplaces. Health & Safety Executive and Infection Prevention Control
guidance was modified as conditions changed over this period but overall,
stringent safe working protocols were applied across both clinical and nonclinical services and buildings.
These are being relaxed now as we move into 2022/2023 and the latest UKHSA guidance. In particular,
within areas free from non-respiratory outbreaks, social distancing restrictions reduces from two to one
metre.
The Trust has undertaken several capital projects designed to improve the health and safety of service
users and staff. All inpatient service user bedroom en-suites have been fitted with a new anti-ligature
doors. Replacement access control systems are being installed - also starting at Highgate - replacing
the existing system that it almost 20 years old. A new staff and patient panic alarm system has also
been chosen following a successful trial within the Trust’s Mental Health Crisis Assessment Service at St
Pancras. This will be installed in Highgate in late summer/early autumn 2022.
There were no fire incidents within Trust premises in the period 2021/22. This is the first time in 8
years that there have been no fires and continues the trend of reducing number incidents over this
period. There has been a greater number of smoking related incidents which has triggered more fire
alarm activations. This was also seen in 2020/2021 and this is considered to be in part due to the
additional pressures and restrictions that the COVID-19 pandemic has meant for service users.
We continue to ensure that all ward staff are trained to fire marshal level and have also delivered
command and control training to key ward staff so that they have the skills and understanding to
respond appropriately in a fire emergency situation.
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Trade union facility time
The number of Trade Union Representatives in the organisation
The table below shows the number and Full-time equivalent of Trade Union representatives in the
organisation.

Number of employees who were
relevant union officials during the
relevant period

Full-time
equivalent
employee number

11

0.75

The percentage of time spent on facility time
The table below shows the number of our employees who were relevant union officials employed
during the period who spent a) 0%, b) 1%-50%, c) 51%-99% or d) 100% of their working hours on
facility time.

Percentage of time

Number of
employees

0%
1-50%

10

51%-99%
100%

1

The amount spent on facility time
The table below shows the percentage of our total pay bill spent on paying employees who were
relevant union officials for facility time during the relevant period.

Figures
Provide the total cost of facility time
Provide the total pay bill
Provide the percentage of the
total pay bill spent on facility time,
calculated as: (total cost of facility
time ÷ total pay bill) x 100
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The percentage of paid facility time spent on paid Trade Union
activities
The table below shows the percentage of total paid facility time hours, how many hours were spent by
employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period on paid trade union activities:
Time spent on paid trade union
activities as a percentage of total
paid facility time hours calculated as:

100%

(total hours spent on paid trade
union activities by relevant union
officials during the relevant period ÷
total paid facility time hours) x 100

Counter fraud and corruption
Information on policies and procedures with respect to counter fraud and
corruption
The Trust takes its responsibilities to minimise fraud with the utmost seriousness and ensures that all
reasonable measures to counter fraud and corruption are taken where there are suspicions it could
possibly occur. The Trust has an established and embedded counter fraud policy and a named local
counter fraud specialist, who investigates all suspicions and allegations of fraud in a confidential
manner, and who also undertakes proactive investigations and organises counter fraud publicity.

NHS Oversight Framework
NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework provides the framework
for overseeing providers and identifying potential support needs. The
framework looks at five themes:
• Quality of care
• Finance and use of resources
• Operational performance
• Strategic change
• Leadership and improvement capability (well-led)
Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 4, where ‘4’ reflects
providers receiving the most support, and ‘1’ reflects providers with maximum autonomy. A foundation
trust will only be in segments 3 or 4 where it has been found to be in breach or suspected breach of its
licence.
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NHS Improvement placed C&I in segment 2.
This segmentation information is the Trust’s position as 1 June 2022.
Current segmentation information for NHS trusts and foundation trusts is published on the NHS
Improvement website.

Statement of the Chief Executive’s
responsibilities as the Accounting
Officer
The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting officer
of the NHS Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the Accounting
Officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of
public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of
proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer
Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement.
NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has given
Accounts Directions which require Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each
financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis required by those Directions. The
accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust, and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains
and losses and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the
Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:
• observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis
• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual) have
been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements
• ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated
authorities and guidance
• confirm that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for patients, regulators, and
stakeholders to assess the NHS foundation trust’s performance, business model and strategy
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis
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The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable him/
her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above-mentioned Act. The
Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS foundation trust and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in the
NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Jinjer Kandola MBE Chief Executive
22 June 2022
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6.0 Summary Financial
Statement
Information to allow a full understanding of the Trust and of its policies and
arrangements concerning directors’ remuneration are provided by the full
annual financial statements and report.
The statements were approved by the Board on XXX [to be added after board], following a
recommendation from the Audit & Risk Committee, and signed on behalf of the Board by

Jinjer Kandola MBE Chief Executive
22 June 2022
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Statement of comprehensive income 2021-22
2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

193,927

183,154

(192,917)

(180,971)

1,010

2,183

Interest Receivable

41

0

Interest Payable

(7)

(13)

PDC Dividends Payable

(4,531)

(3,631)

NET FINANCE COSTS

(4,497)

(3,644)

0

0

(3,487)

(1,461)

Impairments

(2,901)

(2,901)

Revaluations

2,246

2,246

(2,116)

(2,116)

2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

(3,487)

(1,461)

Remove net impairments not scoring to the
Departmental expenditure limit

4,504

1,533

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR CONTROL TOTAL BASIS

1,017

72

Operating Income from Continuing Operations
Operating Expenses of Continuing Operations

OPERATING SURPLUS

Finance Costs

Profit on Sale of Assets

SURPLUS/(DEFECIT) FOR THE YEAR

Other Comprehensive Income

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

Adjusted financial performance (control total basis)

Surplus / (deficit) for the period

Annual report and accounts 2021/22

153

Summary Financial Statement

Statement of financial position as at
31 March 2022
as at
31 Mar
2022

as at
31 Mar
2021

£000

£000

Non-Current Assets
Intangible Assets
Property, Plant & Equipment

0

0

161,419

145,907

0

0

221

283

161,640

146,190

Investments
Trade and Other Receivables
Total Non-Current assets
Current Assets
Stocks and Work in Progress

82

68

11,110

10,144

Investments

0

0

Non-current assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups

0

0

40,788

55,073

51,966

65,299

(31,354)

(31,054)

(790)

(1,228)

(27)

(104)

(32,171)

(32,386)

Trade and Other Receivables

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Total Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables
Provisions
Other Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

Continued…
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TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

181,435

179,103

Non-Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables

0

0

Provisions
Other Liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED

(279)

(340)

0

0

(279)

(340)

181,156

178,763

Public Dividend Capital

73,633

73,408

Revaluation Reserve

58,313

54,389

Donated Asset Reserve

0

0

Government Grant Reserve

0

0

Other Reserves

0

0

Income and Expenditure Reserve

49,210

50,966

TOTAL TAXPAYERS EQUITY

181,156

178,763

FINANCED BY:
Taxpayers Equity
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Statement of changes in equity
2021-22
2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

178,763

169,654

Surplus/(deficit) for the year

(3,487)

(1,461)

Revaluation (Losses) Property, Plant and Machinery

(1,772)

(2,901)

7,427

2,246

225

11,225

181,156

178,763

Taxpayers Equity at 1st April 2018

Revaluation Gains Property, Plant and Machinery

Public dividend capital received
Taxpayers Equity at 31st March 2019
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Statement of cash flows 2020-21
2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

Operating Surplus from Continuing Operations

1,010

2,183

OPERATING SURPLUS

1,010

2,183

Depreciation and Amortisation Charge

5,585

5,181

Fixed Asset Impairments and Reversals

4,504

1,533

(Gain)/Loss on disposal

0

0

Transfer from Donated Asset Reserve

0

0

(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables

(1,749)

1,803

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories

14

27

737

6,590

(506)

103

0

255

9,595

17,675

41

11

0

0

(24,525)

(21,870)

3,830

0

0

0

(20,654))

(21,859)

225

11,225

0

(4)

Public Dividend Capital Paid

(3,451)

(3,906)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITES

(3,226)

7,315

(14,285)

3,131

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1st April

55,073

51,942

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31ST MARCH

40,788

55,073

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Non-Cash Income and Expense

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables and Other Liabilities
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions
Tax (Paid)/Received
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest Received
Sale of Financial Assets
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment
Interest Element of Finance Leases
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Public Dividend Capital Received
Interest Paid

INCREASE/(DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
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Income breakdown 2021-22
The Trust’s income for the full year amounted to £194m, the majority
coming from CCGs and NHS England for the provision of patient activity.
£'000
CCGs & NHS England
NHS Trusts & Foundation Trusts

2,445

Local Authorities

12,868

Education, Training and Research

26,942

Non-NHS Other
Other Operating Income

515
7,447

Sustainability and Transformation Fund

200

Contribution to COVID Consumables

117

TOTAL

0% Contribution to COVID Consumables
4% Other Operating Income
0% Non-NHS Other

14% Education, Training and Research

7% Local Authorities
1% NHS Trusts & Foundation Trusts

74% CCG’s & NHS England
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Expenditure breakdown 2021-22
Total operating expenditure for the year was £193m, the biggest item being
spend on staff.
The breakdown of the Trust’s full expenditure is as follows:
£'000
Pay Costs (incl non executive directors)

139,827

Purchase of Health and Social Care from Other Organisations

4,233

Drugs

3,411

Supplies and Services (including COVID Consumables)

9,241

Establishment & Premises

9,556

Depreciation

5,585

Impairments

4,504

Consultancy and Other Services

2,651

Other
TOTAL

1% Consultancy and Other Services

13,909
192,917

7% Other

2% Impairments
3% Depreciation
5% Establishment & Premises
5% Supplies and Services (including
Covid Consumables)
2% Drugs

2% Purchase of Health and Social Care
from Other Organisations
P73% Pay Costs (incl non executive directors)
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Income disclosure
Camden & Islington NHS Foundation Trust is able to confirm that it has met its requirement, stipulated
by the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012), that the income the Trust
has received from the provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England
is greater than its income from the provision of goods and services for any other purposes.

Expenditure on consultancy
During 2021/22, the Trust incurred £1,373k of expenditure on consultancy (£739k in 2020/21), which
included support on the Trust’s estate (including the St Pancras Transformation programme).

Cost Allocation
The Trust has ensured that the financial statements of the organisation have met the accounting
requirements of the NHS Trust Financial Reporting Manual. The accounting policies contained in
both manuals follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s Resource
Accounting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS.
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Foreword to the accounts
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 2022, have been prepared by Camden and Islington
NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 & 25 of Schedule 7 within the National
Health Service Act 2006.

Signed

…………………………………………….

Name
Job title
Date

Harjinder Kandola MBE
Chief Executive
20 June 2022
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
2021/22
Operating income from patient care activities
Other operating income
Operating expenses

2020/21

Note
3

£000

£000

159,221

141,223

4

34,706

41,931

(192,917)

(180,971)

1,010

2,183

6, 8

Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations
Finance income

11

41

-

Finance expenses

12

(7)

(13)

(4,531)

(3,631)

13
20
44

(4,497)
-

(3,644)
-

PDC dividends payable
Net finance costs
Other gains / (losses)
Share of profit / (losses) of associates / joint arrangements
Gains / (losses) arising from transfers by absorption
Corporation tax expense

-

-

(3,487)

(1,461)

15

(3,487)

(1,461)

7

(1,772)

(2,901)

18
20

7,427
-

2,246
-

21

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Surplus / (deficit) for the year from continuing operations
Surplus / (deficit) on discontinued operations and the gain / (loss) on
disposal of discontinued operations
Surplus / (deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:
Impairments
Revaluations
Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures
Fair value gains / (losses) on equity instruments designated at fair value
through OCI
Other recognised gains and losses
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit pension scheme liability / asset
Gain / (loss) arising from on transfers by modified absorption

37
44

Other reserve movements
May be reclassified to income and expenditure when certain conditions are met:
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets mandated at fair value through
21
OCI
Recycling gains/(losses) on disposal of financial assets mandated at fair
13
value through OCI
Foreign exchange gains / (losses) recognised directly in OCI
Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the period
Adjusted financial performance (control total basis):
Surplus / (deficit) for the period
Remove net impairments not scoring to the Departmental expenditure limit
Remove (gains) / losses on transfers by absorption
Remove I&E impact of capital grants and donations
Prior period adjustments
Remove non-cash element of on-SoFP pension costs
Remove net impact of inventories received from DHSC group bodies for
COVID response
Remove loss recognised on return of donated COVID assets to DHSC
Adjusted financial performance surplus / (deficit)

-

-

2,168

(2,116)

(3,487)

(1,461)

4,504
-

1,533
-

1,017

72
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Statement of Financial Position
Note

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

31 March 2022
£000

31 March
2021
£000

Property, plant and equipment

15
16

161,419

145,907

Investment property
Investments in associates and joint ventures

19
20

-

-

Other investments / financial assets
Receivables

21

-

-

24
25

221
161,640

283
146,190

23

68

82

24
21

11,110
-

10,144
-

-

-

27

40,788
51,966

55,073
65,299

28
30
31
33
29

(31,354)
(790)
(27)

(31,054)
(1,228)
(104)

26.2

(32,171)
181,435

(32,386)
179,103

28
30
31

-

-

33
29

(279)

(340)

(279)
181,156

(340)
178,763

73,633
58,313
49,210
181,156

73,408
54,389
50,966
178,763

Other assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Receivables
Other investments / financial assets
Other assets
Non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal groups
Cash and cash equivalents

25
26.1

Total current assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Provisions
Other liabilities
Liabilities in disposal groups
Total current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total assets employed
Financed by
Public dividend capital
Revaluation reserve
Financial assets reserve
Other reserves
Merger reserve
Income and expenditure reserve
Total taxpayers' equity
The notes on pages 8 to 51 form part of these accounts.
Signed
Name
Position
Date

Harjinder Kandola MBE

Chief Executive

20 June 2022
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2022

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

Public
Financial
dividend Revaluation
assets
Other reserves
Merger reserve
reserve
capital
reserve
n Equity for the year ended 31 March 2022
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
Taxpayers' and others' equity at Public
1 April 2021 - brought forward
73,408
54,389
Financial
Surplus/(deficit) for the year dividend Revaluation
Income and assets
Gain/(loss) arising from transfers
by modified reserve
absorption
Other reservesMerger reserve
Total
expenditure
reserve capital
reserve
Transfers by absorption: transfers£000
between reserves
£000
£000
£000£000 £000
- £000
Transfer
from revaluation reserve
to income and
expenditure reserve
April 2021 - brought
forward
73,408
54,389
- for
50,966
178,763
impairments arising from consumption- of economic benefits
(3,487)
(3,487)
Other transfers between reserves
(316)
by modified absorption
-Impairments
(1,772)
s between reserves
-Revaluations
7,427
to income and expenditure
reserve for
ption of economic Transfer
benefits to retained earnings on disposal
of assets -(1,415)
Share of comprehensive income from- associates(316)
and joint ventures-316
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets
mandated
(1,772) at fair value -through
(1,772)
OCI
7,427
-7,427
designated at fair value
disposal of assets Fair value gains/(losses) on equity instruments
(1,415)
1,415
through
OCI
rom associates and
joint ventures
-Recycling
gains/(losses)
cial assets mandated
at fair value
through on disposal of financial assets mandated at fair
value through OCI
-Foreignat
exchange
y instruments designated
fair valuegains/(losses) recognised directly through OCI
Other recognised gains and losses -Remeasurements
of the defined net benefit pension scheme liability/asset
sal of financial assets
mandated at fair
Public dividend capital received
225
dividend
recognised directlyPublic
through
OCI capital repaid
-Public dividend capital written off
s
-movements
in public dividend capital
in year net benefit pensionOther
scheme
liability/asset
-Other reserve movements
225
-225
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March
2022
73,633
58,313
nd capital in year
1 March 2022
73,633
58,313
49,210
181,156

Income and
expenditure reserve
£000
50,966
(3,487)
-

Total
£000
178,763
(3,487)
-

316
1,415
-

(1,772)
7,427
-

-

-

-

-

49,210

225
181,156
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Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

Public
Financial
dividend Revaluation
assets
Other reserves
Merger reserve
reserve
capital
reserve
in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2021
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2020 - brought forward
62,183
55,044
Public
Financial
Prior period adjustment
Income and
dividend Revaluation
assets
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2020 - restated
62,183
55,044
Other reserves
Merger reserve
Total
reserve
expenditure reserve
capital
reserve
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
Gain/(loss) arising from transfers by modified absorption
1 April 2020 - brought forward
62,183
55,044
52,427
169,654
Transfers by absorption: transfers between reserves
Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and expenditure reserve for
1 April 2020 - restated
62,183
55,044
52,427
169,654
impairments arising from consumption of economic benefits
(1,461)
(1,461)
Other transfers between reserves
by modified absorption
Impairments
(2,901)
s between reserves
Revaluations
2,246
e to income and expenditure reserve for
Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets
mption of economic benefits
Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures
s
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets mandated at fair value through
(2,901)
(2,901)
OCI
2,246
2,246
Fair value gains/(losses) on equity instruments
designated at fair value
disposal of assets through OCI
- - from associates andRecycling
joint ventures
gains/(losses) on disposal- of financial assets
mandated- at fair
value
through
cial assets mandated
at fair
value OCI
through
- through OCI - Foreign exchange gains/(losses) recognised
directly
- y instruments designated
fair value gains and losses
Other at
recognised
- scheme liability/asset
- Remeasurements of the defined net- benefit pension
- osal of financial assets mandated at fair
Public dividend capital received
11,225
Public dividend capital repaid
recognised directly through OCI
Public dividend capital written off
es
Other movements in public dividend capital in year
net benefit pension scheme liability/asset
Other reserve movements
11,225
11,225
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2021
73,408
54,389
end capital in year
31 March 2021
73,408
54,389
50,966
178,763

Income and
expenditure reserve
£000
52,427
52,427
(1,461)
-

Total
£000
169,654
169,654
(1,461)
-

-

(2,901)
2,246
-

-

-

-

-

50,966

11,225
178,763

4
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Information on reserves
Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the
time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may also be issued to trusts by the
Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable to the
Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend.
Revaluation reserve
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the
extent that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in
operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the
extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic
benefit or a reduction in service potential.
Financial assets reserve
This reserve comprises changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income. When these instruments are derecognised, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised as other
comprehensive income or expenditure are recycled to income or expenditure, unless the assets are equity instruments
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income as a result of irrevocable election at recognition.
Merger reserve
This legacy reserve reflects balances formed on previous mergers of NHS bodies.
Income and expenditure reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the Trust.
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Statement of Cash Flows
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus / (deficit)
Non-cash income and expense:
Depreciation and amortisation
Net impairments
Income recognised in respect of capital donations

2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

1,010

2,183

6.1

5,585

5,181

7
4

4,504
-

1,533
-

-

-

(1,749)

1,803

14

27

Non-cash movements in on-SoFP pension liability
(Increase) / decrease in receivables and other assets
(Increase) / decrease in inventories
Increase / (decrease) in payables and other liabilities

737

6,693

(506)

255

Tax (paid) / received

-

-

Operating cash flows from discontinued operations

-

-

Other movements in operating cash flows

-

-

9,595

17,675

Increase / (decrease) in provisions

Net cash flows from / (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received

41

11

Purchase and sale of financial assets / investments

-

-

Purchase of intangible assets

-

-

(24,525)
3,830

(21,870)
-

Receipt of cash donations to purchase assets

-

-

Investing cash flows from discontinued operations
Cash from acquisitions / disposals of subsidiaries

-

-

(20,654)

(21,859)

Sales of intangible assets
Purchase of PPE and investment property
Sales of PPE and investment property

Net cash flows from / (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received

225

11,225

Public dividend capital repaid

-

-

Movement on loans from DHSC

-

-

Movement on other loans

-

-

Other capital receipts

-

-

Capital element of finance lease rental payments
Interest on loans
Other interest

-

(4)
-

(3,451)

(3,906)

-

-

Interest paid on finance lease liabilities
Interest paid on PFI, LIFT and other service concession obligations
PDC dividend (paid) / refunded
Financing cash flows of discontinued operations

-

-

Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities

Cash flows from (used in) other financing activities

(3,226)

7,315

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(14,285)

3,131

55,073

51,942

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - brought forward
Prior period adjustments
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - restated
Cash and cash equivalents transferred under absorption accounting
Unrealised gains / (losses) on foreign exchange
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

44
27.1

55,073
40,788

51,942
55,073
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Notes to the Accounts
Note 1 Accounting policies and other information
Note 1.1 Basis of preparation
NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, has directed that the financial statements
of the Trust shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the GAM 2021/22 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting
policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory
Board. Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected.
The particular policies adopted are described below. These have been applied consistently in dealing with items
considered material in relation to the accounts.
Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
Note 1.2 Going concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. The financial reporting framework applicable to NHS
bodies, derived from the HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual, defines that the anticipated continued provision of
the entity’s services in the public sector is normally sufficient evidence of going concern. The directors have a
reasonable expectation that this will continue to be the case.
After making enquiries, giving due consideration to the Covid-19 pandemic (including assessing the impacts of
temporary financial processes put in place by NHS England/Improvement in response to the pandemic), using our
historical financial trends and the maintenance of strong cash balances, the directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
In particular, the trust recognises that i) the government has publicly committed to levels of expenditure on the NHS,
and in particular on mental health, and ii) the nature of the funding arrangements put in place in response to the
pandemic involve fixed, consolidated income streams, regular monthly cash settlement and separate income streams
for additional Covid specific costs that has given all providers assurance and certainty regarding financial stability.
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Note 1.3 Revenue from contracts with customers
Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM expands the
definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or another financial
asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office of National Statistics (ONS).
Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by
transferring promised goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated
to those performance obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to performance obligations
satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to consideration for those goods or services is unconditional a
contract receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement to consideration is conditional on a further factor other than
the passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where consideration received or receivable relates to a
performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and recognised as a contract
liability.
The accounting policies for revenue recognition and the application of IFRS 15 are consistently applied.
Revenue from NHS contracts
The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. In 2021/22 and
2020/21, the majority of the trust’s income from NHS commissioners was in the form of block contract arrangements.
The Trust receives block funding from its commissioners, where funding envelopes are set at a Integrated Care System
level. The related performance obligation is the delivery of healthcare and related services during the period, with the
trust’s entitlement to consideration not varying based on the levels of activity performed.
The Trust also receives additional income outside of the block payments to reimburse specific costs incurred and, in
2021/22, other income system top-up to support the delivery of services. Reimbursement and top-up income is
accounted for as variable consideration.

The Trust also receives funding from Health Education England for training and education, which is accounted for
under IFRS 15, and recognised in the accounting period which the activity is intended to take place.
Revenue from research contracts
Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when performance obligations are
satisfied. For some contracts, it is assessed that the revenue project constitutes one performance obligation over the
course of the multi-year contract. In these cases it is assessed that the Trust’s interim performance does not create an
asset with alternative use for the Trust, and the Trust has an enforceable right to payment for the performance
completed to date. It is therefore considered that the performance obligation is satisfied over time, and the Trust
recognises revenue each year over the course of the contract. Some research income alternatively falls within the
provisions of IAS 20 for government grants.
Note 1.4 Other forms of income
Grants and donations
Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or trusts for the
provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income to match that expenditure. Where the grants is used to fund capital expenditure, it is credited to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income once conditions attached to the grant have been met. Donations are
treated in the same way as government grants.
Apprenticeship service income
The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the Government's apprenticeship service is recognised as
income at the point of receipt of the training service. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training
provider from the Trust's Digital Apprenticeship Service (DAS) account held by the Department for Education, the
corresponding notional expense is also recognised at the point of recognition for the benefit.

Note 1.5 Expenditure on employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments such as social security costs and the apprenticeship levy are
recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned
but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.
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Pension costs
NHS Pension Scheme - Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.
Both schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, general practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. The scheme is not
designed in a way that would enable employers to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as though it is a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the trust is taken as
equal to the employer's pension contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. The contributions are
charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is
due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time
the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
Local Government Pension Scheme - This is a defined benefit pension scheme. The Trust has agreed to be guided by
the actuarial advice given to the London Borough of Islington with regard to the appropriate level of contribution it
makes to the pension fund and accounts for this in year.
Note 1.6 Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where
it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.
Note 1.7 Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations occur where activities either cease without transfer to another entity, or transfer to an entity
outside of the boundary of Whole of Government Accounts, such as private or voluntary sectors. Such activities are
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. Activities that are transferred to other bodies within the boundary of Whole of
Government Accounts are ‘machinery of government changes’ and treated as continuing operations.
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8 Note 1.8 Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:
• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes
• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably
• the item has cost of at least £5,000, or
• collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have cost of more than £250, where the
assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have similar
disposal dates and are under single managerial control.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives,
eg, plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful
lives.
Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving
from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be
determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets
the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that
does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.
Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
Assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Assets which are held for their service potential and are in use (ie
operational assets used to deliver either front line services or back office functions) are measured at their current value
in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus with no plan to bring them
back into use are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at the reporting date and where they do
not meet the definitions of investment properties or assets held for sale.
Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying values are
not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing
use are determined as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost on a modern equivalent asset basis.
For specialised assets, current value in existing use is interpreted as the present value of the asset's remaining service
potential, which is assumed to be at least equal to the cost of replacing that service potential. Specialised assets are
therefore valued at their depreciated replacement cost (DRC) on a modern equivalent asset (MEA) basis. An MEA
basis assumes that the asset will be replaced with a modern asset of equivalent capacity and meeting the location
requirements of the services being provided. Assets held at depreciated replacement cost have been valued on an
alternative site basis where this would meet the location requirements.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment
loss. Cost includes professional fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23, borrowings costs. Assets are
revalued and depreciation commences when the assets are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are
valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful lives or low values or both, as this is not
considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.
Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful lives in a manner consistent with the
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not
depreciated.
Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as ‘held for sale’ cease to be depreciated upon the
reclassification. Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in off-Statement of Financial Position PFI
contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the trust, respectively.
Revaluation gains and losses
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Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a
revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in
operating expenditure.
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset
concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an
item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
Impairments
In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of service
potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve
to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating
expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.
An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed when, and to
the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating
expenditure to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never
been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original
impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is
transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation gains.
De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once the criteria in IFRS 5 are met. The sale must be
highly probable and the asset available for immediate sale in its present condition.
Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value
less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the 'fair value less
costs to sell' falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have
been met.
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held for sale’
and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s useful life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when
scrapping or demolition occurs.
Donated and grant funded assets
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The
donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future
economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the
donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition
has not yet been met.
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Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful lives are shown in
the table below:
Min life
Max life
Land
Buildings, excluding dwellings

Years
-

Years
-

16

78

Dwellings

-

-

Plant & machinery

1

9

Transport equipment

-

-

Information technology

1

8

Furniture & fittings

1

12
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9 Note 1.9 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured using the first
in, first out (FIFO) method.
Where consumables inventory is not material, the trust charges purchases and receipts directly to expenditure.
In 2020/21 and 2021/22, the Trust received inventories including personal protective equipment from the Department of
Health and Social Care at nil cost. In line with the GAM and applying the principles of the IFRS Conceptual Framework,
the Trust has accounted for the receipt of these inventories at a deemed cost, reflecting the best available
approximation of an imputed market value for the transaction based on the cost of acquisition by the Department.
# Note 1.10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24
hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are
recorded at current values.
# Note 1.11 Financial assets and financial liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument, and as a result has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another financial instrument.
The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which give rise to arrangements that
in all other respects would be a financial instrument and do not give rise to transactions classified as a tax by ONS.
This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in
accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, and to the extent
which, performance occurs, ie, when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.
Classification and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or minus directly attributable transaction
costs except where the asset or liability is not measured at fair value through income and expenditure. Fair value is
taken as the transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted market prices or valuation techniques.
Financial assets are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through income and
expenditure or fair value through other comprehensive income.
Financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value through income and
expenditure.
Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are those held with the objective of collecting contractual cash
flows and where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes cash equivalents, contract and
other receivables, trade and other payables, rights and obligations under lease arrangements and loans receivable and
payable.
After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any impairment (for financial assets). The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset or amortised cost of a financial liability and recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and a
financing income or expense.
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income where business model objectives are
met by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments
of principal and interest. Movements in the fair value of financial assets in this category are recognised as gains or
losses in other comprehensive income except for impairment losses. On derecognition, cumulative gains and losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified from equity to income and expenditure, except
where the Trust elected to measure an equity instrument in this category on initial recognition.
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through income and expenditure
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Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. This category also includes financial assets and liabilities
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term (held for trading) and derivatives. Derivatives which are
embedded in other contracts, but which are separable from the host contract are measured within this category.
Movements in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities in this category are recognised as gains or losses in the
Statement of Comprehensive income.
Impairment of financial assets
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, contract receivables and contract
assets or assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Trust recognises an allowance for
expected credit losses.
The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other receivables, contract assets and lease
receivables, measuring expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. For other financial assets,
the loss allowance is initially measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (stage 1) and
subsequently at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk assessed for the financial asset
significantly increases (stage 2).
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the
reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and reduce the
net carrying value of the financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.
Derecognition
Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or
the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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# Note 1.12 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
The trust as a lessee
Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the trust, the asset is recorded
as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is
the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on
the outstanding liability.
The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for an
item of property plant and equipment.
The annual rental charge is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant
rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to finance costs in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
Operating leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially in other liabilities on the statement of financial position and subsequently as a
reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.
Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separately.
The trust as a lessor
Finance leases
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust's net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the trust's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Operating leases
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Note 1.13 Provisions
The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount;
for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of the
resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated
risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using HM Treasury's discount rates effective from 31 March 2022:

Short-term
Medium-term
Long-term
Very long-term

Up to 5 years
After 5 years up to 10 years
After 10 years up to 40 years
Exceeding 40 years

Nominal rate
0.47%
0.70%
0.95%
0.66%

Prior year rate
Minus 0.02%
0.18%
1.99%
1.99%

HM Treasury provides discount rates for general provisions on a nominal rate basis. Expected future cash flows are
therefore adjusted for the impact of inflation before discounting using nominal rates. The following inflation rates are
set by HM Treasury, effective from 31 March 2022:
Year 1
Year 2
Into perpetuity

Inflation rate
4.00%
2.60%
2.00%

Prior year rate
1.20%
1.60%
2.00%

Early retirement provisions and injury benefit provisions both use the HM Treasury's pension discount rate of minus
1.30% in real terms (prior year: minus 0.95%).
Clinical negligence costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution,
which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions
carried by NHS Resolution on behalf of the trust is disclosed at note 33.2 but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts.
Non-clinical risk pooling
The trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and in return receives
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in
respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.
Note 1.14 Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more
future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in note 34 where an
inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 34, unless the probability of a transfer of economic
benefits is remote.
Contingent liabilities are defined as:
• possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or
• present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will
arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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# Note 1.15 Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the
time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial
instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
The Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the trust. PDC is recorded at the
value received.
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The charge is
calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the trust during the
financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, with certain
additions and deductions as defined by the Department of Health and Social Care.
This policy is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-nhs-trusts-andfoundation-trusts.
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and Social Care (as the issuer of PDC), the
dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the
annual accounts. The dividend calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit
of the annual accounts.
# Note 1.16 Value added tax
Most of the activities of the trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are
stated net of VAT.
# Note 1.17 Climate change levy
Expenditure on the climate change levy is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred, based on
the prevailing chargeable rates for energy consumption.
# Note 1.18 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties in which the Trust has no beneficial interest (such as money held on behalf of patients)
are not recognised in the accounts. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts in accordance with
the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM .
# Note 1.19 Losses and special payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to
special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which
govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional
headings in expenditure on an accruals basis.
The losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which reports on
an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.
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# Note 1.20 Early adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations
No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been early adopted in 2021/22.
# Note 1.21 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or adopted
IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease and other
interpretations and is applicable in the public sector for periods beginning 1 April 2022. The standard provides a single
accounting model for lessees, recognising a right of use asset and obligation in the statement of financial position for
most leases: some leases are exempt through application of practical expedients explained below. For those recognised
in the statement of financial position the standard also requires the remeasurement of lease liabilities in specific
circumstances after the commencement of the lease term. For lessors, the distinction between operating and finance
leases will remain and the accounting will be largely unchanged.
IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The trust will apply this definition to new
leases only and will grandfather its assessments made under the old standards of whether existing contracts contain a
lease.
On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the trust will apply the standard retrospectively without restatement and with
the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised in the income and expenditure reserve at that date. For
existing operating leases with a remaining lease term of more than 12 months and an underlying asset value of at least
£5,000, a lease liability will be recognised equal to the value of remaining lease payments discounted on transition at the
trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The trust's incremental borrowing rate will be defined by HM Treasury. For 2022, this
rate is 0.95%. The related right of use asset will be measured equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or
accrued lease payments. For existing peppercorn leases not classified as finance leases, a right of use asset will be
measured at current value in existing use or fair value. The difference between the asset value and the calculated lease
liability will be recognised in the income and expenditure reserve on transition. No adjustments will be made on 1 April
2022 for existing finance leases.
For leases commencing in 2022/23, the trust will not recognise a right of use asset or lease liability for short term leases
(less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value assets (less than £5,000). Right of use assets will be
subsequently measured on a basis consistent with owned assets and depreciated over the length of the lease term.
The trust has estimated the impact of applying IFRS 16 in 2022/23 on the opening statement of financial position and
the in-year impact on the statement of comprehensive income and capital additions as follows:
£000

Estimated impact on 1 April 2022 statement of financial position
Additional right of use assets recognised for existing operating leases
Additional lease obligations recognised for existing operating leases
Changes to other statement of financial position line items
Net impact on net assets on 1 April 2022

7,530
(7,530)
-

Estimated in-year impact in 2022/23
Additional depreciation on right of use assets
Additional finance costs on lease liabilities
Lease rentals no longer charged to operating expenditure
Other impact on income / expenditure
Estimated impact on surplus / deficit in 2022/23

(1,110)
(61)
1,211
40

Estimated increase in capital additions for new leases commencing in 2022/23

-

Note 1.22 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the
process of applying the trust accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements:
The Trust was required to make a number of reasonable subjective judgements regarding accruals, which are based on
management's best judgement of likely receivables and payables. It is not expected that this is a material source of
uncertainty.
The Trust has also been required to make a number of judgements in relation to asset valuations, which due to the
value of plant, property and equipment held by the Trust is, by definition, potentially material. The Trust has taken
professional advice in determining the recorded valuation of land and buildings, and has retained the existing
assumptions regarding the St Pancras site while progress is made on relocating services elsewhere.
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The Trust usually undertakes to conduct a full site revaluation every 5 years, which would have led to a full revaluation in
2020/21. However, due to the timing of the revaluation, the availability of valuer capacity and the impact of Covid-19 on
the safety of travel between sites, and in agreement with the valuer, the Trust has extended this to 7 years and
accordingly only undertook a desktop valuation in 2021/22. The Trust is satisfied that this judgement is appropriate and
does not have a material impact on asset valuations. Further information on this is reflected in note 18 to these
accounts.
Currently, the St Pancras site is depreciated using a useful asset life prescribed by the District Valuer, however it is
recognised that a scheme is underway which will mean that the site is unlikely to be used for the full duration of this
period. The Trust is cogniscant that it has the option to depreciate the site over a shorter time period, which will result in
accelerated depreciation charges, and will review this decision further as the scheme progresses and the new proposed
site is available for occupation.
#
Note 1.23 Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:
The Trust has also been required to make a number of judgements in relation to asset valuations, which due to the
value of plant, property and equipment held by the Trust is, by definition, potentially material. The Trust has taken
professional advice in determining the recorded valuation of land and buildings, and has retained the existing
assumptions regarding the St Pancras site while progress is made on relocating services elsewhere.
The Trust also recognises that, as described in note 1.20, the valuation undertaken in March 2021, was a desktop, as
opposed to a full, revaluation. The Trust also recognises market conditions do vary and that buildings have the potential
to either deteriorate or last longer than predicted and therefore the useful asset lives estimated may not be appropriate.
These are reviewed each year to ensure that any changes to condition, use etc which affect this are picked up annually
and at least every 5 years under full valuation. As at 31st March 2022, £121,488k of the Trust assets were valued using
this desktop method.
The Trust has decided to continue to value both main inpatient sites, St Pancras and Highgate, on an alternative site
basis, As a result, £89,862k out of the Trust's £123,453k of land and buildings are recorded on an alternative site rather
than an existing site basis. This is discussed further in note 18, and the Trust recognises that the valuation would vary
depending on the prevailing local conditions if the geographical basis of valuation were to be re considered.
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Note 2 Operating Segments
The Trust considers its' activities constitute a single segment since they are provided wholly in the UK, are subject to
similar risks and rewards and all the assets are managed as one central pot.
The Trust therefore has no distinct and separate operating segments.
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3 Note 3 Operating income from patient care activities
All income from patient care activities relates to contract income recognised in line with accounting policy 1.3
3 Note 3.1 Income from patient care activities (by nature)
Mental health services
Block contract / system envelope income
Services delivered under a mental health collaborative
Income for commissioning services in a mental health collaborative
Clinical partnerships providing mandatory services (including S75 agreements)
Clinical income for the secondary commissioning of mandatory services

2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

134,862

117,110

-

-

12,868

12,582

-

-

6,336

5,160

All services
Private patient income

-

-

Elective recovery fund

-

-

5,155

4,759

159,221

1,612
141,223

Other clinical income from mandatory services

Additional pension contribution central funding*
Other clinical income
Total income from activities

*The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% (excluding administration charge)
from 1 April 2019. Since 2019/20, NHS providers have continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the
additional amount being paid over by NHS England on providers' behalf. The full cost and related funding have been
recognised in these accounts.
3 Note 3.2 Income from patient care activities (by source)
2021/22
Income from patient care activities received from:
NHS England
Clinical commissioning groups
Department of Health and Social Care
Other NHS providers
NHS other

£000

2020/21
£000

8,531

9,295

134,862

117,110

-

-

2,445

1,721

-

-

12,868

12,582

Non-NHS: private patients

-

-

Non-NHS: overseas patients (chargeable to patient)

-

-

Injury cost recovery scheme

-

-

Non NHS: other
Total income from activities

515
159,221

515
141,223

159,221

141,223

-

-

Local authorities

Of which:
Related to continuing operations
Related to discontinued operations
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Note 3.3 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the provider)
2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

Income recognised this year

-

-

Cash payments received in-year

-

-

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables

-

-

Amounts written off in-year

-

-

Note 4 Other operating income

2021/22

2020/21

Contract Non-contract
income
income
£000
Research and development
Education and training
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Reimbursement and top up funding
Income in respect of employee benefits accounted on a gross basis
Receipt of capital grants and donations

£000

Total
£000

Contract Non-contract
income
income
£000

£000

Total
£000

2,145

-

2,145

2,145

-

2,145

24,797

-

24,797

22,761

-

22,761

200
935

11,222
737

200
935

11,222
737

-

-

-

-

117

117

1,132

1,132

Support from the Department of Health and Social Care for mergers

-

-

-

Rental revenue from finance leases

-

-

-

-

-

1,685

1,685

1,480

1,480

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure

Rental revenue from operating leases
Amortisation of PFI deferred income / credits
Other income*
Total other operating income
Of which:
Related to continuing operations
Related to discontinued operations

4,827
32,904

-

-

1,802

4,827
34,706

2,454
39,319

-

-

2,612

2,454
41,931

34,706

41,931

-

-

*The most significant items recorded under Other Income are £1,271k are estates recharges resulting from the Trust's total facilities management contract (£1,201k in 2020/21) and
Rent/Rates income of £715k (£601k in 2020/21)
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Note 5.1 Additional information on contract revenue (IFRS 15) recognised in the period

Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in within contract
liabilities at the previous period end
Revenue recognised from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in
previous periods

Note 5.2 Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations
Revenue from existing contracts allocated to remaining performance obligations is
expected to be recognised:
within one year
after one year, not later than five years
after five years
Total revenue allocated to remaining performance obligations

2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

-

-

-

-

31 March
2022
£000

31 March
2021
£000

-

-

The trust has exercised the practical expedients permitted by IFRS 15 paragraph 121 in preparing this disclosure.
Revenue from (i) contracts with an expected duration of one year or less and (ii) contracts where the trust recognises
revenue directly corresponding to work done to date is not disclosed.
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Note 6.1 Operating expenses

Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies
Purchase of social care

2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

58
1,787

47
3,658

2,388

2,429

139,680
147
447
8,794

127,607
127
1,581
10,373

Drug costs (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory drugs)
Inventories written down

3,411
-

3,652
-

Consultancy costs

1,373

739

Establishment
Premises

2,406
7,150

1,824
6,460

Staff and executive directors costs
Remuneration of non-executive directors
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs)
Supplies and services - general

Transport (including patient travel)

661

658

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets

5,585
-

5,181
-

Net impairments
Movement in credit loss allowance: contract receivables / contract assets

4,504
(42)

1,533
23

Movement in credit loss allowance: all other receivables and investments
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions

-

-

Change in provisions discount rate(s)
Fees payable to the external auditor
audit services- statutory audit
other auditor remuneration (external auditor only)
Internal audit costs

-

45

64
80

61
80

Clinical negligence

982

820

Legal fees
Insurance
Research and development
Education and training

260
131
947

193
99
609

Rentals under operating leases

536

480

Early retirements
Redundancy
Charges to operating expenditure for on-SoFP IFRIC 12 schemes (e.g. PFI / LIFT)
Charges to operating expenditure for off-SoFP PFI / LIFT schemes
Car parking & security
Hospitality
Losses, ex gratia & special payments
Grossing up consortium arrangements
Other services, eg external payroll
Other*
Total

156
-

9
-

6
2
36
1,278
10,090
192,917

2
40
1,318
11,323
180,971

Of which:
Related to continuing operations
Related to discontinued operations

192,917
-

180,971
-

*Other expenditure includes £5,749k relating to sub contracted healthcare and R&D contracts (£5,345k in 2020/21). Other
expenditure also included £613k of costs specific to the Covid response (£640k in 2020/21)
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Note 6.2 Other auditor remuneration

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor:
1. Audit of accounts of any associate of the trust

2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

-

-

2. Audit-related assurance services

-

-

3. Taxation compliance services

-

-

4. All taxation advisory services not falling within item 3 above

-

-

5. Internal audit services

-

-

6. All assurance services not falling within items 1 to 5

-

-

7. Corporate finance transaction services not falling within items 1 to 6 above

-

-

-

-

8. Other non-audit services not falling within items 2 to 7 above
Total

Note 6.3 Limitation on auditor's liability
The limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work is £2 million (2020/21: £2 million).

Note 7 Impairment of assets

Net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit resulting from:
Loss or damage from normal operations

2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

-

-

Over specification of assets

-

-

Abandonment of assets in course of construction

-

-

Unforeseen obsolescence

-

332

Loss as a result of catastrophe

-

-

Changes in market price

3,849

1,201

Other
Total net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit

655
4,504

1,533

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve
Total net impairments

1,772
6,276

2,901
4,434

The Trust commissioned the District Valuer to undertake a revaluation of it's full estate. This resulted in a number of
individual impairments and revaluations which are reflected in the accounts.

26

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

Note 8 Employee benefits
2021/22

2020/21

Total

Total

£000

£000

Salaries and wages

95,013

87,748

Social security costs

10,135

9,347

453

425

Apprenticeship levy
Employer's contributions to NHS pensions

16,921

15,682

Pension cost - other

-

-

Other post employment benefits

-

-

Other employment benefits

-

-

Termination benefits

-

-

17,158
139,680

14,405
127,607

139,680

127,607

-

-

Temporary staff (including agency)
Total gross staff costs
Recoveries in respect of seconded staff
Total staff costs
Of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets
Note 8.1 Retirements due to ill-health

During 2021/22 there was 1 early retirement from the trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (none in the year ended
31 March 2021). The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £87k (0k in 2020/21).
These estimated costs are calculated on an average basis and will be borne by the NHS Pension Scheme.
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Note 9 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits
payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both
are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in
a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore,
each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in
each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that
would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between
formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting
period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as
providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March
2022, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2021, updated to 31 March 2022 with summary global member and
accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are
published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking
into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and
employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results
of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay.
The 2016 funding valuation also tested the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following
the 2012 valuation. There was initially a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty
around member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.
HMT published valuation directions dated 7 October 2021 (see Amending Directions 2021) that set out the technical
detail of how the costs of remedy are included in the 2016 valuation process. Following these directions, the scheme
actuary has completed the cost control element of the 2016 valuation for the NHS Pension Scheme, which concludes no
changes to benefits or member contributions are required. The 2016 valuation reports can be found on the NHS
Pensions website at https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-scheme-accounts-and-valuation-reports.
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# Note 10 Operating leases
# Note 10.1 Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust as a lessor
This note discloses income generated in operating lease agreements where Camden and Islington NHS Foundation
Trust is the lessor.

Operating lease revenue
Minimum lease receipts
Contingent rent
Other
Total

2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

1,685
1,685

1,480
1,480

31 March
2022
£000
Future minimum lease receipts due:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
Total

1,317
2,696
230
4,243

31 March
2021
£000
1,607
4,947
1,100
7,654

# Note 10.2 Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust as a lessee
This note discloses costs and commitments incurred in operating lease arrangements where Camden and Islington
NHS Foundation Trust is the lessee.
2021/22
£000
Operating lease expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Less sublease payments received
Total

536
536
31 March
2022
£000

Future minimum lease payments due:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
Total
Future minimum sublease payments to be received

2020/21
£000
480
480
31 March
2021
£000

519
1,249
735
2,503

509
1,447
760
2,716

-

-
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Note 11 Finance income
Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period.

Interest on bank accounts
Interest income on finance leases
Interest on other investments / financial assets
Other finance income
Total finance income

2021/22
£000
41
41

2020/21
£000
-

Note 12.1 Finance expenditure
Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of money or asset financing.
2021/22
2020/21
£000
£000
Interest expense:
Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care
Other loans
Overdrafts
Finance leases
Interest on late payment of commercial debt
4
Main finance costs on PFI and LIFT schemes obligations
Contingent finance costs on PFI and LIFT scheme obligations
Total interest expense
4
Unwinding of discount on provisions
Other finance costs
Total finance costs

7
7

9
13

Note 12.2 The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998 / Public Contract Regulations 2015
2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

Total liability accruing in year under this legislation as a result of late payments
Amounts included within interest payable arising from claims made under this
legislation

-

-

-

4

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation

-

-

Note 13 Other gains / (losses)
The Trust had no other gains or losses during 2021/22 or for the prior year 2020/21.
Note 14 Discontinued operations
The Trust had no discontinued operations during 2021/22 or for the prior year 2020/21.
Note 15 Intangible assets - 2021/22
The Trust had no intangible assets in 2021/22 or in 2020/21.
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Note 16.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2021/22

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2021 - brought forward
Transfers by absorption

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Information Furniture &
technology
fittings
£000

£000

Total
£000

29,131

88,774

-

23,157

87

-

11,570

1,841

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,869

1,498

-

20,365

-

-

44

-

23,776

(19)

(6,718)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(6,737)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,770

2,710

-

-

-

-

-

-

Reclassifications
Transfers to / from assets held for sale

4,480

(1,149)

10,199
(2,681)

-

(12,294)
-

-

-

1,308
-

787
-

Disposals / derecognition

(3,830)

31,602

(4)
93,778

-

31,228

87

-

(1,386)
11,536

(374)
2,254

(1,764)
170,485

-

1,578

-

-

30

-

6,184

862

8,653

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Provided during the year

-

-

3,457

-

-

9

-

1,931

188

Impairments

5,585

-

(461)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Reversals of impairments

(461)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Revaluations

-

-

(2,947)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Reclassifications

(2,947)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Transfers to / from assets held for sale

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Disposals / derecognition

-

-

(4)

-

-

-

-

(1,386)

(374)

(1,764)

-

1,624

-

-

39

-

6,729

676

9,067

31,602

92,155

-

31,228

49

-

4,808

1,578

161,419

29,131

87,196

-

23,157

58

-

5,387

979

145,907

Additions
Impairments
Reversals of impairments
Revaluations

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2022
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2021 - brought
forward
Transfers by absorption

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2022
Net book value at 31 March 2022
Net book value at 1 April 2021

154,560
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Note 16.2 Property, plant and equipment - 2020/21

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2020 - as previously
stated
Prior period adjustments
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2020 - restated
Transfers by absorption

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Information Furniture &
technology
fittings
£000

£000

Total
£000

28,308

87,745

-

5,765

127

-

15,910

2,349

140,204

28,308

87,745

-

5,765

127

-

15,910

2,349

140,204

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Additions
Impairments

-

2,620

-

20,512

23

-

867

75

24,097

(8)

(5,608)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Reversals of impairments
Revaluations

(5,616)

91

265

-

-

-

-

-

-

356

Reclassifications
Transfers to / from assets held for sale
Disposals / derecognition
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2021
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2020 - as
previously stated
Prior period adjustments
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2020 - restated
Transfers by absorption

-

2,153

-

(3,120)

-

-

1,082

(115)

-

740

1,725

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,465

29,131

(126)
88,774

-

23,157

(63)
87

-

(6,289)
11,570

(468)
1,841

(6,946)
154,560

-

1,466

-

-

87

-

10,754

1,184

13,490

-

1,466

-

-

87

-

10,754

1,184

13,490

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Provided during the year

-

-

3,247

-

-

6

-

1,719

209

Impairments

5,181

-

(1,182)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Reversals of impairments
Revaluations

(1,182)

-

(1,890)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,890)

-

63

-

-

-

-

-

(63)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(126)
1,578

-

-

(63)
30

-

(6,289)
6,184

(468)
862

(6,946)
8,653

29,131

87,196

-

23,157

58

-

5,387

979

145,907

28,308

86,279

-

5,765

41

-

5,157

1,165

126,714

Reclassifications
Transfers to / from assets held for sale
Disposals / derecognition
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2021
Net book value at 31 March 2021
Net book value at 1 April 2020
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Note 16.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2021/22

Net book value at 31 March 2022
Owned - purchased
Finance leased
On-SoFP PFI contracts and other service
concession arrangements
Off-SoFP PFI residual interests
Owned - donated/granted
NBV total at 31 March 2022

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Information Furniture &
technology
fittings
£000

£000

Total
£000

31,602

92,155

-

31,228

49

-

4,808

1,578

161,419

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

31,602

92,155

-

31,228

49

-

4,808

1,578

161,419

Note 16.4 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2020/21

Net book value at 31 March 2021
Owned - purchased

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Information Furniture &
technology
fittings
£000

£000

Total
£000

29,131

87,196

-

23,157

58

-

5,387

979

145,907

Finance leased

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

On-SoFP PFI contracts and other service
concession arrangements

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Off-SoFP PFI residual interests

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

29,131

87,196

-

23,157

58

-

5,387

979

145,907

Owned - donated/granted
NBV total at 31 March 2021
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Note 17 Donations of property, plant and equipment
The Trust had no donated assets in 2021/22 or during the prior year 2020/21.
Note 18 Revaluations of property, plant and equipment
The Trust's freehold land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The fair
value measurements of the Trust's freehold land and buildings were performed by Alison Mobbs a RICS qualified
member on behalf of the District Valuer Services (a professionally qualified, independent valuer not related to the
Trust) as at 31 March 2022. The last full valuation of the Trust’s land and building assets was undertaken as at 1
February 2016 by the DVS (the specialist property arm of the Valuation Office Agency). The trust would usually
therefore conducted a full revaluation in 2022. However, due to the prevalence of coronavirus during the final quarter
of the year and the availability of District Valuer resource, it was, after discussions with both the valuer and the trust's
auditors and receiving appropriate assurances from the valuer, decided to not to conduct a full valuation. The trust
will, instead conduct a full valuation in 2022/23.
The valuation conforms to International Valuation Standards and was based on recent market transactions on arm’s
length terms for similar properties. The fair value of the freehold land was determined based on the market
comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties. The fair value of the buildings was
determined using the cost approach that reflects the cost to a market participant to construct assets of comparable
utility and age, adjusted for obsolescence.
The Trust recognises that it is currently considering the location of future bed provision and is actively engaged in the
development of the strategic transformation plan for the North Central London sector. In light of this, the Trust has
decided that it is no longer appropriate to base the replacement cost for its inpatient sites (at St Pancras Hospital and
Highgate) on the existing locations, and instead has decided that, from 2015/16, it is appropriate to base the
valuations on an alternative site basis, allowing for a potential future re location across the North Central London
sector. The District Valuer has taken this into consideration when preparing the valuations.

Note 19.1 Investment Property
The Trust had no investment property as at 31 March 2022 or during the prior year 2020/21.
Note 19.2 Investment property income and expenses
The Trust had no investment property income or expenses as at 31 March 2022 or during the prior year 2020/21.
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Note 20 Investments in associates and joint ventures
The Trust had no investment in associates or joint ventures as at 31 March 2022 or during the prior year 2020/21.

Note 21 Other investments / financial assets (non-current)
The Trust had no other investments as at 31 March 2022 or during the prior year 2020/21.
Note 21.1 Other investments / financial assets (current)
The Trust had no other investments as at 31 March 2022 or during the prior year 2020/21.
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Note 22 Disclosure of interests in other entities
The Trust had no interests in other entities as at 31 March 2022 or during the prior year 2020/21.
Note 23 Inventories

Drugs
Work In progress
Consumables
Energy
Other
Total inventories
of which:
Held at fair value less costs to sell

31 March
2022
£000
68
68

31 March
2021
£000
82
82

-

-

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £1,115k (2020/21: £2,447k). Write-down of inventories
recognised as expenses for the year were £0k (2020/21: £0k).
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Note 24.1 Receivables

Current
Contract receivables
Contract assets
Capital receivables
Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets

31 March
2022

31 March
2021

£000

£000

9,404

7,404

-

-

(125)

(173)

Allowance for other impaired receivables

-

-

Deposits and advances

-

-

Prepayments (non-PFI)

1,192

1,551

PFI prepayments - capital contributions

-

-

PFI lifecycle prepayments

-

-

Interest receivable

-

-

Finance lease receivables

-

-

PDC dividend receivable

-

845

382

351

-

-

257
11,110

166
10,144

Non-current
Contract receivables

-

-

Contract assets
Capital receivables

-

-

Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets

-

-

Allowance for other impaired receivables

-

-

Deposits and advances

-

-

Prepayments (non-PFI)

-

-

PFI prepayments - capital contributions

-

-

PFI lifecycle prepayments

-

-

Interest receivable

-

-

Finance lease receivables

-

-

VAT receivable

-

-

VAT receivable
Corporation and other taxes receivable
Other receivables
Total current receivables

Corporation and other taxes receivable
Other receivables
Total non-current receivables
Of which receivable from NHS and DHSC group bodies:
Current
Non-current

-

-

221
221

283
283

3,343

5,335

221

283
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# Note 24.2 Allowances for credit losses
2021/22
Contract
receivables
All other
and contract
assets receivables
Allowances as at 1 April - brought forward
Prior period adjustments
Allowances as at 1 April - restated
Transfers by absorption

£000
173

£000
-

173

-

2020/21
Contract
receivables
All other
and contract
assets receivables
£000
151

£000
-

-

-

151

-

-

-

-

-

New allowances arising

-

-

23

-

Changes in existing allowances

-

-

-

-

(42)

-

-

-

(6)

-

(1)

-

Reversals of allowances
Utilisation of allowances (write offs)
Changes arising following modification of contractual
cash flows
Foreign exchange and other changes
Allowances as at 31 Mar 2022

-

-

-

-

125

-

173

-

# Note 24.3 Exposure to credit risk
The Trust has no material exposure to credit risk.

39

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

# Note 25 Other assets

Current
Other assets
Total other current assets

31 March
2022

31 March
2021

£000

£000

-

-

Non-current
Net defined benefit pension scheme asset

-

-

Other assets
Total other non-current assets

-

-

# Note 26.1 Non-current assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups

NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal groups at 1 April
Prior period adjustment
NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal groups at 1 April restated
Transfers by absorption
Assets classified as available for sale in the year
Assets sold in year
Impairment of assets held for sale
Reversal of impairment of assets held for sale
Assets no longer classified as held for sale, for reasons other than sale
NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal groups at 31 March

2021/22

2020/21

£000
-

£000
2,465
-

-

2,465

3,830
(3,830)
-

(2,465)
-

In 2021/22 declared Stacey St as an asset held for sale and subsequently disposed of the asset in March 2022
# Note 26.2 Liabilities in disposal groups
The Trust had no liabilities in disposal groups as at 31 March 2022 or for the prior year ending 31 March 2021.
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# Note 27.1 Cash and cash equivalents movements
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are readily
convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

At 1 April
Prior period adjustments

55,073

At 1 April (restated)
Transfers by absorption

55,073

Net change in year
At 31 March
Broken down into:
Cash at commercial banks and in hand
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Deposits with the National Loan Fund
Other current investments
Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP
Bank overdrafts (GBS and commercial banks)
Drawdown in committed facility
Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF

51,942
51,942

-

-

(14,285)
40,788

3,131
55,073
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67

40,745

55,006

-

-

-

-

40,788

55,073

-

-

40,788

55,073

# Note 27.2 Third party assets held by the trust
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust held cash and cash equivalents which relate to monies held by the Trust
on behalf of patients or other parties and in which the trust has no beneficial interest. This has been excluded from the
cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts.

Bank balances
Monies on deposit
Total third party assets

31 March
2022

31 March
2021

£000

£000

208

203

208

203
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Note 28.1 Trade and other payables

Current
Trade payables
Capital payables
Accruals
Receipts in advance and payments on account
PFI lifecycle replacement received in advance
Social security costs
VAT payables
Other taxes payable
PDC dividend payable
Other payables
Total current trade and other payables
Non-current
Trade payables

31 March
2022

31 March
2021

£000

£000

5,419

5,638

3,231
19,248
190
-

3,980
16,636
361
-

1,554

1,376

-

-

1,313

1,134

235

-

164
31,354

1,929
31,054

-

-

Capital payables

-

-

Accruals
Receipts in advance and payments on account
PFI lifecycle replacement received in advance

-

-

VAT payables

-

-

Other taxes payable

-

-

Other payables

-

-

4,317
-

4,050
-

Total non-current trade and other payables
Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies:
Current
Non-current

Note 28.2 Early retirements in NHS payables above
The Trust had no amounts included in the note above relating to early retirements in 2021/22 or in the
previous year 2020/21.
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Note 29 Other liabilities

Current
Deferred income: contract liabilities

31 March
2022

31 March
2021

£000

£000

27

104

Deferred grants

-

-

Deferred PFI credits / income

-

-

Lease incentives

-

-

27

104

-

-

Deferred grants

-

-

Deferred PFI credits / income

-

-

Lease incentives

-

-

Other deferred income

-

-

-

-

Other deferred income
Total other current liabilities
Non-current
Deferred income: contract liabilities

Net pension scheme liability
Total other non-current liabilities

Note 30.1 Borrowings
The Trust had no borrowings at 31 March 2022 or for the prior year ending 31 March 2021.
Note 31 Other financial liabilities
The Trust had no liabilities arising from financing activities at 31 March 2022 or for the prior year ending
31 March 2021.
Note 32 Finance leases
The Trust had no finance leases as at 31 March 2022 or for the prior year ending 31 March 2021.
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# Note 33.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis

At 1 April 2021
Transfers by absorption
Change in the discount rate

Pensions:
early
departure
costs

Pensions:
injury
benefits

Legal claims

£000

£000

£000

Restructuring

Equal Pay
(including
Agenda for
Change)

Redundancy

Other

£000

£000

£000

£000
709

Total
£000

63

-

68

-

-

728

1,568

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(40)

(40)

Arising during the year

-

-

49

-

-

143

542

734

Utilised during the year

(6)
-

-

(5)
-

-

-

-

(426)
-

(437)
-

Reclassified to liabilities held in disposal groups
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
At 31 March 2022
Expected timing of cash flows:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
Total

-

-

(35)

-

-

(728)

-

(763)

7
64

-

77

-

-

143

785

7
1,069

6
24

-

77
-

-

-

143
-

564
221

790
245

34
64

-

77

-

-

143

785

34
1,069

The Trust has made provisions for member contributions for provisions held by NHS Litigation Authority,, and additional provisions for legal claims and for potential redundancy,
employment tribunal and severance payments.
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# Note 33.2 Clinical negligence liabilities
At 31 March 2022, £15,059k was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust (31 March 2021: £4,815k).
# Note 34 Contingent assets and liabilities
The Trust had no contingent assets or liabilities as at 31 March 2022 or for the prior year ending 31 March 2021.

# Note 35 Contractual capital commitments
31 March
2022
£000
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total

31 March
2021
£000

-

1,671

-

1,671

# Note 36 Other financial commitments
The Trust had no other financial commitments as at 31 March 2022 or for the prior year ending 31 March 2021.
Note 37 Defined benefit pension schemes
The Trust contributes to the London Borough of Islington pension scheme for 4 individuals who were previously
employed by the borough, but who transferred to the Trust when the Trust took responsibility for the delegated
activities.
Note 37.1 Changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets during the year
The Trust has agreed to be guided by the actuarial advice given to the borough with regard to the appropriate level of
contribution.
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# Note 38 On-SoFP PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangements
The Trust has no PFI (or other service concession arrangements) reported on the balance sheet at 31 March 2022 or
for the prior year 2020/2021.
Note 39 Off-SoFP PFI, LIFT and other service concession arrangements
The Trust has no PFI (or other service concession arrangements) reported off the balance sheet at 31 March 2022 or
for the prior year 2020/21.

46

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

Note 40 Financial instruments
Note 40.1 Financial risk management
The majority of the Trust's financial instruments are held in the GBS accounts , and the majority of its financial liabilities
are in the form of public dividend capital with the Department of Health. It is not deemed therefore, that the Trust faces
material levels of risk in terms of its financial instruments.
The Trust's net operating costs are incurred under service agreement contracts with local CCGs, which are financed
from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust also largely finances its capital expenditure through internally
generated resources. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
The Trust has no foreign currency income or expenditure. The Trust has minimal exposure to interest rate risk. The Trust
makes no variable rate deposits and as at 31 March 2022, the Trust held all its cash in interest bearing current accounts,
and had no cash on deposit and no loans.
The Trust has negligible exposure to the risk of another party failing to discharge their obligations, as the parties that the
Trust is contracted to are financed by resources voted on annually by Parliament. The Trust, therefore, is not subject to
any material risk of being unable to deliver services.
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Note 40.2 Carrying values of financial assets

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2022
Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets
Other investments / financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total at 31 March 2022

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2021
Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets
Other investments / financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total at 31 March 2021
Note 40.3 Carrying values of financial liabilities
Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March
2022

Held at
Held at
Held at
amortised
fair value
fair value
cost through I&E through OCI
£000
9,514
40,788
50,302

£000
-

£000
9,514
40,788
50,302

Held at
Held at
Held at
amortised
fair value
fair value
cost through I&E through OCI

Total
book value

£000
7,397
55,073
62,470

£000
-

Total
book value

£000
-

£000
-

Held at
Held at
amortised
fair value
cost through I&E
£000

£000

£000
7,397
55,073
62,470

Total
book value
£000

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care

-

-

-

Obligations under finance leases

-

-

-

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concession contracts

-

-

-

Other borrowings
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Provisions under contract

Total at 31 March 2022
Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March
2021

-

-

-

25,359

-

25,359

-

-

-

25,359

-

25,359

Held at
Held at
amortised
fair value
cost through I&E
£000

£000

Total
book value
£000

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care

-

-

-

Obligations under finance leases

-

-

-

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concession contracts

-

-

-

Other borrowings
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Provisions under contract

Total at 31 March 2021

-

-

-

25,644

-

25,644

-

-

-

25,644

-

25,644
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# Note 40.4 Maturity of financial liabilities
The following maturity profile of financial liabilities is based on the contractual undiscounted cash flows. This differs to
the amounts recognised in the statement of financial position which are discounted to present value.
31 March
2022
£000
In one year or less
In more than one year but not more than five years
In more than five years
Total

31 March
2021
£000

25,359

25,644

-

-

25,359

25,644

# Note 40.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The Trust believes that the carrying value of it's financial assets and liabilities are a reasonable approximation of fair
value.
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Note 41 Losses and special payments
2021/22

Losses
Cash losses

2020/21

Total
number of
cases

Total value
of cases

Total
number of
cases

Total value
of cases

Number

£000

Number

£000

5

1

-

-

Fruitless payments and constructive losses

-

-

-

-

Bad debts and claims abandoned

-

-

-

-

Stores losses and damage to property

-

-

-

-

Total losses

5

1

-

-

Special payments
Compensation under court order or legally binding
arbitration award

5

17

10

17

Extra-contractual payments
Ex-gratia payments
Special severance payments
Extra-statutory and extra-regulatory payments
Total special payments
Total losses and special payments
Compensation payments received

-

-

-

-

19

17

14

10

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

24
29

34
35

24
24

27
27

-

-

Overtime corrective payments (Flowers Judgement) . In 2020/21 Trusts were asked by DHSC to accrue the nationally
corrective payments and associated income based on nationally generated estimates.
These payments are considered special payments, for which approval from HM Treasury was sought on behalf of the
Trusts by NHS England. As this note was is prepared on an accruals basis, these amounts should have been
disclosed in the 2020/21 accounts. Of the Ex-gratia payments above, £13k relates to the 2020/21 value. It is
considered one case, rather than the number of employees affected.
Note 42 Gifts
The Trust made no gifts in the financial year 2021/22 or in the prior year ending 31 March 2021.
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# Note 43 Related parties
During the year the Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the
Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as the parent Department:
Camden London Borough Council
Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust
Department of Health and Social Care
Health Education England
HM Revenue & Customs
Islington London Borough Council
NHS England
NHS North Central London CCG
NHS North West London CCG
NHS Pension Scheme
NHS Professionals
NHS South West London CCG
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
The Whittington Health

NHS Trust

*The Trust has applied a de minimis limit of £1,000k.
# Note 44 Transfers by absorption

#

The Trust has had no transfers by absorption during 2021/22, or for the year ending 31 March 2021

Note 45 Prior period adjustments
The Trust has had no prior period adjustments during 2021/22, or for the year ending 31 March 2021
# Note 46 Events after the reporting date
There are no events after the reporting date to report.
# Note 47 Final period of operation as a trust providing NHS healthcare
2021/22 is not the final period of operation for the Trust.
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Note 48 Pooled Budgets
The Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust has a pooled budget arrangement with the London Borough of
Islington. The pooled budget was established as at 1st April 2005 and is hosted by Camden & Islington NHS
Foundation Trust.
Pooled Budget Memorandum Account for 2021/222
2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

12,138

11,457

Income
Foundation trust
London Borough of Islington

2,807

2,787

14,945

14,244

Expenditure
Pay
Drugs

11,948

12,357

470

481

General Supplies and Services

5

8

Clinical Supplies and Services

13

7

Establishment
Other (Incl premises costs)

Net under / (over) spend

179

66

1,823

1,607

14,438

14,526

507

-282

3%

-2%

All of the income and expenditure related to the pooled budget is accounted for within the Trust's books, and is
therefore accounted for in line with the accounting policies set out in Note 1. Both the income and expenditure is
included within the income and expenditure shown in subsequent notes to the accounts.
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Independent auditor's report to the Council of Governors of Camden &
Islington NHS Foundation Trust
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of Camden & Islington NHS Foundation Trust (the ‘Trust’) for
the year ended 31 March 2022, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the Statement of Cash
Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Accounts Directions issued
under Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006, as interpreted and adapted by the
Department of Health and Social Care Group accounting manual 2021 to 2022.
In our opinion, the financial statements:


give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trust as at 31 March 2022 and of its
expenditure and income for the year then ended;



have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards as interpreted
and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group accounting manual 2021 to 2022;
and



have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the Code of Audit Practice”) approved
by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report.
We are independent of the Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Accounting Officer’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going
concern.
In our evaluation of the Accounting Officer’s’ conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set
out within the Department of Health and Social Care Group accounting manual 2021 to 2022 that the
Trust’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the inherent
risks associated with the continuation of services provided by the Trust. In doing so we had regard to
the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of financial statements and regularity of public sector
bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020) on the application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to
public sector entities. We assessed the reasonableness of the basis of preparation used by the Trust
and the Trust’s disclosures over the going concern period.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements
are authorised for issue.

Grant Thornton UK LLP.
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In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Accounting Officer’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
The responsibilities of the Accounting Officer with respect to going concern are described in the
‘Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial
statements’ section of this report.
Other information
The Accounting Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report1, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2020 on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the
Annual Governance Statement2 does not comply with the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS
foundation trust annual reporting manual 2021/22 or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of
which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual Governance
Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:


the parts of the Remuneration Report and the Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements
of the Accounts Directions issued under Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 20063; and



based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our
knowledge of the Trust, the other information published together with the financial statements in the
annual report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with
the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:


we issue a report in the public interest under Schedule 10 (3) of the National Health Service Act
2006 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or



we refer a matter to the regulator under Schedule 10 (6) of the National Health Service Act 2006
because we have reason to believe that the Trust, or an officer of the Trust, is about to make, or has
made, a decision which involves or would involve the incurring of unlawful expenditure, or is about to

1

The term used to describe the Annual Report should be the same as that used by the Trust.
Ensure the title used throughout this section is in line with that used in the Annual Report and Accounts
3
The DHSC Group Accounting Manual 2021 to 2022 sets out the parts of the Remuneration Report and Staff Report
that are subject to audit. The Trust should clearly highlight which disclosures in the accountability report have been
audited.
2
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take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful
and likely to cause a loss or deficiency.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.
Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial
statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the accounting
officer, the Chief Executive, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions included in the NHS
foundation trust annual reporting manual 2021/22, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view,
and for such internal control as the Accounting Officer determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accounting Officer is responsible for assessing the Trust’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Accounting Officer has been informed by the
relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the Trust without the transfer of its services to another
public sector entity.
The Audit & Risk Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with Governance are
responsible for overseeing the Trust’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor’s report.
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including
fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect
of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk
that material misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is
properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed
below:


We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the
Trust and determined that the most significant which are directly relevant to specific assertions in the
financial statements are those related to the reporting frameworks (international accounting
standards and the National Health Service Act 2006, as interpreted and adapted by the Department
of Health and Social Care Group accounting manual 2021 to 2022).



We enquired of management and the Audit & Risk Committee, concerning the Trust’s policies and
procedures relating to:
 the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations;


the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and



the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with
laws and regulations.
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 We enquired of management, internal audit4 and the Audit & Risk Committee, whether they were
aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether they had any
knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud.



We assessed the susceptibility of the Trust’s financial statements to material misstatement, including
how fraud might occur, by evaluating management's incentives and opportunities for manipulation of
the financial statements. This included the evaluation of the risk of management override of controls
and fraudulent expenditure recognition.



Our audit procedures involved:


evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that management has in place to prevent and
detect fraud;



journal entry testing, with a focus on journals meeting a range of criteria defined as part of our
risk assessment;



challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting
estimates in respect of land and buildings valuations and;



assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our
procedures on the related financial statement item.



These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements were free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to
fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that
result from fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further
removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the
financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it.



The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
including the potential for fraud in revenue and/or expenditure recognition, and the significant
accounting estimates related to the valuation of land and buildings included within the accounts.



Our assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the
engagement team included consideration of the engagement team's:



4



understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and
complexity through appropriate training and participation



knowledge of the health sector and economy in which the Trust operates



understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the Trust including:


the provisions of the applicable legislation



NHS England’s rules and related guidance



the applicable statutory provisions.

In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of:


The Trust’s operations, including the nature of its income and expenditure and its services and of
its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of transactions, account balances,
expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result in risks of material
misstatement.



The Trust's control environment, including the policies and procedures implemented by the Trust
to ensure compliance with the requirements of the financial reporting framework.

Only include this reference to internal audit if you discussed these issues with them during the year.
Grant Thornton UK LLP.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – the Trust’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Trust’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been
able to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2022.
Our work on the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources is not yet complete. The outcome of our work will be reported in our commentary on the
Trust’s arrangements in our Auditor’s Annual Report. If we identify any significant weaknesses in these
arrangements, they will be reported by exception in a further auditor’s report. We are satisfied that this
work does not have a material effect on our opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022.
Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer
The Chief Executive, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Trust's resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under paragraph 1 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006 to be
satisfied that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether
all aspects of the Trust's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources are operating effectively.
We undertake our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance
issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in December 2021. This guidance sets out the
arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on these
arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to structure their commentary on
arrangements under three specified reporting criteria:


Financial sustainability: how the Trust plans and manages its resources to ensure it can
continue to deliver its services;



Governance: how the Trust ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its
risks; and



Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Trust uses information about its
costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

We document our understanding of the arrangements the Trust has in place for each of these three
specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk assessment and
commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we consider whether there is
evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in arrangements.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Delay in
certification of completion of the audit
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for Camden & Islington NHS
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5
of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have
completed our work on the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources.

Grant Thornton UK LLP.
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Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance with
Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Trust's Council of Governors those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and the Trust's Council of Governors as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Paul Dossett
Paul Dossett, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor
London
Date: 20 June 2022
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors of Camden &
Islington NHS Foundation Trust
In our auditor’s report issued on 20 June 2022, we explained that we could not formally conclude the
audit and issue an audit certificate for the Trust for the year ended 31 March 2022, in accordance with
the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Code of Audit
Practice, until we had:


Completed our work on the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency, and
effectiveness in its use of resources. We have now completed this work, and the results of our
work are set out below.

Opinion on the financial statements
In our auditor’s report for the year ended 31 March 2022 issued on 20 June 2022 we reported that, in
our opinion the financial statements:




give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trust as at 31 March 2022 and of its
expenditure and income for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards as interpreted
and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group accounting manual 2021 to 2022;
and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006.

No matters have come to our attention since that date that would have a material impact on the financial
statements on which we gave this opinion.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - the Trust’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Trust’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been
able to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2022.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter.
Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer
The Chief Executive, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in the use of the Trust's resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency, and effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under paragraph 1 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006 to be
satisfied that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency, and
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether
all aspects of the Trust's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in its use of
resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in December 2021. This guidance sets out the
arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on these
arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to structure their commentary on
arrangements under three specified reporting criteria:



Financial sustainability: how the Trust plans and manages its resources to ensure it can
continue to deliver its services;



Governance: how the Trust ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its
risks; and



Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Trust uses information about its
costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

We have documented our understanding of the arrangements the Trust has in place for each of these
three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk assessment and
commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we have considered whether there
is evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in arrangements.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Audit certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of Camden & Islington NHS Foundation Trust
for the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the
National Health Service Act 2006 and the Code of Audit Practice.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance with
Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Trust's Council of Governors those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and the Trust's Council of Governors as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Paul Dossett
Paul Dossett, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor
London
20 July 2022
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